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DAY 1 – 13 JULY 2015 

 

  [10.00 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, good morning, thank you. Just by way of introduction, we note 5 

now that agreement has largely been reached between the parties and 

there is to be no cross-examination, however the Panel does have 

questions in relation to a number of matters which we’ll deal with as 

we go through. For the benefit of the witnesses, if they are matters that 

they feel uncomfortable dealing with in the witness box on the spot, 10 

just say so and we can arrange for a more considered response in due 

course, and with each of the witnesses we are likely to deal with the 

definitions anyway in alphabetical order, okay? 

 

 So Ms Viskovic? 15 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you, sir. Now, I circulated my submissions on Friday, 

so I assume that I can probably just provide a summary. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 20 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  So these submissions were given in relation to both the 

introduction and the definitions proposals and in relation to the 

introduction proposal, the Council is supporting the version of the 

proposal that was set out in the joint memorandum between quite a 25 

number of parties to that proposal dated 10 July. The explanations for 

the agreements reached are set out in that memorandum and also in the 

evidence of Ms Linda Murchison for Ngai Tahu, Mr Steven Timms for 

the Crown and Mr Alan Matheson for the Council.  

 30 

 The only slight further change that the Council would support in 

relation to the introductions proposal is really just a restructure, at the 

moment the appendices sit in the middle of the proposal in the red line 

version, so it would just be moving those essentially to the end. 

 35 

 Turning to the definitions proposal, paragraph 4.1, I just note there that 

the Council supports the version of the definitions proposal attached to 

Mr Thompson’s rebuttal evidence, with the further amendments that 

were set out in the joint memorandum between the Crown and the 

Council that was filed again on 10 July, and those changes haven’t 40 

found their way into the red line version of the proposal yet, but we can 

provide that to the Panel if that is of assistance. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. When can you provide that by? 

 45 

MS VISKOVIC:   We can provide that by the end of the week. 
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SJH:   Well, the work has already been done, why would it take that long? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   I can check with the relevant officer, but - - - 

 5 

SJH:   Well, check and let us know after the morning adjournment, would you? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  Yes. Following the review of evidence and through its 

rebuttal evidence and further mediation, the Council notes that it has 

reached agreement with the vast majority of submitters in relation to 10 

the definitions that are within the scope of this hearing. The only slight 

exception to this is the Ilam and Upper Riccarton Residents 

Association, and also the Lyttelton Port Company on Friday filed 

submissions on the definition of reverse sensitivity. The Council has 

considered that revision and Mr Stevenson will present a revised 15 

version of the reverse sensitivity definition in response addressing the 

Port Company’s suggested amendment. 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 20 

 At paragraph 5.2 of my submissions I have set out the agreements that 

have been reached with other parties broadly, however I note that 

agreements were reached with other submitters during the mediation 

process, those agreements are reflected in the version of the definitions 

proposal that was attached to Mr Thomson’s rebuttal evidence.  25 

 

 I also would draw the Panel’s attention to appendix 2 of Mr Thomson’s 

rebuttal evidence, that’s a tracking table, it’s fairly comprehensive, 

which sets out where all of the definitions that have been notified as 

part of Stage 1 are addressed through the various different proposals, 30 

including this one and in previous hearings. 

 

 In response to the Ilam and Upper Riccarton Residents Association, 

there are differences in relation to two definitions, the first is the 

definition of ancillary, which Mr Mark Stevenson has addressed in his 35 

evidence. The Council considers that the inclusion of a reference to 

small scale lacks certainty and that it’s more appropriate that such a 

requirement be addressed through rules rather than in a definition. 

 

 As Mr David Falconer has addressed in his evidence there is also a 40 

difference in opinion in relation to the definition of available and, 

again, the Council considers that it is inappropriate to regulate, 

particularly in relation to this definition, car parking through a 

definition and considers that it’s inappropriate to determine parking 

controls through the district plan and if it was to be regulated through 45 
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the district plan, it wouldn’t be appropriate to include it through a 

definition in any event.  

 

 At section 6 of my submissions I have just set out the Council’s 

position in relation to a number of the definitions that have been 5 

deferred to later stages or the Council proposes to defer to later stages, 

and this is primarily on the basis that it’s more appropriate that the 

definitions are considered within the context of the provisions to which 

they relate, which form parts of later stages, and I just note in that table 

the third row down, which reads “cultural heritage sites, heritage” and 10 

the word “heritage” after the comma, before “site of Ngai Tahu cultural 

significance” that word “heritage” should be deleted.  So it should just 

read “site of Ngai Tahu cultural significance”. 

 

 At section 7 of my submissions I have addressed Stage 1 definitions 15 

that are to be amended in later stages. The Council submits that the 

Panel is able to make a decision on the Stage 1 definitions as notified, 

however it will be reconsidering those definitions with the amendments 

and submissions may be received in Stage 2 on the proposed 

amendments to those definitions. 20 

 

 In section 8 I have just briefly addressed inconsistent definitions, 

essentially as definitions have been considered in multiple hearings 

occasionally there has been slightly different versions of definitions 

proposed to the Panel by the Council and so appendix 7 of 25 

Mr Thomson’s evidence-in-chief sets out a table which sort of brings 

those together so that the Panel can see the final version of the 

definitions that the Council is supporting. Generally it has been where 

one part of a definition has been amended through one proposal and 

another part has been amended through the other, so it’s just really 30 

bringing them together. They’re not conflicting, I suppose, in terms of 

the defined meaning. The only addition to appendix 7 would be 

Mr Stevenson discusses the definition of food and beverage outlet in 

his rebuttal evidence.  

 35 

 In section 9 I have discussed a number of changes to the structure of 

the definitions proposal. At 9.1 I have discussed deletion of related 

definitions, this was something that the Council had included in the 

notified version of the plan. There are both related and reliant 

definitions, related are sort of associated definitions, and through the 40 

hearings process the Council has come to the view that they are not of 

assistance to plan users and may cause some confusion, so it proposes 

that they be deleted.  

 

 At 9.2 I have discussed the position in relation to Māori terms, those 45 

concepts are now explained in the introductions proposal and so the 
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Council has agreed with Ngai Tahu’s submission that they can be 

deleted and at 9.3 I have discussed the inclusion of an abbreviation 

missed which is set out in the version of the proposal that is attached to 

the rebuttal evidence of Mr Johnson (ph 0.30). 

 5 

  [10.10 am] 

 

 In section 10 I have discussed the identification of definitions within 

the proposed plan and I am aware that the Panel has advised that it 

considers that where terms are defined in the proposal plan, they should 10 

always have their defined meaning. 

 

 The Council has some issues with those.  They have been summarised 

at 10.2 of my submissions and Mr Thompson (ph 0.57) has also 

addressed those in his evidence-in-chief the reasons for not always 15 

having the defined meaning and for the Council identifying through 

hyperlinks where the term is to have a defined meaning. 

 

 Finally, I just note at section 11 of my submissions I have discussed the 

deletion of a number of terms through reviewing this proposal, the 20 

Council has agreed that the number of terms can be deleted as their 

regular or near interpretation will suffice. 

 

 And finally, I just note that and I am sure the Panel is well aware of this 

although Mr Thompson is sort of providing the overview evidence for 25 

this hearing, the substance or the merits of each definition should be 

more appropriately questions regarding the substance of the definition 

should be directed to the relevant chapter lever. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, if you call your first witness then please? 30 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you.  The Council calls Mr Alan Matheson. 
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<ALAN ROSS MATHESON, affirmed [10.12 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [10.12 am] 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  Could you please confirm your full name is Alan Ross 

Matheson? 

 5 

MR MATHESON:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   For this hearing you have prepared evidence-in-chief dated 

9 June 2015? 

 10 

MR MATHESON:   I did, yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm you have the qualifications and 

experience set out in you evidence-in-chief? 

 15 

MR MATHESON:   I confirm that, yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Do you have any corrections you would like to make? 

 

MR MATHESON:   No corrections, thank you. 20 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm that your evidence is true and 

correct to the best of your knowledge and ability? 

 

MR MATHESON:   It is, thank you. 25 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  Mr Matheson, I understand that you have prepared an 

updated accept/reject table? 

 

MR MATHESON:   Yes, I have. 30 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please explain that to the Panel and then present 

it as an exhibit? 

 

MR MATHESON:   Certainly, perhaps it is best, I have just done a quick 35 

summary of my evidence. 

 

SJH:   First, yes thank you. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Certainly. 40 

 

MR MATHESON:   The fourth point I made in relation to that table so perhaps 

is it best, thank you, Sir John. 

 

 As set out in paragraph 2.6 of my evidence-in-chief due to time 45 

constraints, discussion with the Crown and Ngai Tahu had not been 
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able to be carried out, those discussions have been completed and the 

results are set out in Mr Timms evidence and his attachment SRT1 

which is the version referred to in Ms Murchison’s evidence and 

attached to the joint memorandum.  I concur with the evidence of both 

Mr Timms and Ms Murchison and have an agreement with the content 5 

of the attachment SRT1.   

 

 There are only four matters that I wish to comment on further, first it is 

noted that with respect to the submission by Ngai Tahu there has been 

discussion and agreement with the authors of proposal 2, the 10 

Definitions Chapter that the explanation of Ngai Tahu terms is best 

placed within section three, Ngai Tahu mana whenua.  I concur with 

Ms Murchison at paragraph 7 and 8 of her evidence, in particular the 

terms only need to be in the definition section where (a) they relate to a 

rule and (b) a precise definition is needed to interpret or apply the rule 15 

and obviously other Council officers will address the definitions. 

 

 Second at paragraph 41 of the joint memorandum, the further 

submitters listed there have some concerns about the accuracy of the 

Mahaanui Iwi Management Plan, February 2013. I note that the 20 

Mahaanui Iwi Management Plan is recognised by Ngai Tahu and has 

been lodged with the Christchurch City Council, just refer to section 

74.2A of the RMA. 

 

  [10.15 am] 25 

 

 I can advise that all chapter leaders and teams have taken into account 

the content of this document and the preparation and development of 

their respective chapters. Accordingly and irrespective that some 

parties have concerns with the document, I consider the statement at 30 

section 3.5.3 that the Mahaanui Iwi Management Plan is a particularly 

relevant document to the preparation of the plan, is a correct reflection 

of the Council’s view of the document having regard to its functions 

and in preparing the proposed plan. 

 35 

 Third, discussion with the Crown saw agreement that the descriptions 

of all the zones in section 10 could be deleted for the reasons set out in 

Mr Timms evidence at paragraph 7.2 E and F.  I note that these 

descriptions while helpful when the proposed plan was first prepared 

have really outlived their usefulness and I agree with the comments set 40 

out in paragraph 4 of the joint memorandum in this regard. 

 

 Finally, given the deletion of the zone descriptions from section 10, the 

accept/reject table provided with my evidence-in-chief needs to be 

updated and I have provided the Panel with a track change version, 45 

thank you. 
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SJH:   And you are going to produce this as Exhibit 1? 

 

MR MATHESON:   Thank you. 

 5 

EXHIBIT #1 – CHAPTER ONE ACCEPT/REJECTION TABLE – 

REVISED 10 JULY 2015 

 

SJH:   Thank you, yes, Ms Huria, any questions? 

 10 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, I have a few questions please.  Thank you, Mr Matheson. 15 

 

MR MATHESON:   Thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Just firstly asking you about the deletion of the zone 

descriptions, this potentially was the only place in the plan where there 20 

was a description of what each zone was intended to be about.  Do you 

think that this reduces the clarity of the understanding of the plan as a 

whole by removing those descriptions and whether they are being 

through the hearings on the other chapters or should be replaced in 

other form or in any other place? 25 

 

MR MATHESON:   Yes, two responses to that in developing the plan, I was 

always very clear that the objectives and policies should be so clear that 

it is very clear what the zone is about.  Now that we have gone through 

that exercise I am satisfied that they do hold that function. 30 

 

 Secondly in terms of could they go somewhere else then, yes, the 

answer is yes.  If you look on the E plan version of the district plan, as 

soon as you put the cursor over the description of the zone there is an 

immediate pop up which has a description of what the zone is about, if 35 

it is a rule, then it is a pop up which tells you generally just what the 

rule is about so in that respect that explanation it sits outside the plan, 

but it is a good explanation so in terms or where it has gone to that is 

where I suggest it is best located. 

 40 

 Of course the other aspect that Councils always do is provide 

documents which set out descriptions, information sheets and so on, 

very similar to a resource consent application. 

 

MS DAWSON:   In that our role is confined really to at the moment inside the 45 

plan, have you been following the questioning and the responses from 
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some of the Council’s witnesses about incorporating more material 

describing the zones within the objectives and policies.  For example I 

talk about Mr Stevenson’s work on adding in a new table into the 

policies about the different centres in the zones and similar questioning 

of Mr Blair about the residential zones.  Do you think that is a more 5 

appropriate clearer or unnecessary replacement for these zone 

descriptions? 

 

MR MATHESON:   I think it is clearer and I think you will see that when you 

come to stage 3 with Chapter 9 which is the natural and health heritage 10 

provisions and again that approach of clearly setting out in the policies 

what the different approach is in a centre or whatever and again that 

has been deliberate to bring those things clearly into policy level rather 

than sitting as some sort of description.   

 15 

 I have certainly found district plans that have descriptions, quite often 

they do not get updated as they should be and then they are used in a 

context which makes it very clear, well what is their purpose and I 

think sometimes they cause confusion, rather than certainty. 

 20 

  [10.20 am] 

 

 I think the approach you suggested of the policy setting out much 

clearer what’s going on is the right approach. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  Thank you for that.  A small question, 

what happened to the diagram on page 6 I think of the introduction 

attached to your evidence which sort of set out a diagram of the 

different statutory documents and how they interlinked?  Am I right in 

thinking that’s disappeared? 30 

 

MR MATHESON:   Yes, it has.  That was one of the submission points from 

the Crown. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 35 

 

MR MATHESON:   When we did that document Ms Murchison on behalf of 

Ngai Tahu obviously immediately pointed out that we haven’t got the 

Mahaanui Iwi Management Plan in there.  Once you then start to put in 

all of the documents that actually relate, particularly in this situation 40 

with the recovery situation we’ve got, between ourselves and the 

Crown we did have a really good go at trying to do a diagram. It got so 

complex that we actually lost any ability to show clearly how that 

diagram would assist people to understand. So yes, the diagram has 

gone. We all had a good go at it but in the end we decided it wasn’t 45 

helping. 
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MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you. 

 

MR MATHESON:   Also of course, situational change as well in terms of what 

the relevant documents are. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Now this is just a checking question, I’m asking 

you because I haven’t gone back and checked myself. Do any of your 

recommendations on changes to chapter 1 involve changes to our 

decision 1? 10 

 

MR MATHESON:  No, and in particular when we were looking at the 

Mahaanui section in chapter 1 we looked very carefully at what the 

Panel had done in its decision in the strategic directions. We were 

happy that we haven’t duplicated or conflicted with what you’ve got 15 

there, we see what we’ve put in there as being complementary to what 

the Panel made. 

 

MS DAWSON:   We also made some changes within some of the sections of 

the introduction as part of that decision, I believe? 20 

 

MR MATHESON:   Yes, that’s correct, so sections 5 and 9 – we have not 

touched sections 5 and 9, we’ve had regard to them as we’ve been 

going through and updating this and again satisfied that sections 9, and 

I’ll think you’ll see there is some reference there to chapter 5. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   So there’s no need for us to worry about them? 

 

MR MATHESON:   No, not as far I’m aware, no. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Now you have supported the appendix attached to 

Mr Timms’ evidence and which is essentially also attached to this joint 

memorandum. 

 

MR MATHESON:   Yes it is. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Now I have a few questions about the content of that.  Are 

you the right person to address those to, because it’s you, Mr Timms 

and I think Ms Viskovic said – Ms Murchison. 

 40 

MR MATHESON:   Perhaps if you’d like to start with me. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Start with you?  All right. 

 

MR MATHESON:   Yes, and then if there’s any further questions - - - 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Just a few questions, so it’s on the Ngai Tahu mana whenua 

section.  Under the customary purposes and use section 312, this 

section seems very focused on water bodies and I just, I mean if you 

can’t answer the question please just defer me off to one of the other 

witnesses, but I just want to be clear – are there customary purposes or 5 

uses for land within the Christchurch district that would go beyond this 

discussion that’s very water focused? 

 

MR MATHESON:   We did discuss that and I think this ties in very 

particularly in relation to how we are managing water bodies, 10 

particularly springs, and there is a land based component of that how 

we deal with a margin of water bodies, so that’s really the relationship 

there.  So that was as far as it went, there has been nothing come from 

Ngai Tahu in relation to customary purposes or uses in relation to land 

per se. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, well I could ask Ms Murchison about that.  Thank 

you.  On 316, there’s just one word that we – there was discussion right 

back I think in the chapter 1 times.  Is the word, in 316, “kaitiakitanga 

is the inherited responsibility of mana whenua to manage the 20 

environment”.  And I just want your opinion as to whether that word is 

appropriately used here.   

 

  [10.25 am] 

 25 

 This is a glossary about in the context for that is this Plan and the 

Resource Management Act and I’m just wondering whether that’s too 

strong a word but perhaps it isn’t, maybe there is an inherited 

responsibility to manage, it’s just that in this context the direct ability 

to manage either public or private land is more difficult and there’s 30 

more about the influencing or achieving or ensuring.  So I don’t know 

if you’ve looked at that in any detail or whether I’m putting others on 

notice to comment on that word. 

 

MR MATHESON:   No, I was satisfied with that word “manage”. Obviously 35 

that’s kaitiakitanga, stewardship, those concepts and thoughts, each of 

us have different responsibilities or abilities to carry those out.  We 

have of course as a council have different abilities to do that.  We’ve 

got statute to allow us to do that.  I’m satisfied that the “manage” in 

that context is relating to the ability of mana whenua within their 40 

abilities to manage to extent that they can, or to influence, so in that 

respect I’m comfortable with that term. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right and so 319 is similar.  The term mana whenua 

describes the authority to make decisions concerning resources.  I 45 

presume that’s again within a Ngai Tahu context. 
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MR MATHESON:   Correct, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Rather than across the entire Resource Management Act 

context. 5 

 

MR MATHESON:   That’s correct and obviously again that’ll determine what 

level of influence Ngai Tahu have so in relation to some areas they’ll 

have more of an influence, for example where they’re now responsible 

for the lakes, those sorts of things, so it will vary depending on their 10 

ability. 

 

MS DAWSON:   My last question is about the definition of rangatiratanga.  

It’s not included in the glossary and yet it’s used several times.  

Rangatira is defined at one point as (leaders) in 315 under the gloss-, 15 

the meaning of kaitiaki.  I just wonder whether, given that it’s used 

several times and commonly used, whether that is another word that 

requires some broader explanation.  Is there any reason for it not to be 

in the glossary? 

 20 

MR MATHESON:   Well I think if you go to 3.2.5 you’ll see there article two 

of Te Treaty sets out and I think in our discussions with Ms Murchison, 

again it might be something to talk more directly with her, because 

article 2 actually sets that out and we’ve provided this paragraph we 

didn’t consider there was a need for an additional explanation or 25 

definition of that term.  Thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  I just have two other questions on 

another topic altogether.  You talk about in paragraph 3.18 of your 

evidence, about the potential to condense all Transpower and Orion 30 

related rules into chapter 6 at some stage.  And you just I think mention 

if the Panel might like to think about this or might want to do it, is the 

council considering proposing this or undertaking this and putting it to 

the Panel or is that just a comment for further thought? 

 35 

MR MATHESON:   Both.  Yes, we are looking at in terms of chapter 6 looking 

at, and again the fire-fighting one is another one where I think the 

Panel’s addressed that in a number of zone proposals.  Again that’s one 

that the Panel might like to think about incorporating into the general 

rules because it does apply right across a number of zones.  So we were 40 

thinking perhaps both of those could go into that chapter 6 as new 

rules. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well that might be something you can bring to us outside of 

this forum.   45 
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MR MATHESON:   Yes, thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And then in 3.6 is my last question.  I just want you to 

explain a comment in there about, because you have referred to the 

comment in the strategic directions decision that the Panel felt there 5 

was insufficient evidence on the relationship about the percent of 

development with the central city, which certainly was our opinion at 

that time.  It’s 3.6. 

 

MR MATHESON:   Of my evidence? 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, of your evidence, yes.   

 

MR MATHESON:   Sorry, can you just give me that reference again. 

 15 

  [10.30 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:   3.6 in the middle of the paragraph.  

 

MR MATHESON:   All right, yes, thank you. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Where you refer to a comment out of the Strategic Directions 

decision, and then you go on to say “you expect that this gap has been 

remedied”. 

 25 

MR MATHESON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Can you just explain why you’ve drawn that to our attention 

and whether there is something new in particular you are wanting to 

draw to our attention there. 30 

 

MR MATHESON:   No, it was really just an alert, just to make sure that that 

had been covered off.  Basically in this respect we were trying to 

confirm with the submitters that they were happy with what had been 

put forward, and of course at this stage we are not quite sure what the 35 

commercial decision is going to be, so it was more of an alert for the 

Panel than anything else.  

 

MS DAWSON:  But not necessarily an alert to the actual wording of the 

Strategic Directions itself.   40 

 

MR MATHESON:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  No, that’s all, thanks.   

 45 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Udale? 
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MR UDALE:   No, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Chairman.  Just a couple of follow-up questions.  

Thank you.   

 

 Just in regard to section 3.2, Mr Timms’ evidence is what I’m referring 

to, and what is now proposed for inclusion in the introduction in regard 10 

to the Treaty. 

 

 So just looking at 3.2, just firstly looking at 3.2.5 and going back to 

your answer to Ms Dawson, Mr Matheson, so there is a description of 

an understanding of rangatiratanga in regard to the exercise of 15 

kaitiakitanga.  I am just wondering out loud about whether some 

aspects of this description need to be given some context.  And it’s 

probably a question for the others giving evidence as well, but it seems 

that this particular section, section 3.2 through to 3.2.6 is presenting a 

perspective on these issues, would that be fair to say? 20 

 

MR MATHESON:   That would be fair to say, yes.  It has been prepared by 

Ngai Tahu, Ms Murchison. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 25 

 

MR MATHESON:   Obviously for any of these types of explanations there is 

always an argument or a discussion as to whether it is correct, the 

emphasis to be given and so on.   

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR MATHESON:   In terms of the Council’s position, I am comfortable with 

what is put here is acceptable to the Council.  I don’t see anything here 

which puts the Council in any particular issue, in terms of what is 35 

written here in terms of the District Plan. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. And I understand this is obviously the end result of 

quite a lot of collective work and we are the beneficiaries of that 

consensus that has been achieved through that hard work.  As a matter 40 

of - for instance there is an interpretation given there of the Waitangi 

Tribunal’s findings at 3.2.4, I wondered for instance whether that could 

be referenced in some way. 

 

MR MATHESON:   Okay, yes.   45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  And whether it’s an unarguable interpretation of the 

Waitangi Tribunal finding, it may well be I just haven’t seen it. 

 

MR MATHESON:   Yes.  Certainly the references could be put in there.  I 

suppose the other aspect, and Ms Murchison might be able to talk a bit 5 

more about this to you, is that in terms of getting an agreed position 

from Ngai Tahu as to what should go into the District Plan there is 

quite a bit of work in the first place. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes 10 

 

MR MATHESON:   And again that is why I just confirmed from the Council’s 

point of view where it is comfortable what is written here.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 15 

 

MR MATHESON:   It is theirs as opposed to ours per se.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you think for transparency’s sake, or would it rock the 

boat too much, that there would be some benefit in having a statement 20 

more or less to the effect of what you’ve described? 

 

MR MATHESON:   Certainly, yes it could be, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Thanks very much Mr Matheson. 25 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Viskovic, anything arising from the Panel’s questions? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   No, sir.  Thank you. 

 30 

SJH:   Thank you Mr Matheson, you may stand down.  

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.34 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Viskovic? 35 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you.  The Council calls Ms Adele Radburnd.  
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<ADELE MARY RADBURND, affirmed [10.35 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [10.35 am] 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  Could you please confirm your full name is Adele Mary 

Radburnd? 

 5 

MS RADBURND:   That is right.   

 

MS VISKOVIC:  And for this hearing you have prepared evidence-in-chief, 

dated 9 June 2015? 

 10 

MS RADBURND:   That is correct.  

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm you have the qualifications and 

experience set out in your evidence-in-chief? 

 15 

MS RADBURND:   I do. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Do you have any corrections you would like to make to that 

evidence? 

 20 

MS RADBURND:   Not corrections, but a bit of clarification if I may.  In my 

evidence I talk about the definitions - - - 

 

SJH:   What paragraph? 

 25 

MS RADBURND:   Sorry, in paragraph 2.1. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS RADBURND:   I would just like to clarify that the definitions of trade 30 

supplier and building supplier, as a reliant definition, have been 

considered through the Industrial hearing.  I only cover it in my 

evidence for completeness because Council evidence on the Industrial 

hearing did not explicitly address the Canterbury Aggregate Producers 

Group submission point on those definitions.   35 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  Could you please confirm that the evidence you have 

prepared is true and correct to the best of your ability? 

 

MS RADBURND:   It is. 40 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   I understand you have a brief overview of your evidence. 

 

MS RADBURND:   I do. 

 45 
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MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please run through that and then remain to 

answer any questions. 

 

MS RADBURND:  Sure. My evidence responds to all quarrying related 

submissions on Stage 1 Definitions.  As the Panel will be aware, the 5 

quarrying provisions are to be heard in Stage 2 as part of the Rural 

Proposal. 

 

 However, because the Stage 2 quarrying provisions were not known 

when the Stage 1 proposals were notified a number of parties, including 10 

the Canterbury Aggregate Producers Group and the Isaac Conservation 

and Wildlife Trust made submissions seeking amendments to a number 

of quarrying related definitions.   

 

 In particular, submissions were made seeking amendments to the 15 

definition of mineral extraction activity, trade supplier, building 

supplier, and new definitions were also sought for the terms – mineral, 

clean fill and regionally significant activities. 

 

 My evidence-in-chief of June 9 recommends rejecting all relief seeking 20 

amendments to the definition of mineral extraction activity and 

supports the relief seeking that that definition be deleted. 

 

 The reasons for this are set out in paragraph 3.7 of my evidence, but 

principally this is due to the term having been superseded by the term 25 

“quarrying” in the Proposed District Plan. 

 

 As a consequence, Council has through the Industrial hearing sought 

amendments to the definition of industrial activity to delete the 

reference to mineral extraction activity as a reliant definition. 30 

 

 My evidence also recommends rejection of relief seeking new 

definitions for mineral clean fill and regionally significant activities on 

the basis that these terms are not used anywhere in a Stage 1 Proposal, 

and therefore would be redundant.  35 

 

 A memoranda dated 22 and 23 June, the Canterbury Aggregate 

Producers Group and the Isaac Conservation Wildlife Trust 

respectively confirm that they accept Council’s proposal to delete the 

mineral extraction activity definition and no longer wish to pursue the 40 

relief sought regarding the terms – mineral, clean fill and regionally 

significant activities. 

 

 Accordingly, there do not appear to be any matters of dispute 

remaining in respect of these definitions.  Thank you.   45 
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SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, nothing, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Udale? 

 10 

MRUDALE:  No, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thanks, Mr Chairman.  15 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Radburnd, you may stand down. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.38 am] 

 20 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Viskovic. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   The Council calls Ms Caroline Rachlin.   

 

25 
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<CAROLINE ELIZABETH RACHLIN, affirmed [10.39 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [10.39 am] 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  Could you please confirm your full name is Caroline 

Elizabeth Rachlin? 

 5 

MS RACHLIN:   Yes, it is.   

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And for this hearing you have prepared evidence-in-chief 

dated 9 June 2015? 

 10 

MS RACHLIN:   I have. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm you have the qualifications and 

experience set out in your evidence-in-chief? 

 15 

  [10.40 am] 

 

MS RACHLIN:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Do you have any corrections you would like to make to your 20 

evidence? 

 

MS RACHLIN:   Yes, I do. Thank you, I have a correction on page 2, at 

paragraph 1.17, point B, just a minor correction to add the word 

“Canterbury” before “earthquake recovery”. I have another correction 25 

for page 4, paragraph 4.9, I refer to the final sentence of paragraph 4.9 

which relates to the definition of cultural heritage, my correction is that 

the sentence should end after the words “stage 2 proposal”. 

 

 I also wish to update on a related matter - - -  30 

 

SJH:   So we delete the rest of it? 

 

MS RACHLIN:   Yes. 

 35 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS RACHLIN:   I wish to update on a related matter and advise in respect to 

the cultural heritage definition that the Christchurch City Council has 

made a submission on the definition of cultural heritage, seeking that 40 

the definition in stage 2 proposal be deleted. In summary it was notified 

and should not have been. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Subject to those corrections could you please confirm that 

your evidence is true and correct to the best of your knowledge and 45 

ability? 
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MS RACHLIN:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And I understand you have prepared a brief overview of 

your evidence, could you please present that and remain to answer any 5 

questions. 

 

MS RACHLIN:   Thank you. My evidence relates to four definitions which 

were requested by submitters on stage 1 of the proposed Replacement 

District Plan, these definitions are for heritage, cultural heritage, 10 

cultural heritage sites and site of Ngāi Tahu cultural significance. In my 

view the consideration of all of these definitions should be deferred and 

they should instead be considered in the context of the forthcoming 

proposal for natural and cultural heritage, under stage 3 of the proposed 

Replacement District Plan. The main reason for this recommendation, 15 

is the overlapping and connected nature of these definitions to the 

provisions and the yet to be considered future proposals under stage 3. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Ms Huria? 

 20 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, no questions, thanks, Ms Rachlin. 25 

 

SJH:   Mr Udale? 

 

MR UDALE:   No thank you, sir. 

 30 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No thanks, Mr Chairman. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, you may stand down. 35 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.42 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Viskovic, Ms Hogan. 

 40 

MS VISKOVIC:   The Council calls Debra Hogan. 

 



 Page 23 

  

Ch1 & 2: Introduction (Part) and Definitions (Part) Commenced 13.07.15 

<DEBRA JANE HOGAN, affirmed [10.42 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [10.43 am] 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm your full name is Debra Jane 

Hogan? 

 5 

MS HOGAN:   Yes it is. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And for this hearing you have prepared evidence-in-chief 

dated 9 June 2015? 

 10 

MS HOGAN:   Yes I have. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm you have the qualifications and 

experience set out in your evidence-in-chief? 

 15 

MS HOGAN:   Yes I do. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Do you have any corrections you would like to make your 

evidence? 

 20 

MS HOGAN:   No. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm that your evidence is true and 

correct to the best of your knowledge and ability? 

 25 

MS HOGAN:   Yes it is. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And I understand you have provided a – you have prepared 

a brief overview, if you could please present that and remain to answer 

any questions. 30 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. My evidence relates to the definition of port activities, 

paragraph 3.7 of my evidence recommends that this definition is 

amended. These amendments result in a definition that will match that 

contained in the notified preliminary draft Lyttelton Port Recovery 35 

Plan, this definition provides a more extensive list of what port 

activities entail in comparison with the stage 1 notified definition. I 

consider that alignment with the Recovery Plan is appropriate, given 

that port activities are referred to in stage 1 chapters and therefore any 

decisions that the Panel may make on these chapters. 40 

 

 Just in terms of the Lyttelton Port Recovery Plan, I thought it may be 

useful for the Panel to just have an update as to where that process is at, 

the Independent Hearings Panel to ECan provided their 

recommendation to ECan last week, it is up online as of today, and so 45 

the process from here is that, ECan Commissioners will make a 
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decision on accepting that and any changes to the Panel’s 

recommendation, and then on the 14th of August they will pass that on 

to the Minister for Canterbury Earthquake Recovery, and my 

understanding is that the following day CERA will notify that for the 

final stage of submissions on the Recovery Plan. 5 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Ms Huria? 

 10 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, no questions, thank you, Ms Hogan. 15 

 

SJH:   Mr Udale? 

 

MR UDALE:   (INDISTINCT 0.18) 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one matter of clarification, Ms Hogan - - -  

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and you may suggest to me that I refer to another 25 

witness, but given you’re dealing with the port I thought I should ask, I 

have a question around some aspects of the definition of no complaints 

covenant and just an aspect of whether there’s an undue prescription in 

it. 

 30 

 Now are you the right witness to ask about that or would that be Mr 

Thompson? 

 

MS HOGAN:   That would be Mr Thompson, yes. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising, Ms Viskovic? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   No, sir, that’s all. 40 

 

SJH:   Thank you, you may stand down. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.45 am] 

 45 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. 
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MS VISKOVIC:   The Council calls Mr Andrew Long. 
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<ANDREW JEFFREY LONG, affirmed [10.46 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [10.46 am] 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm your full name is Andrew Jeffrey 

Long? 

 5 

MR LONG:   It is. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And for this hearing you have prepared evidence-in-chief 

dated 9 June 2015? 

 10 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm you have the qualifications and 

experience set out in your evidence-in-chief? 

 15 

MR LONG:   I do. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Do you have any corrections you would like to make to that 

evidence? 

 20 

MR LONG:   No thank you. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm that the evidence you have 

prepared is true and correct to the best of your knowledge and ability? 

 25 

MR LONG:   It is. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   And I understand you’ve prepared an overview, could you 

please present that and then remain to answer any questions? 

 30 

MR LONG:   Certainly. My evidence lists the definitions being addressed in 

paragraph 2.1, which you have before you. My evidence also addresses 

a change to the introduction proposal as it relates to subdivision. 

 

 In relation to the introduction, the notified proposal includes a sentence 35 

to the effect that the proposal will be updated and amended as part of 

phase 2, it is my view that it isn’t necessary to say this and it is also a 

little confusing with stage 3 coming. 

 

 In relation to definitions, I think there are three groups of definitions 40 

within the list at paragraph 3.1, there are those that are not used within 

the notified plan and I recommend that those be deleted. 

 

 There are a second group which are not subject to submissions, I have 

reviewed those and where they are not necessary to the function of the 45 

rule, I have recommended that these be deleted. 
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 There are three submissions other than those, and I can just talk 

through those briefly, earthworks, the two submissions were received 

including one from the Council, I have accepted part of the Council 

submission point but considered that the deletion of roads could 5 

provide an exemption in some instances which would not be 

appropriate. The second submission seeks deletion or deferral of this 

definition, but it is used in stage 1 and in my view it is necessary. 

 

 Radio communications, the term is proposed in relation to a new 10 

provision – in a subdivision chapter – so there was a submission on the 

subdivision chapter to include a new rule related to radio 

communications and it is also the same submission talked about 

definition of radio communications, in my view it is useful in the 

interpretation of that rule. 15 

 

 Transmission line, I recommend that that be a definition of 

transmission line echoing what is in the relevant NES, in my view that 

is also useful. Thank you. 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you. Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Long, I just have a few matters of 

clarification, and most of them relate to mattes you’ve covered in your 

evidence, some of them might be ones that I know have come up 

through subdivision. 30 

 

 So firstly, you talk about the definition of roadway and carriageway in 

paragraph 4.34 of your evidence. Am I understanding you correctly 

when you say that roadway and carriageway are really referring to the 

same matter, to the same item? 35 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Do you think that would be useful to add to the bottom of the 

definition of carriageway? 40 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, we can do that, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because I think that’s the pattern that’s used, is where one 

refers to the other, it’s in both locations. 45 
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  [10.50 am] 

 

MR LONG:   Sure. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Earthworks, in 4.9 you say it is not underlined in the rules, 5 

but it is defined, are you saying it should be underlined? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, sorry, I wasn’t clear that’s what you were meaning, but 10 

it should be addressed in the defined term? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. Sorry, I am going through in alphabetical order. Future 15 

development lot, can you just remind me where it’s used? So you’ve 

left in the definition, you’ve suggested leaving in the definition of 

future development lot if certain aspects of the subdivision rules are 

retained. Does that relate to the New Neighbourhood zones? 

 20 

MR LONG:   It does. Is that one of my definitions? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Sorry, I haven’t - - - 

 

MR LONG:   But that is, yes, I agree. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, it probably isn’t in your evidence. 

 

MR LONG:   No.  

 30 

MS DAWSON:   It might have come out of Mr Thomson’s evidence actually 

and I thought you were probably better to answer it than he. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, you are correct, it was part of the New Neighbourhood’s 

provisions as notified. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Can you confirm that that particular definition is not used in 

the other part of the subdivision’s rules? 

 

MR LONG:   In terms of Stage 1, the revised proposal, I don’t think it is used. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   No. 

 

MR LONG:   In terms of Stage 2 - - - 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   No, let’s just talk about Stage 1 for now. 
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MR LONG:   Stage 1, yes, I don’t think it is used. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So it’s in the New Neighbourhood, so it depends on what 

happens to those rules? 5 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you. In paragraph 4.20 of your evidence you 

talk about network utility operation and suggest that because that term 10 

is not used that should be deleted. I just wonder, I mean have you 

noticed network utility operator is defined from the Resource 

Management Act, and at the very bottom of that definition it says “and 

network utility operation shall have a corresponding meaning”, and 

what I worry about is where a definition is sort of tucked in at the 15 

bottom of another definition, if it’s not included under its own heading, 

it’s not easy to find and it could be lost. So are you wedded to the idea 

of deleting that definition or is it just something that we can sort of tidy 

up? 

 20 

MR LONG:   I just think that because it’s not used, I don’t see the point in 

having it there, there could be a tidy up in terms of that network utility 

operator rule to fix the problem you’ve discussed. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But your rationale is just as a tidy up, there’s no other 25 

fundamental reason for it? 

 

MR LONG:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. Similar with lot, I mean you have recommended 30 

deleting the definition of lot because it’s just an abbreviation for 

allotment, which is defined. But is lot, as a word itself, used in the 

subdivision chapter or do you always use allotment? 

 

MR LONG:   Only accidentally.  35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Only accidentally. 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, I have tried to reuse allotment wherever, if I mean that as a 

defined term. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay, so that is what you’ve intended to do, is use the full 

word and not revert to the shorthand. 

 

MR LONG:   The definition of lot is simply a line saying “refer to allotment”, 45 

there is no actual definition for it. 
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MS DAWSON:   No, but I think if it was used a lot, sorry, then as another – 

and used in a different time, people would want to be able to find what 

it meant, but you’re saying to me it shouldn’t be used, if it is used it’s 

used in error, slipped in. 5 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, that’s good to know. Similarly with the 

outline development plan, I think it’s been recommended, and I don’t 10 

know whether it’s you that’s recommended it or Mr Thomson, has 

recommended that it be deleted – no, be deferred to Stage 2, I think, but 

it is, I mean in terms of the notified version of Stage 1, it is used in 

Stage 1, isn’t it? 

 15 

MR LONG:   That was Mr Thomson’s evidence, but, yes, it will be used in 

Stage 1 through subdivision. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so in that respect it needs to be retained for Stage 1? 

 20 

MR LONG:   I am not familiar enough with what the definition says to answer 

that question. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, well, I will ask Mr Thomson about that then. Sorry, 

I am hopping around here. My final question, you recommend the 25 

definition of transmission lines, and I can’t remember where it’s 

covered in evidence, but do you think it would be useful to also have a 

definition of “distribution lines” given that that’s what was referred to 

in any rules that come in in relation to Orion’s lines? 

 30 

  [10.55 am] 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, I do talk about that at paragraph 4.30, and I agree because 

we’re defining transmission lines and also having rules relating to those 

high voltage distribution lines, there should in future be definitions 35 

relating to those. Orion has sought that in their submission and I think 

that decision has been deferred until Stage 2.  

 

MS DAWSON:   But if any provisions come in in Stage 1, then it might be 

possible to bring that in at an earlier stage? 40 

 

MR LONG:   Yes, and my subdivision revised proposal does include them. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 45 

MR LONG:   Yes. 
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MS DAWSON:   All right, that’s all my questions. Thank you very much for 

your help, Mr Long. 

 

MR LONG:   Thank you. 5 

 

SJH:   Mr Udale? 

 

MR UDALE:   No, thank you. 

 10 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman. Look, just a very minor matter 

of clarification, Mr Long. If you go to your definition on page 12, 

which is attachment A, and earthworks is the definition, just looking at 15 

this it seems to me that we could probably clarify this definition just a 

little bit further. I wonder if that could be brought up on the screen? 

Yes, thank you. 

 

 So where A refers to – if you just bring it up a bit so we can see all the 20 

paragraphs there, thank you. So look at C for a start, I’m just sort of 

mindful there that it starts “in relation to”, presumably that’s 

earthworks in relation to? 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And where the concept is that which raises or that which 

involves, couldn’t we just simplify that to say something like the 

raising of ground level in the first instance or earthworks including or 

inserting other materials, that sort of clarification is fine? 30 

 

MR LONG:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  

 35 

SJH:   Anything arising, Ms Viskovic? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   No, sir, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Long. 40 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.57 am] 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   The Council calls Mr David Falconer. 

 45 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [10.57 am] 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm your full name is David Ian 

Falconer? 

 5 

MR FALCONER:   It is.  

 

MS VISKOVIC:   For this hearing you have prepared evidence-in-chief dated 

9 June 2015 and rebuttal evidence dated 2 July 2015? 

 10 

MR FALCONER:   That’s correct.  

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm you have the qualifications and 

experience set out in your evidence-in-chief? 

 15 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Do you have any corrections you would like to make to your 

evidence? 

 20 

MR FALCONER:   No, thanks. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm that the evidence you have 

prepared is true and correct to the best of your knowledge and ability? 

 25 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   I understand you have prepared a brief overview of your 

evidence, could you please present that and remain to answer any 

questions? 30 

 

MR FALCONER:   Sure. Sir, Panel Members, in my role as chapter lead on the 

transport proposal I have provided evidence on definitions that are 

relevant to that transport proposal, which I have not previously 

addressed in my evidence on the transport proposal that you heard a 35 

couple of weeks ago. 

 

 I have provided evidence on the following definitions: The definition of 

accessible, definition of available, freight depot, full time equivalent 

student, intersection, loading, one network approach, parking space, 40 

queuing space, tertiary education student, tertiary education student 

accommodation, and work bay. All of these definitions – there are no 

outstanding matters except for the matter of available in relation to 

parking, which was mentioned in the legal submissions this morning, is 

still an outstanding matter with the Ilam and Upper Riccarton Residents 45 

Association. 
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 I consider that the definition that is proposed by the Ilam and Upper 

Riccarton Residents Association is not appropriate for the definitions 

proposal as it is seeking to restrict the charging of parking spaces 

within a definition, rather than within a rule, and further, it is my 5 

evidence that such a restriction is not the most appropriate way of 

managing charging for parking and the effects on on-street parking, 

rather management of on-street parking outside the district plan is 

much more appropriate to address those effects.  

 10 

  [11.00 am] 

 

 So on that basis I do not consider that the proposed definition is 

appropriate.  I am happy to answer any questions. 

 15 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Good morning, Mr Falconer.  I am just clarifying 4.2 page 3, we 

have just checked the definition in the proposal.  Is there a slip there, 

“means the ability to for all people”.  It is directly out of the proposal. 20 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

MS HURIA:   It looks like there’s an extra “to”. 

 25 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, it looks like there is, yes you’re correct.   

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 30 

 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, I just have one question Mr Falconer and it’s to the 

definition of “full time equivalent student”.  And if you don’t want to, I 

don’t want you to be making amendments on the hoof if you’re not 

comfortable with that but it just doesn’t make sense to me what the 35 

definition – the definition’s meaning to define student, isn’t it?  It’s 

what does a full time equivalent, like one – so what’s the definition of 

one full time equivalent student? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   And maybe I’m just not able to understand it but it means the 

equivalent number of students based on the number of papers taken to 

complete a full time course in the normal time divided by the actual 

number of students.  I just can’t make the maths work in my head there 45 
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or whether there’s something that I’m missing that would make it make 

more sense to me.  What is it you’re intending it to mean? 

 

MR FALCONER:   The definition is trying to address I suppose the issue of 

part time students and rather than just disregarding part time students, 5 

it’s ensuring that those students are considered but obviously only the 

portion of the time that they are a student.  So the maths is that if there 

is a part time student for example that is half time at the course then if 

you divide it by the actual number of students then that will be 

considered as a half. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   So should there be a few more words in there? So you’ve got 

a certain number of full time students there treated as a one, and the 

part time students are multiplied by what proportion of a full time 

course they’re taking, that’s all added up and then divided by the actual 15 

number of total students.  Can I ask you to come back to us because I 

think it’s just too short and it could be interpreted differently. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Sure, yes, we can look at that.  That’s the intention and this 

is the exact wording from the operative plan as well, which, I’m not 20 

saying it’s correct, but that’s what has existed for the last 20 years.  But 

I’ll have another look at it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much.  That’s all, thank you. 

 25 

SJH:   Mr Udale? 

 

MR UDALE:   No, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Falconer just one question.  It’s not covered in your 30 

evidence as such but I see you’re the witness assigned to dealing with 

it, which is the definition of “one network approach”.  So I wonder if 

that could be brought onto the screen thanks.  Thank you.  Just looking 

at that definition I’m a little bit concerned that it’s so amorphous as to 

be almost meaningless.  Just as to the operative words at the end, 35 

“integrated system to ensure travel across the transport system is as 

seamless and consistent as possible”. 

 

  [11.05 am] 

 40 

 So that’s where we end up in understanding that concept.  So it comes 

from the document referred to below. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, yes. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is it precisely as that document defines it? 
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MR FALCONER:   No, there’s a couple of documents listed below and there’s 

also a number of other similar documents that use that phrase and it’s 

probably not simply defined in any of those documents but it is alluded 

to in all those documents. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  It sounds a bit like vibe to me. 

 

MR FALCONER:   It’s a term that the New Zealand Transport Agency is more 

commonly using and they were very keen to see it used in the district 10 

plan. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, just stop there for a minute.  Does it need to be a 

definition?  Or can it just be referenced in a narrative somewhere in the 

relevant part of the plan?  I’m just concerned that a definition, if one 15 

applies the normal approach to interpretation of a document, has to 

have some available meaning, that’s its purpose, and this one to me 

well you have to be in the know to understand what it means, don’t you 

think? 

 20 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, and that’s why we were wanting to define it because 

having it on its own, there’s concern that that would not - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is there a rule that it relates to? 

 25 

MR FALCONER:   An objective, a policy.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So why can’t it be an explanation to that policy or 

objective in some narrative, say, something like, “These reference 

documents refer to a one network approach”.  Refer to those documents 30 

for what they mean but in general terms it has this meaning.  That’s at 

least more consistent with such an amorphous concept, isn’t it, than a 

definition? 

 

MR FALCONER:  Yes, it could be at this stage.  The reason why it was 35 

created into a definition is in the early stages of development of the 

district plan review it was going to be used more often and that’s still 

the intention that it will in future be used more often than just in the 

objective and policy.  The New Zealand Transport Agency have what 

they’ve called a one network road classification, which they would like 40 

to see in all district plans and in fact they put a submission in on the 

transport proposal to have that in this district plan.   

 

 Unfortunately because of timing the road discussion has not been 

completed - - - 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I’ll give you an example.  Take Papanui Road. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Take it full of traffic so it takes you 15 minutes to get 5 

from Innes Road to, say the lights at Northlands Mall. 

 

MR FALCONER:   Sure. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And another day it takes five minutes.  Which of those is 10 

seamless and consistent and which one isn’t? 

 

MR FALCONER:  The idea of seamless and consistent is obviously, consistent 

relates to having reliable travel times each day. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if it’s reliably slow it’s consistent and seamless even 

though it may not be in accordance with its function in the network? 

 

MR FALCONER:   I suppose the New Zealand Transport Agency is moving 

towards having consistent reliability so evening out the variability of 20 

travel times. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that’s why it’s a definition? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Well on its own there was a concern that it would be not 25 

well known by the general public without some explanation. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I’m in the dark as to what it means and I’m a 

member of the public. 

 30 

MR FALCONER:   Sure.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And I’m only able to find out by reading those documents, 

is that right? 

 35 

MR FALCONER:   Those documents provide more information, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well will they help me understand what it means? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Yes, they would. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Shouldn’t the one network approach in the note after phrase be in 

inverted commas?  It’s the phrase you’re referring to from the heading, 45 

isn’t it? 
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MR FALCONER:   Sorry, after - - - 

 

SJH:   Well if you want to know more about one network approach and what it 

means.  So why wouldn’t you put it in inverted commas because it’s a 5 

quote from your heading, isn’t it? 

 

MR FALCONER:   Could do, yes. 

 

SJH:   Okay. Thank you. Anything arising, Ms Viskovic? 10 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   No, sir, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you, Mr Falconer, you may stand down. 

 15 

MR FALCONER:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.10 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Viskovic? 20 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   The Council calls Ms Janice Carter. 
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<JANICE CARTER, sworn [11.10 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [11.10 am] 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you confirm your full name is Janice Carter? 

 

MS CARTER:   It is. 5 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   For this hearing you have prepared evidence-in-chief dated 

9 June 2015 and rebuttal evidence dated 2 July 2015? 

 

MS CARTER:   I have. 10 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm you have the qualifications and 

experience set out in your evidence-in-chief? 

 

MS CARTER:   Evidence-in-chief for the natural hazards proposal, I do set out 15 

my qualifications and experience. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Do you have any corrections you would like to make to your 

evidence? 

 20 

MS CARTER:   No. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Can you please confirm that the evidence that you have 

prepared for this hearing is true and correct to the best of your 

knowledge and ability? 25 

 

MS CARTER:   It is. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   I understand you have prepared a brief overview of your 

evidence, could you please present that and remain to answer any 30 

questions. 

 

MS CARTER:   My evidence relates to definitions in the natural hazards 

proposal, proposal 5, which have not been addressed in evidence to 

date, including consideration of a large number of new definitions 35 

proposed in submissions, primarily by the Crown and Tonkin and 

Taylor, which did not form part of the notified proposal.  

 

 In my evidence-in-chief I also revisited some definitions not subject to 

submission, including comments on definitions made in the usability 40 

assessment. As a result of this assessment in my evidence I recommend 

some amendments to the following definitions: Residential building 

platform, hazard mitigation works, and freeboard.  

 

 In my rebuttal evidence I recommend further changes to the definition 45 

of freeboard and add to the definition of annual exceedance 
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profitability as a result of discussions with the Crown and agreement.  

It has also been agreed with the Crown that the words slope instability, 

intolerable and unacceptable risk do not have to be included as formal 

definitions in the definitions proposal, but the clarification or 

explanation of these terms can be included in the revised introduction 5 

to the natural hazards proposal.  The agreed revised wording is 

indicated in the memorandum filed with the Panel on Friday, 10 July 

2015 as appendix B. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Ms Huria? 10 

 

MS HURIA:   Yes, actually I will, thanks, Ms Carter. So just to make sure I’m 

really clear about glossaries and definitions, so a definition you would 

prefer that at the beginning of the natural hazards proposal there are 

definitions? 15 

 

MS CARTER:   It is more of an explanation of terms and concepts rather than 

defined narrow definitions of particular words. So there are some 

words in the definitions proposal that are defined in the natural hazards 

proposal, such as annual exceedance probability, quite the defined 20 

meaning, whereas other words such as unacceptable and intolerable are 

quite difficult to pin down and they’re more like concepts rather than 

something that you could define quite exactly in my view. 

 

MS HURIA:   So annual exceedance would stay in the body of the natural 25 

hazards chapter? 

 

MS CARTER:   Annual exceedance probability has always been in the 

definitions proposal, along with other definitions such as freeboard and 

annual individual fatality risk, so there are key definitions still in the 30 

definitions proposal, but there are some words that we felt we couldn’t 

pin down and didn’t need to pin down, but we could explain them in a 

natural hazards introduction. 

 

MS HURIA:   And so what is a glossary? 35 

 

MS CARTER:   A glossary, in my view of the world, is something that doesn’t 

necessarily have the statutory interpretation, but it may help people 

understand some of the scientific terminology. 

 40 

MS HURIA:   Okay. Remind me where that would go? 

 

MS CARTER:   In my view of the world, it would be outside the plan. 

 

MS HURIA:   That’s right. Thank you. Thank you, sir. 45 
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SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Carter, I have just got a few definitions to 

discuss with you. The first one is the definition of infrastructure, which 

you cover in 5.15 of your evidence. In the plan we’ve got a definition 5 

of strategic infrastructure, I think, and critical infrastructure, but when 

you come to the definition of infrastructure itself it’s been defined just 

for the purposes of particular rules in the natural hazards chapter. You 

are concerned about using the definition of infrastructure from the 

RMA because in that definition it says it’s just for the purposes of 10 

section 30, and although it’s true, is there anything about the definition 

in section 2 that makes it unsuitable for wider use? I mean are there 

things missing from it or matters of infrastructure included that 

shouldn’t be there because of its link to section 30? 

 15 

  [11.15 am] 

 

MS CARTER:   There are two potential actions to that. The word infrastructure 

as used in the RMA could be used in the natural hazards chapter, 

there’s no question we could do things that way. At the moment 20 

because it relates only to the rule 5.10.1, it’s been narrowed, so the 

definition of use in the rule is narrower than what it would be used in 

the RMA under section 30, which is quite a broad definition for 

regional purposes.  

 25 

MS DAWSON:   So when you say for regional purposes, what is it about that 

definition that makes it only relevant for regional purposes, or is it just 

that that’s what it says it is? 

 

MS CARTER:   That is one part of it. The other part is in the actual Act itself 30 

it’s talking about the integration of infrastructure and its purpose is that 

the Regional Council has the purpose of integrating infrastructure, so 

we haven’t used it, we could use it, but not in the context that we 

intended for 5.10.1 because it is a much narrower list of infrastructure 

that we were considering there.  35 

 

MS DAWSON:   So if a broader definition of infrastructure was to be included 

in the plan, and the definition from section 2/30 was included, how 

would the definition for the purposes of 5.10.1 need to be amended? 

Have you looked at that? 40 

 

MS CARTER:   I would need to look at the breadth of the definition in the 

RMA and work out which ones we weren’t referring to in 5.10.1. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, well, could you do that? 45 
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MS CARTER:   We can do that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean I can see that it doesn’t include services from the 

street to the houses themselves, so water supply, lines or whatever are 

included broadly, so those sorts of things would need to be specifically 5 

excluded, as they are in the definition you include there. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean I am interested to know if there is much else that 10 

would need to be changed because when you look at the definition it 

actually covers most of the things that one would normally think would 

be within infrastructure. But anyway, that would be helpful to us.  

 

MS CARTER:   Can I do that separately from this? 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   Separately, yes. 

 

MS CARTER:   I am happy to – I can see one word right now, but I’d like to 

investigate to see whether it actually fits in with the 5.10.1 and come 20 

back to you on that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. If we were to use this definition or an amended version 

of this, what would need to be excluded before it is used in 5.10.1. 

 25 

MS CARTER:   Okay. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. Now, my other questions, first of all, could you 

turn to annual exceedance probability, and it is the addition of the 

words “or larger”, and I am concerned to be absolutely sure that those 30 

words should be added in there because when you look at the definition 

of AEP in the Regional Policy Statement on page 132, it talks about the 

“chance of a flood of this size”, and it doesn’t say “of this size or 

larger”, and when, in my mind I have thought about a probability 

distribution and the percentage or the one in a certain number of years 35 

is that, in my mind, it’s been the probability of a particular flood or a 

flood of a certain size and it’s not the cumulative probability of a flood 

of that size and anything larger.  So I don’t know if you want to answer 

that question on the fly or whether you would like to think about that? 

 40 

  [11.20 am] 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I would like to think about it, because that or larger was 

added after discussions I had with Mr Graham Harrington and also 

Dr Wendy Saunders, so I have taken advice from a technical expert on 45 

that.   
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MS DAWSON:   Yes, and I can see that sometimes you want to know about 

that level “or larger”, and that may be what things are designed for.  

But it needs to be in the context of this particular definition, and as it 

relates to how that is defined in the RPS.  So maybe you could come 5 

back and confirm whether the words “or larger” should or shouldn’t be 

added into this particular definition.  

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I can do that. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  If we could just look at residential building 

platform.  So this still has me – 1.8 metres extension around the 

building.  Now in Mr Blair’s final version of the Residential Chapter to 

us, he has recommended that in most of the zones, I think, or certainly 

in the Residential Suburban Zones that be reduced to one metre. 15 

 

MS CARTER:   Right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So can I just take it from you that the 1.8 metre in there is 

intended to relate to the normal yard distance in the residential zones - - 20 

- 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - and if that is reduced to one metre then the number in 25 

this definition could be reduced too? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I think it could be reduced. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so there is a correspondence between those numbers. 30 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, there is.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  Then finally, slope instability mitigation works, which 

are actually under H for hazard mitigation works.  It’s to do with the 35 

mixing of mitigation works and removal of source rock hazards in this 

definition.  Because in the rules that have been put to us in the natural 

hazards section and in some of the policies, and particularly I think in 

the response from the Council to our minutes, a strong distinction is 

being drawn between mitigation works and hazard removal works, and 40 

I’m wondering whether there might be a need to separate them out in 

this definition.  Because in this definition mitigation works are defined 

to include source removal works. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I think if it’s helpful to the decision of the natural hazards 45 

to do that then I think that you could do that quite simply.  At the stage 
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that this was written rock fall source removal is mitigation at its widest 

sense, but as you said we have moved on from there and removal is 

being separated out in terms of how we distinguish between what takes 

away the hazard and what might be an ongoing protection structure to 

mitigate the hazard.  So, yes, I think that you could do a distinction and 5 

look at that more closely. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So in the table of agreed provisions, for the Slope Instability 

Chapter that came to us from a number of parties, I don’t know if you 

remember this, a big table - - - 10 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - with lots of slope instability classifications.  

 15 

MS CARTER:   The Memorandum. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I noted that the wording within that now includes 

mitigation works and hazard removal works as different items.  And if 

you agree, that could be complicated if the definition puts them back 20 

together again. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes.  I think it can be clarified.   

 

MS DAWSON:   And that they are as separate defined aspects. 25 

 

MS CARTER:   Trying to fit it in with what I know from the minute, yes, I 

think what you are trying to say and from what I know the Panel are 

heading towards in terms of the Natural Hazards Proposal, I think, yes, 

that could be helpful.   30 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.   

 

MS CARTER:   I think I could second guess that. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  All right, thank you very much, Ms Carter. 

 

MS CARTER:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Udale? 40 

 

MR UDALE:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 45 

  [11.25 am] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Carter, I have just got one follow-up question on the 

matter of infrastructure, and it may well be Mr Thompson can address 

this, or maybe this is another matter to come back to us on.   

 5 

 But it relates to the definition of Critical Infrastructure on page 29 of 

the rebuttal version of Mr Thompson.  I will just wait for that to come 

up on the screen.   

 

 Page 29.  So that second word “infrastructure” I take it the first thing is 10 

that doesn’t mean infrastructure as the Plan defines it for the purposes 

of rule 5.10.1? 

 

MS CARTER:   No. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  When a word isn’t defined, one of the 

principles that I understand is applied is the Act’s definition “can be 

applied”, you have to read the Act’s definition for its purpose.  So that 

might be a little bit confusing at this stage as to whether that Act 

definition applies or not.   20 

 

 Do you know whether the Act’s definition was intended in some way to 

be referenced here for that definition? 

 

MS CARTER:   That is not my understanding that it was. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it’s more one person’s general understanding of the 

word “infrastructure”. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Then if we go down to J and K, those items there 

wouldn’t normally be regarded as infrastructure in terms of the Act’s 

definition, would they, they can go a bit further in some ways? 

 35 

MS CARTER:   That is right and it is broader, yes.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then other aspects of the Act’s definition aren’t in 

that list, as I understand it either.  For instance, if we look at L, well it 

says “includes defence force facilities” it doesn’t necessarily exclude 40 

Public Works Act matters or other government works.  Is it intended to 

exclude other government works? 

 

MS CARTER:   No, because I think that the list is not – it is not just that list, it 

is not just A to L.  If you take the front half of the definition there could 45 

be other things that you could include in there.  That description at the 
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beginning which says “provides services which if interrupted would 

have a serious effect on communities within the Christchurch district”, 

so there could be other infrastructure that is not listed in A to L that fits 

that category.   

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but you see the issue, so for instance one person’s 

reference to infrastructure in that second word could be very, very, 

broad. 

 

MS CARTER:   I think it’s intended to be very, very broad.   10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well it could be “all encompassing”.   

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that really intended?  So for instance, critical 

infrastructure – if I can make a case for saying anything I am doing by 

way of building work is necessary for those purposes, then whatever 

building work I am doing is infrastructure.  That is not what the Plan 

means, is it? 20 

 

MS CARTER:   No, I don’t think it’s that broad.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, so do you think it would pay to look back at this 

and really crystallise exactly what it includes and excludes as a 25 

definition, as an exercise in coming back to us on that? 

 

MS CARTER:   I can have a look at that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You see the current issue I have got is, as it stands at the 30 

moment potentially anything and everything of a particular type of 

physical activity could be infrastructure, arguably - - - 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and we want to avoid that, don’t we? 

 

MS CARTER:   In coming back to you on that, could I also look at Strategic 

Infrastructure as well, because there’s an issue with the two definitions 

used.  Critical Infrastructure is only used in the Natural Hazards 40 

Chapter but Strategic Infrastructure is used more widely and also used 

in the Strategic Directions Objectives. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.   

 45 
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MS CARTER:   So to look at it properly I might have to look at what strategic 

infrastructure is doing as well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  I think it would be useful, it is not contentious, it is 

just important we don’t have unintended consequences from the 5 

definitions.  

 

MS CARTER:   Okay.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Chairman.   10 

 

SJH:   Ms Carter, how long will you need for that, Friday this week? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 15 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  Just one matter.  It really goes to natural hazards 

more broadly, because I have been doing some reasonably intensive 

proof-reading in the weekend.  At your 2.4P you have rock fall as two 

words, correctly in my view, but in the hazard mitigation definition that 

came up before it was rockfall, one word, which was also used by all 20 

the scientists and all the witnesses.  But it’s a word unknown to the 

shorter Oxford I can assure you. So you would go with what you have 

said here is the correct way? 

 

  [11.30 am] 25 

 

MS CARTER:   Rock fall, two words? 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 30 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Good, well I hope that can be picked up throughout. Now, we will take 

the morning adjournment but just before we do, Judge you want to put 

one point so it can be considered. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Ms Viskovic, just so that you may wish to discuss 

with Mr Williams during the break, I did signal that I had a question for 

Mr Thomson, and I am very happy to say now what it is. 

 40 

MS VISKOVIC:   Certainly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I don’t want to trip anyone up in this area, but just wanted 

to make sure there’s no unintended consequences. The definition of “no 

complaints covenant”, it’s got a paragraph B, which it probably doesn’t 45 

need to be on the screen for this, but first of all that word “willingly” at 



 Page 51 

  

Ch1 & 2: Introduction (Part) and Definitions (Part) Commenced 13.07.15 

the beginning of B, I am wondering whether including the word 

“willingly” in there may end up with an unintended consequence of 

argument about whether or not the applicant was willing or not to enter 

into something. That’s the first point. 

 5 

 The second point is it’s quite prescriptive as to substance and I presume 

that’s to ensure clarity, but what would be the situation if a no 

complaints covenant was entered into with an applicant that either went 

further than that prescription or didn’t go as far as that prescription? Is 

it intended that those types of no complaints covenant fall outside the 10 

definition? And if the answer to that question is “no”, then my 

questions will be around how we get around that problem with a 

definition that’s fit for purpose.  

 

 Thank you. 15 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:  All right, thank you. We will take an adjournment until 11.45 am. 

 20 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.32 am] 

 

ADJOURNED [11.32 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.49 am] 25 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. Ms Viskovic? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Sir, just before I call Mr Stevenson, by way of update we are 

quite happy to provide the Panel with an updated version of the chapter 30 

tomorrow, incorporating the changes agreed with the Crown on Friday. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   The Council calls Mr Mark Stevenson. 35 
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<MARK STEVENSON, sworn [11.49 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [11.50 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, Mr Stevenson? 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm your full name is Mark David 5 

Stevenson? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   It is. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   For this hearing you have prepared evidence-in-chief dated 10 

9 June 2015 and rebuttal evidence dated 2 July 2015? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is correct. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Can you confirm that you have the qualifications and 15 

experience set out in your evidence-in-chief? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, I do.  That refers back to my evidence for the 

Commercial and Industrial hearing, yes. 

 20 

MS VISKOVIC:   Do you have any corrections you would like to make to your 

evidence? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   No, I do not. 

 25 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm that the evidence you have 

prepared is true and correct to the best of your knowledge and ability? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   It is. 

 30 

MS VISKOVIC:   Now, I understand that you have prepared an overview of 

your evidence including a response to the proposed definition of 

reverse sensitivity put forward by the Lyttelton Port Company, I have 

copies of the definition. 

 35 

SJH:   Exhibit 2, thank you. 

 

EXHIBIT #2 – DEFINITION – REVERSE SENSITIVITY 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Good morning, Sir John, and the Panel.  My evidence for 40 

this hearing on proposals one and two builds on evidence I presented at 

the hearing on the Commercial and Industrial Proposals by considering 

submissions on the definitions not considered to date, as well as 

recommendations on inconsistencies arising across hearings in respect 

of the number of definitions. 45 
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 The definition of ancillary activity is considered in both my evidence-

in-chief and rebuttal evidence for this hearing, the former reflecting 

closing legal submissions for the Commercial and Industrial hearing. 

 

 Mr Hardie for Ilam and Upper Riccarton Residents Association has 5 

considered my evidence on ancillary and recommends in his rebuttal 

evidence further amendments to address the component of scale which 

I acknowledge is important in determining whether an activity is 

ancillary or not.  The definition I have proposed includes the word 

“incidental” therefore anticipating activity is a minor part. 10 

 

 Notwithstanding this I have reservations with the words put forward in 

paragraph 9 of Mr Hardie’s rebuttal evidence as it does not articulate 

for area of the plan what scale will have a less than minor effect.  I 

remain of the opinion that any measure of scale should be in the rules 15 

which articulate the appropriate quantum. 

 

 The definition of sensitive activity is also covered in my evidence and 

rebuttal evidence for the definitions hearing.  In response to the 

evidence of Mr Bonis for Christchurch International Airport additional 20 

amendments are proposed in my rebuttal evidence to ensure 

consistency with the language used across definitions, namely with the 

residential activity definition and clarity of that training facilities in the 

airport zone are exempt. 

 25 

 One final matter which counsel touched on I wish to raise is that a 

definition of reverse sensitivity which was the subject of my evidence-

in-chief for the Commercial and Industrial hearing at page 49 of 

attachment E to my evidence for the hearing. 

 30 

 In Lyttelton Port Company’s opening legal submissions for this 

hearing, the evidence of Mr Perves for the Residential hearing is 

referred to.  I agree with Mr Perves that the definition should also refer 

to the intensification of sensitive activity as leading to reverse 

sensitivity effects, however I prefer the amendments to the definition I 35 

put forward at the Commercial and Industrial hearing as it is, in my 

opinion, more succinct and clearer.  The revised definition would read 

as per the exhibit circulated just now. 

 

 The definition retains two key strands being the effects of sensitive 40 

activities and other legitimate activities being constrained.  I have used 

the word “effect” rather than “vulnerability” as proposed by LBC given 

reverse sensitivity is concerned with effects of an activity having 

regards to the context of the RMA. 

 45 

 That is my summary and I am happy to answer any questions. 
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SJH:   Thank you, Mr Stevenson. Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 5 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, a few questions please, Mr Stevenson.  I will try and do 

them in alphabetical order could you turn to ancillary activity so just, I 

would like, you might have said it in your opening statement just now 10 

but remind me where you got to with the agreements with other parties 

or other planners on this definition as part of the Commercial and 

Industrial. 

 

  [11.55 am] 15 

 

MR STEVENSON:   There was an exhibit put forward during the course of 

that hearing and that exhibit was presented by Ms Fiona Aston for 

Kennaway Park Limited, that was in the last week of the hearing and the 

definition she put forward reflected agreement amongst a number of 20 

experts. 

 

 There were a number of questions put from the Panel to Ms Aston and 

there was subsequently some amendments proposed that included 

reference to principle activity and clarifying what a principle activity is 25 

and from memory that arose in the context of an example of being given 

of the Freezing Works where there is multiple uses that may in fact each 

be a principal part in which an activity may be ancillary to. 

 

 In this definition proposed it introduces that component of what a 30 

principal activity is for the purpose of interpreting this definition.  There 

was previously reference to a lawfully established activity and that has 

been replaced by reference in the first section to permitted or consented.  

It was realised that in reference to lawfully established implies that any 

ancillary activity is already on the ground and it might be the 35 

development is proposed which an activity is ancillary to and it would 

therefore be more appropriate to use the words “permitted” or 

“consented”. 

 

 From memory the last version that you saw ancillary office activity was a 40 

separate definition and repeated largely what was in the primary part of 

the ancillary activity definition and it was felt appropriate to avoid 

repetition to incorporate the additional components of what constitutes  

ancillary office and the same definition as a broader term ancillary 

activity and the same goes for ancillary retail activity. 45 

 

MS DAWSON:   This is the same definition as was attached to the legal 

closing at the Commercial and Industrial hearing? 
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MR STEVENSON:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So from your point of view it is taken on board the various 

discussions, the amendments as far as you have been able to through 5 

that process? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I have just got a couple of specific questions about this 10 

definition then, I am concerned about the way the words “on the same 

site” are included in this definition because there are two, is it intended 

to mean that the ancillary activity is on the same site as the principal 

activities? 

 15 

MR STEVENSON:   It is, yes.  The concern is that by being on a different site 

you start to lose that relationship, that direct relationship between what 

is ancillary and what it is supporting.  The definition of sizes, it 

recognises where there is adjoining titles. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That event is provided for as well if for instance the 

ancillary activity is on a separate allotment with a different title, those 

two titles are potentially seen as part of the same site. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   If you just read the first three lines here in front of us, it 

means “any activity that is incidental to and part of the principal 

activities in businesses permitted or consented” and then it just keeps 

running on, on the same site as the principal activities so there needs to 30 

be an “and” in there or because it just does not read correctly in my view.  

It is because those words “as the principal activities” have been left at the 

end, can you just read that? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I think just where the cursor is at the moment may benefit 35 

from “and”. 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   There’s a comma or something and then “and on the same 40 

site as”.  Was that what you mean? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, that would certainly benefit from - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:  All right, and then when you say, when it says “principal 45 

activities and businesses” does it mean and/or businesses?  Because 

there may not be a business on the site.  There may be a residential 
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activity, or is this word only used in the Commercial and Industrial 

chapters in relation to businesses? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   No, ancillary has a broader reference and will do so in 

Stage 2, Tertiary Education Institutions, and in that context given it 5 

covers institutions such as the university, I think it perhaps should be 

and/or. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so it’s not just defined to a business context. 

 10 

MR STEVENSON:   That’s correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay, those are all my questions about that.  If you could just 

turn to service station.  So just to confirm, this definition no longer 

includes, which was in some previous iterations, the suggestion from 15 

the oil companies about putting a scale of square metres on the retail 

aspect of service station.  Has that been deliberately removed from this 

final version?  

 

MR STEVENSON:   There wasn’t – the version on the screen is what was 20 

notified with amendments being limited to clause E now.  There wasn’t 

previously a version that had limits proposed by the oil companies but 

that is in their submission that there’s floor space limits specified. 

 

MS DAWSON:   You haven’t, you’ve I presume on the basis that that’s more 25 

of a rule, you haven’t included that in the - - -  

 

MR STEVENSON:   No, no, and when you turn to the rules you’ll find that in 

fact there’s no floor space limit on retail activity forming part of a 

service station.  The basis for that is touched on in paragraph 5.9 of my 30 

evidence-in-chief where I say there’s a low risk of a significant 

quantum of retail activity whilst still being under the umbrella term of 

service station. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so you’re happy that there’s no need for such a level of 35 

control and again the word ancillary comes into the introductory 

paragraph, so at the end of the day the ancillary activity definition for 

better or worse can be relied on if there is a problem, which you’re 

saying is a low risk anyway. 

 40 

MR STEVENSON:   That’s right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  Key pedestrian frontage – this is just a 

short question.  Now that they are to be shown on the planning maps, I 

wonder if it would be helpful to say that as part of the definition.  I 45 

think that’s mentioned in a few other definitions where the item being 
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defined is shown on the planning maps.  Am I right in thinking they are 

shown on the planning maps? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That’s right, there’s an exhibit 5 or 6 I think from the 

Commercial and Industrial hearing which defines them.  Given key 5 

pedestrian frontages are very much a means of defining where rules 

apply, certainly a (INDISTINCT 3.43) of referencing that they’re 

defined on the planning maps.  There’s a question in my mind whether 

in fact you need the full extent of the definition put forward now. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Now, yes. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   And where in fact it’s a method as opposed to it being a 

term that requires definition. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, well perhaps you in conjunction with your other 

planning colleagues could turn your mind to that and come back to us 

on that.  Because I think there is a danger in having this definition 

without referring to the planning maps and that people could argue that 

there is actually wider and only some of them are shown on the 20 

planning maps. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I agree, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  And then finally can I turn you to heavy industrial 25 

activity.  It comes under ‘n’ for noxious.  I hadn’t really turned my 

mind to this definition during the industrial chapter because it wasn’t – 

we’re leaving definitions till now but am I right in thinking that 

originally this was a definition of noxious or offensive activity, and that 

the sorts of uses that are listed here I mean when you read them they 30 

are quite noxious and offensive in the main.  And then there was a 

submission or a series of submissions that asked for it to not be called 

noxious and offensive but to be called heavy industry.   

 

  [12.05 pm] 35 

 

 So my question is, is this definition really appropriate for the way it’s 

used now in the zones?  Because I understand that heavy industrial 

activity is a permitted activity in the heavy industrial zones? 

 40 

MR STEVENSON:   That’s right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Or supposed to be, or recommended to be, or recommended 

by you to be.  And anything that’s not in this list isn’t heavy, it’s just 

straight industrial activity? 45 
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MR STEVENSON:   That’s right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Do you think someone reading this list and thinking about 

what heavy industrial activities might be permitted would envisage this 

list, or given that its genesis has come from noxious and offensive? 5 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Just before I go on, in the Industrial General zone which 

is effectively a zone providing amongst other functions a buffer 

between the heavy and the residential, these activities are discretionary 

in that zone and industrial activity not in this list is permitted, so that’s 10 

a distinction between where the rules are so it’s articulated a difference 

between these difficult activities.   

 

 The genesis of this definition came from a Health Act of 1953 which a 

number of district plans have adopted and certainly when we started 15 

with it it had language and words which referred to activities I hadn’t 

previously heard of myself and so we updated the language somewhat.  

There’s a particular term we took out which I can’t recall but this 

definition, it was felt by calling them noxious or offensive, noxious is a 

term that it may not be – these activities in a heavy and industrial 20 

environment may not be construed as noxious because it’s what’s 

anticipated in that environment. 

 

 So it was felt trying to move away from what may be a subjective, in 

terms of people’s general understanding of what a heavy industrial 25 

activity is, we’ve certainly explored other plans and looked at examples 

but haven’t really found anything satisfactory for the purpose of 

distinguishing what is likely to generate more significant effects than 

other activities and so felt this was the most appropriate going forward. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   So a heavy manufacturing industry for example, which may 

have a lot of heavy equipment full of heavy materials which isn’t 

anything to do with boiling bones or slaughtering animals or burning 

things, or chemicals, it would fall within the industrial activity 

definition, and therefore could end up in the Industrial General zone but 35 

it doesn’t have the sort, well it also wouldn’t necessarily have the sort 

of less desirable effects that would mean that it shouldn’t go in that 

zone. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   There is, I’m assuming (ph 3.45) that’s a risk in such a 40 

definition where it listed activities that you end up missing one that 

may not be foreseen at this time and perhaps we could consider a more 

generic all-encompassing description but the risk is then that it lacks 

certainty of what it actually covers.  So there’s a balance to be struck.  I 

don’t have the answer to hand at the moment but I’d certainly 45 
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appreciate some time to come back to the Panel with a written response 

or other means. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But you’ve obviously turned your mind to it, so having 

thought about where this definition’s positioned, are you satisfied that 5 

by positioning it at the more noxious or if one could use that word, end 

of the heavy industrial spectrum, that that fits appropriately with the 

uses that are permitted in the Heavy Industrial versus the Industrial 

General zones? 

 10 

MR STEVENSON:   Absolutely, yes, it’s about providing for heavy industry 

somewhere and there’s sufficient separation provided for by another 

zone to avoid effects of these types of activities on residential areas.  I 

should also add that the majority of these activities would be subject, a 

lot of the effects arising from these activities would be matters subject 15 

to consent from the Regional Council around air discharge, water 

discharge and so there remains control on those aspects and obviously 

noise, hazardous substances and glare are covered by other rules in the 

district plan, so they provide a means of managing those effects that do 

arise from these activities. 20 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is all right, so I don’t need you to come back with 

anything further at the moment anyway, thank you, Mr Stevenson, that 25 

is all. 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Udale? 30 

 

MR UDALE:   No, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman. Mr Stevenson I have got a 

couple of curly questions in regards to some really hard things and I 

suspect the answers we may still have to work with you and the 

Council in trying to get these things right. The first one it comes back 

to is ancillary activity on page 10, I just want to come back to that. That 40 

can come up on the screen. The second one I’m going to ask you about 

concerns reverse sensitivity again.  

 

 So, in terms of – well, a starter question for me is this, you’re aware 

aren’t you that the concept of, where an activity is stated in a plan to be 45 

permitted, for instance, that the general law will tell us that even though 
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some things are not specified, if they are necessary and ancillary for 

that permitted activity then you can imply that they are part of it, and 

use the words explicitly excluded, you understand that general concept? 

 

MR STEVENSON:    I do, yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you understand that the law that has developed around 

that over time has generally characterised what ancillary is to be that it 

is subordinate to and necessary to support the principal activity, that’s 

effectively how it has been read? 10 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, and in codifying what ancillary activity means for 

this plan, am I right to understand given it’s not limited to specific 15 

rules, it will actually be codified and really replace the common law 

position or at least limit the application of a common law position 

because you are codifying what ancillary means? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes, we are, that’s correct. The plan introduces rules that 20 

distinguish between an ancillary office activity and the industrial 

activity it may well be a part of, so effectively separating those out in 

the rules moves away from what you describe. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and I am just wondering out loud about whether we 25 

might be creating an unintended issue here. So when we look at the 

concept of the subordinate nature of an ancillary activity that we 

discussed before, I read that explicitly in your description of ancillary 

office activity and I think you pretty much just said that now, “shall 

also provide necessary support for”, but those same words don’t qualify 30 

ancillary retail activity as I read it, and nor do they qualify the meaning 

of the term as a whole if we put to one side those two specific examples 

and look at the introductory words, that concept of subordinate doesn’t 

seem to be there either. Any comment on that, to whether that’s 

intended? 35 

 

MR STEVENSON:   The subordinate function, to a degree, in my view, it 

would be wrapped up under the words “incidental to”, but your 

interpretation of “incidental to” may be different. In terms of - - - 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is subordinate – could that concept be “necessary support 

for”, that’s what I’m wondering as well, whether that concept of 

“necessary support for” can simply be brought forward into the main 

body of the definition as opposed to just being there for ancillary office 

activity. 45 
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MR STEVENSON:   There’s just a question in my mind to whether a factory 

shop that sells products provides necessary support or whether it’s 

providing a service incidental to. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, so it’s not that clear cut. All right. Well, we will 5 

obviously have to think about all these things further, I don’t have a 

clear view in my mind either.  

 

 Reverse sensitivity I wanted to next go to. If we could probably look, to 

start with, at your page 12 and your paragraph 5.7, and then we’ll look 10 

at exhibit 2, and again I want to just test run intended consequences 

here. As I understand the change that you propose in exhibit 2, you 

bring in the concept of sensitive activities and therefore the definition, 

and that’s intended, right? 

 15 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes. 

 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But if we look at, for instance, we’ve had some evidence 20 

on this in other hearings, if we think, for instance, about somebody 

going to do their weekend gardening purchases at Mitre 10 and being a 

customer of Mitre 10 find unpleasant the noxious smells in a heavy 

industrial area that Mitre 10 happens to be consented within, that 

wouldn’t be within the concept of sensitive activities, would it, because 25 

those types of activities are not listed, ie Mitre 10 is not there? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   No, it’s not. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that intended, because we’ve had quite a bit of 30 

contested evidence, for instance Ms Aston gave evidence as a planning 

witness for a couple of her clients in regard to seeking some relief for 

the Heavy Industrial Zone in regard to a tannery and in regard to a meat 

works, I think.  Is that unintended? In other words, reverse sensitivity is 

relevant in that context and isn’t intended to be excluded by this 35 

definitional change? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I think the example you’ve given is relevant and it would 

be described as reverse sensitivity effects. I think it is unintended that it 

would be not captured by this definition of reverse sensitivity, however 40 

I would not be minded to, obviously given the broader application of 

sensitive activity it would need to be perhaps better articulated in the 

definition of reverse sensitivity rather than trying to amend the 

definition of sensitive activity. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so coming to the definition in your exhibit 2 of 

reverse sensitivity, it seems to me though that you – am I right to 

understand that you do narrow it there because you bring in the concept 

of sensitive in place of new? 

 5 

MR STEVENSON:   Perhaps a better way would be to refer to the introduction 

or intensification of activities that are more sensitive in the same 

environment because it is, on reflection, referring back to the definition 

of sensitive activities and this definition of reverse sensitivity would 

not be appropriate because it is narrower than what reverse sensitivity 10 

effects would capture. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, so – and they’re not intended to beat you up at all 

on the definitions, but just to get an understanding of what the drafted 

intention is, what I take from that is this change is intended to describe 15 

a relationship of sensitivity between the new activity or the intensified 

activity and an existing lawful activity.  It’s that sensitivity that’s trying 

to be captured? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   That is correct, yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Mr Stevenson, just going back to Ms Dawson’s questions about heavy 

industry and you expressed a concern that a list can sometimes leave 25 

something out, but putting it in a generic way also has issues. It’s not 

uncommon in legislation where you do have a list to have a final 

subparagraph that is an attempt as a general catch all, do you think that 

would be practical here? Because it isn’t aimed at what we would 

generally call “noxious activities”. 30 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I see merit in that, but the cost of that approach would be 

it potentially captures activities that aren’t necessarily heavy, it’s just 

how the catch all would be written, the words would need to be 

carefully - - - 35 

 

SJH:   Well, as always, the devil’s in the detail, isn’t it? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   Yes.  

 40 

SJH:   All I am really putting to you, is it worth considering? 

 

MR STEVENSON:   I think it is. The detail of how the words are articulated to 

avoid capturing activities that may well be perfectly harmless. 

 45 

SJH:   Would you mind considering it for us? 
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MR STEVENSON:   I will consider it and come back to the Panel with some 

words. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Ms Viskovic, anything arising? 5 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   No, sir, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Stevenson. 

 10 

MR STEVENSON:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.19 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes? 15 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   The Council calls Mr Ivan Thomson. 
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<IVAN THOMSON, affirmed [12.20 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [12.20 pm] 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Could you please confirm your full name is Ivan Thomson? 

 

MR THOMSON:   That is correct. 5 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  For this hearing you have prepared three statements of 

evidence namely evidence-in-chief regarding definitions in the 

residential proposal, evidence-in-chief regarding the definitions 

overview dated 9 June 2015 and rebuttal evidence dated 2 July 2015? 10 

 

MR THOMSON:   That is correct. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:  Could you please confirm you have the qualifications and 

experience set out in your evidence-in-chief? 15 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, I confirm that. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Do you have any corrections you would like to make to your 

evidence? 20 

 

MR THOMSON:  Yes, there are just a few minor things I would like to 

correct, sir, if I may.   

 

SJH:   Thank you. 25 

 

MR THOMSON:  In the overview evidence, a lot of these are quite small 

things, but paragraph 2.1, page 3 there is a missing word there, the 

primary purpose of this evidence, paragraph 2.3, page 3 I just note that 

the introduction has been dealt with by Mr Matheson.  Paragraph 2.5, 30 

page 4 and I just want to clarify that my reference to appendix 1 there 

really refers to methodology.  It is not tracking tables and the other 

background information.  

 

 There is a small typo in paragraph 5.2A, on page 6 is produced and 35 

perhaps more substantively on paragraph 7.1, page 8 I refer to 

sustainable management of resources.  Now of course it really should 

be sustainable management of natural and physical resources so that is 

in my overview. 

 40 

 In my residential evidence-in-chief I have three not so much changes, 

but I think they are comments at which I would just like to bring the 

Panel’s attention to.  Paragraph 5.8, page 6 where I am talking about 

apartments, I would just like to note that in the clean version of the 

23 April Residential Chapter I noticed that there is a word missing in 45 

policy 14.1.1.1 subsection A, subsection 5, I think the word 
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“apartment” is missing, perhaps it is something you may want to just 

check later on. 

 

 I am going to suggest perhaps in response to questioning or inside the 

context, paragraph 5.1.7, page 8 I am going to suggest a slight 5 

rewording to boarding house.  That is a definition that I do have one or 

two concerns about and paragraph 6.20, page 36 I have got some 

comments around place of assembly.   

 

 Finally, in my rebuttal paragraph 2.1 on page 1 I have omitted that I 10 

also discuss in that rebuttal the Ryman submission and Retirement 

Village Association position so that is covered off.  Paragraph 2.4, 

page 2 I am just wanting to acknowledge in my rebuttal I just briefly 

referred to the evidence of Mr Timms but there were some general 

points that he did raise in his evidence and I have since discussed with 15 

Mr Timms those matters. 

 

 Now they concern for example outline development plans and also just 

a note which he suggested to the definition section, but I think that is 

covered off in the agreement now.  Paragraph 3.2, last line I just with 20 

respect to Ms Hickey I have got Mr Hickey and I just want to correct 

that. 

 

  [12.25 pm] 

 25 

 Paragraph 3.4 I just want to record there that Ms Hickey’s evidence had 

not sought that these two definitions be deleted.  Now this is the 

definition of key activity centre MED and Neighbourhood Plan MED  

Now the implication from my rebuttal is that the Crown sought the 

deletion of those definitions but clearly they did not.  That is basically 30 

it, I have paragraph 3.9, page 5 record that I have agreed that these two 

definitions be deleted which is, I have not actually mentioned what they 

are. 

 

 Yes, definition of window control and electrical switch.  Now 35 

originally I suggested they be deferred to stage 2 because they are part 

of the life mark standards which stage 2 of the Residential Chapter or 

residential proposal is included, but given that the everyday meaning of 

those words and I think the context in which they are used, I have 

agreed with the Crown that they be deleted. 40 

 

 So that is all, thank you. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   So subject to those corrections, could you please confirm 

that the evidence you have prepared is true and correct to the best of 45 

your knowledge and ability? 
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MR THOMSON:   Yes, I so confirm. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   I understand you have prepared an overview of your 

evidence if you could please run through that and then remain to 5 

answer any questions? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, sir, I have prepared an overview very briefly for the 

overview evidence and also for my residential evidence.  So under the 

stage process through which the proposed replacement district plan is 10 

being developed definitions are a dynamic set of provisions so they are 

constantly being assessed as new proposals evolve. 

 

 They not only connect across different proposals but they also in some 

cases need to evolve through the entire process. Despite these 15 

challenges I am satisfied that the Panel can make stage 1 proposals 

operative with a high degree of confidence that the definitions can be 

relied upon to support the various provisions, particularly the rules that 

are needed to expedite the city’s recovery. 

 20 

 I consider that the process of tracking, amending and integrating 

decisions has been robust and resulted in a package that is internally 

consistent with minimum duplication although I consider that there is 

potential for improvement as the proposed plan proceeds through its 

stages. 25 

 

 Through the informal mediation and rebuttal process there has been the 

opportunity to improve the quality of the definitions where possible, for 

example, by deleting those which only offer an explanation of the term 

as opposed to a concise definition which can be legally defensible.  For 30 

example a number of planning and design terms are proposed to be 

deleted and either their everyday meaning relied up on or relying on 

glossaries and other documents. 

 

 I have considered whether the proposed replacement district plan 35 

should have a glossary of terms but at this point in time I do not 

consider it necessary so that is just my way of background to some of 

the things which I think will come up in questioning, sir. 

 

 As far as the residential evidence just a brief summary there, really two 40 

points.  The stage 1 definitions are a critical part of being able to 

progress the residential proposal expeditiously and thereby facilitate the 

residential rebuild.  The objectives and policies of the proposal are 

geared towards housing choice, supply, and affordability, as well as 

making provisions for a diverse range of non-residential activities that 45 

support communities.  Many of these activities require definitions that 
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will need to be considered in the context of proposals yet to come 

before the Panel. For example, education activities and health facilities.    

 

 The second point is that informal mediation has resulted in the deletion 

and modification of a number of definitions which are detailed in my 5 

rebuttal and with the agreement with the Crown.  There are however 

additional matters which I have already brought to your attention, that 

is around the apartment issue on page 6, the slight rewording to 

boarding house which I am sure we will discuss and the issue around 

this place of assembly, so with those matters, I am happy to answer 10 

questions, sir. 

 

  [12.30 pm] 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Ms Huria? 15 

 

MS HURIA:  Thank you, sir. Hello, Mr Thomson. We were assured earlier 

today by Mr Matheson that, words to the effect that all teams have 

taken into account the Mahaanui Iwi Management Plan.  Have you read 

that? 20 

 

MR THOMSON:   I have not read it in absolute detail.  

 

MS HURIA:  I am curious to see that you omitted it from your list of the 

documents that you used to form your evidence.  25 

 

MR THOMSON:   I see. Yes, that’s an oversight, I accept that.  

 

MS HURIA:   Okay, thank you. Thank you, sir. 

 30 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Thomson. Just a couple of general questions 

and then I will get into my definitions questions. You mentioned in 

your overview about carrying some of the submissions over to Stage 2 35 

and you say that in several places through your evidence, I am taking 

that that you mean defer our decision on those particular ones and I just 

want to confirm that there’s a list in the Council’s opening of the 

definitions to be considered later.  

 40 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Can you confirm that all the definitions that you think need to 

be carried over to later are within that list? 

 45 
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MR THOMSON:   That’s my understanding, yes, from the evidence-in-chief 

and rebuttal of the witnesses that you’ve heard. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so we can rely on this list in the opening as the ones that 

are to be deferred and carried over? 5 

 

MR THOMSON:   To be considered later in Stage 2 and 3.  

 

MS DAWSON:   As part of Stage 2 and/or 3, all right. Thank you. Now, just 

turning to, it’s paragraph 7.8 onwards of your overview evidence, and 10 

it’s about this issue of identification of the defined meaning of words in 

the plan.  

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   I understand the explanation you’ve given and I think you’ve 

given examples in one of your appendices about the sorts of issues that 

could arise if a word was slavishly used in its defined term and that that 

could unintentionally result in words that have multiple meanings being 

used in the wrong way or nouns, verbs and adjectives being caught up 20 

differently. What I would like to get your view on is that irrespective of 

those particular problems, is it the Council’s intention that as much as 

possible the defined terms will be used – well, the terms will be used in 

their defined form? 

 25 

MR THOMSON:   In their defined context, yes, that is the intention. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so you are not intending that a word would be tightly 

defined in some instances and then the same word be just more loosely 

used in another context? 30 

 

MR THOMSON:   No, once a word has been defined and hyperlinked back to 

the definitions, it should be used as the context requires it, but you 

know, as you have mentioned that word may not be used as a definition 

in every context, but there has been no – if I understand your question 35 

correctly, there’s no lesser or greater meaning ascribed to that 

particular term unless, well, no, full stop really. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so in some particular instances the context might mean 

that a defined word shouldn’t be used in its defined term because if it 40 

did so it would be unintentionally bizarre or whatever? 

 

MR THOMSON:   It would be, you could perverse results. 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes, but other than where perverse results might arise, is it 

the Council’s intention to use words consistently in accordance with 

their defined meaning? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   And to hyperlink them or underline them accordingly? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   And not say in this instance let’s just use it loosely, in this 

instance let’s define it, because that was our concern, that a reader 

wouldn’t necessarily know why a term had been used in a defined way 

or in a more loose way. 

 15 

MR THOMSON:   We have tried to avoid that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, because you don’t actually say that, you use these sort 

of left field examples, but I just would like confirmation that you have 

tried to avoid sort of sometimes using it in a defined form and 20 

sometimes not, other than where it would result in a perverse outcome. 

 

  [12.35 pm] 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. One of the principles that I have applied, and it really 25 

comes back also I think to whether we use the definitions and policies 

objectives, but it is where a legal argument, they turn on a word, and 

where it needs interpretation beyond its normal meaning, and that’s the 

reason I am recommending actually deleting a number of terms, 

because they are either subjective or they’re not a definition, they’re an 30 

explanation and so I’ve really tried to, as a matter of principle – well, 

first of all include those words that need to be defined, but also the 

chapter leaders should be defining their words in the context of their 

particular chapter where the meaning of a rule depends on it.  

 35 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, so I think you’re probably not quite answering my 

question, and I know I might be talking past you, but I’d like your 

confirmation that wherever sensibly or reasonably possible a word that 

is defined is used in that form. 

 40 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   I think it goes a step further, more importantly, wherever it is humanly 

possible or within the terms of language you avoid using a term in its 

defined sense and in its general sense, in its normal sense. 45 
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MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   I mean, for myself, I can’t see with the scope of language why it’s 

necessary to use both, but we had earlier examples where defined and 

undefined words were used in the same sentence.  5 

 

MR THOMSON:   No, that certainly would be undesirable in my opinion. 

 

SJH:   Well, undesirable is an understatement. 

 10 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean you have used some examples that I can understand 

where a word like “access” for example is used in a noun, in a 

particular way, but where it is used so that someone can access 15 

something and it’s used as a verb, and it’s quite clear it’s not used in 

the same context as the noun, then that may be fine. But as Sir John has 

said, it’s undesirable to use those sorts of – to have those sorts of thing 

happen unless it’s essential. 

 20 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Can we have your confirmation that you’ve endeavoured to 

separate defined from undefined? 

 25 

MR THOMSON:   We have. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, thank you. So just more of a mechanical question 

following from that, you and others talk about hyperlinking, in the plan 

that we decide there can be no hyperlinks because we can’t decide on a 30 

hyperlinked plan. So can another mechanism, such as underlining, be 

used as an alternative technique in the material that comes to us? 

 

MR THOMSON:   If that is helpful, and if it’s also helpful to people who don’t 

have electronic access, there has to be another way, and underlining 35 

was the way which we – before a term is linked to a hyperlink, it is 

underlined so the person doing the hyperlinking knows it’s a definition, 

so that’s - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so that would be helpful if that’s the best technique so 40 

that someone who sees it in a non-electronic form or, like us, produces 

it in a non-electronic or hyperlinked form, can be sure that the defined 

terms are used as defined terms. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 45 
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MS DAWSON:  Thank you. So that was my general questions, so now – I’m 

sorry, I have a lot of definitions to just – many of them hopefully will 

be quite straight forward and some of them – we may just do them in 

alphabetical order so if other Panel Members have comments on the 

same definition, fine, we will ask them at the same time.  5 

 

 So some of them are very straight forward, but I may as well just ask 

you as we go. So to start with access, New Neighbourhood entry lot is 

no longer defined. 

 10 

MR THOMSON:   No. 

 

  [12.40 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   So can we delete that off the bottom of the definition of 15 

“access”? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That was easy. 20 

 

SJH:   Martin, Mr Udale, we have a question that we are just going to go 

through one by one, do you have a question on this one? 

 

MR UDALE:   No, which one are we on, the original one or the rebuttal 25 

evidence? 

 

MR THOMSON:   The rebuttal, sir. 

 

MR UDALE:   No, no, I am with you. 30 

 

SJH:   Do you have a question on this one? 

 

MR UDALE:   No. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I just have questions on the next, accessibility and 

accessible. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I don’t have any more until balcony. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just this concept of, there is a concept of time and cost 

and effort with accessibility but it is only a concept of time with 

accessible and I wondered whether that was intended. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, I think it is the intent to separate those two out.  I think 45 

accessibility has a number of connotations both physical and social.  
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Accessible I think is a more – from that definition I think it is more of a 

physical accessibility, being physical accessible.  Now, that will be the, 

it’s just my take on it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, is this something you want to reserve your view on 5 

in case you need to test it the importance of this part of the plan? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, I think I would like to reserve my view on that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I do not know whether or not you’re right but I do think it 10 

is important that we do know that that is intentional otherwise it just 

looks like an omission in drafting and it may not be.  We don’t want to 

change something that might not be - - - 

 

MR THOMSON:   So one has got a cost and effort and the other one hasn’t? 15 

That’s alright if you’ve got time, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is right. 

 

SJH:   Any other A’s (ph 2.29)?  Balcony I think would be the next one. Shall 20 

we start with Aardvark?  Can you run through the balcony please? 

 

MS DAWSON:   The second sentence in this definition says, “For the purposes 

of residential activities, the structure must have direct and reasonable 

access to the residential unit which it serves.”  What I am concerned 25 

about here is that this is putting something in the nature of a rule or a 

standard relating to balconies into the definition so that if a balcony 

doesn’t have direct and reasonable access to the residential unit which 

it serves, it is no longer a balcony and then it does not have to meet the 

built form standards? 30 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, I agree and looking at that definition, how it is worded, 

there are rules I think in the, probably living in the residential median 

zone I would imagine and also in the other residential zones which 

require direct access so that to me reads a little bit like a rule so I would 35 

be more than happy to reconsider that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, please, because what concerns me not so much – well 

there is the concern about the fact that it is a rule popping into a 

definition, but there is also the concern that if it doesn’t happen to meet 40 

it even if it is through a resource consent, it is no longer about balcony 

and there are other rules relating to balconies such as setbacks from 

side boundaries or those sorts of things that would therefore not apply 

so, yes, if you could look at that that would be good, thank you. 

 45 

SJH:   Any other balconies?  Can we go back to addiction services? 
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MS HURIA:   Not aardvark, addiction services, the definition here – has this 

been agreed with the Salvation Army? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, this is my understanding, Mr Scott Blair would 5 

(INDISTINCT 4.46) yes, he has. 

 

MS HURIA:   The reason for my asking was that it is limited to clients limiting 

a counselling programme whereas I was under the understanding that 

from time to time they took clients who were not in a programme yet 10 

but were people who needed help, if they have agreed to this then they 

are happy with it then obviously. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 15 

  [12.45 pm] 

 

MS HURIA:   Okay, thank you. 

 

MR THOMSON:   But that is something which we could consider again 20 

whether the Salvation Army would I agree to that I would not be sure 

but that is the agreed definition we have got at the moment, I 

understand where you’re coming from as an issue. 

 

MS HURIA:   And if they have agreed to it. 25 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you, thank you, sir. 

 30 

SJH:   Any other A’s?  First B after balcony is? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Banks Peninsula. 

 

SJH:   Anything before Banks Peninsula? 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   So this is just again about hyperlinking and the Crown has 

sort of been very vigilant in making sure that nothing unnecessary gets 

into the definitions.  But I am concerned that this –that the words 

whether you are in Banks Peninsula or Christchurch or Christchurch, 40 

not Banks Peninsula, are used throughout the rules but the map is 

hidden to a certain extent in appendix 2.1 and it’s all very well having 

hyperlinks whenever those terms are used but in our version that we 

produce and in maybe people who cannot use an electronic version, 

they won’t see that hyperlink and they won’t know where to look. 45 
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 Because of this definition is deleted and the other ones that are similar 

to it, you would have to know to look in appendix 2.1 to find the map 

so unless the words “As identified in appendix 1” are used every time 

the three terms are used, which then clogs up those rules, it seems to 

me that it would be still quite a good idea to have these definitions in 5 

the definitions just to help people find it.  What is your view, 

Mr Thomson? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Well my view was in my rebuttal I wanted to keep them, 

however, providing that – whether those terms are used in the plan are 10 

hyperlinked straight back to the appendix, that’s fine, the problem I 

guess I had is someone didn’t know Christchurch, they would tend to 

go to the definitions rather than to the map.  I was ambivalent as to 

whether it stayed or went, I certainly take your point and as I say that 

was my rebuttal evidence, however, the agreement we made with the 15 

Crown deleted those three terms. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so your view is that it would be helpful to have 

them in there? 

 20 

MR THOMSON:   My view is that it would be helpful particularly for those 

people who, as I say, are outside of Christchurch or as you say don’t 

have access to an electronic plan may find it easier to go straight to the 

definition rather than to the map. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Because the map is sort of hidden as an appendix at the back 

of the definition. 

 

MR THOMSON:   It is at the end of the definition, that is correct. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   And one of the reasons for me being concerned is that the 

Port Hills, it is not completely obvious whether the Port Hills are in 

Christchurch or in Banks Peninsula to someone who doesn’t know 

where the line is drawn so at times it is important to know which part 

of the city one is in, is that correct? 35 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right, so my next one is on bed and breakfast. 

 40 

SJH:   Anything before bed and breakfast? 

 

MS DAWSON:   There is nothing between.  Sorry, I do not go through them 

all, Sir John.  So if you could scroll up to bed and breakfast which is on 

the next page.  Again, is the relationship of this definition to the 45 

definition of residential unit and it is probably more around residential 
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unit so this definition says that – maybe I will just leave it here and I 

will come to it when we come to residential unit but just to point out 

that a bed and breakfast is the use of a residential unit, bed and 

breakfast itself is not a residential unit, it’s the use of a residential unit. 

 5 

 So when we come to the look at the way it has been popped into the 

residential unit definition I am going to ask you a question about that 

when we get there, that is all on that one.   

 

SJH:   And the next one? 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Boarding house. 

 

MR THOMSON:   I would like to say, Ms Dawson, if I may come back to bed 

and breakfast, for up to six guests again it has the connotation of a rule 15 

in the way it’s worded, I am not sure whether that is something which - 

- - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Actually, I did have a couple of other questions on bed and 

breakfast while I’m there.  Yes, that has got connotations of a rule and 20 

if you wanted to come back to us as to how that would be worked out 

that would be fine. 

 

 The other bit is that the accommodation should be provided up to a 

maximum period of three months and it’s not quite clear whether that is 25 

per person, per guest, per any one guest or for all or continuous or per 

annum. 

 

  [12.50 pm] 

 30 

MR THOMSON:   It’s an unfortunate minefield. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Can they only be a bed and breakfast for three months a year? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   So that’s one, and then the next one is it says “at least one 

owner shall reside permanently” but normally we would talk about 

owner or occupier or someone living there.  Does it have to be the 

owner?  What if you lease the property, to then use it as a bed and 40 

breakfast? 

 

MR THOMSON:   I am only going by my own experience that most bed and 

breakfasts I’ve used has been the owner but they sometimes are 

assisted by a manager of some sort.  It’s a good point.  We’ll just have 45 

another look at that. 
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MS DAWSON:   Could you have another look at that definition please?  And I 

also found the definition of boarding house very confusing.  And 

although you might not agree with all of the Ilam Upper Riccarton 

Residents Association’s aspects their set out was better.  But you said 5 

you had some comments on that definition, so - - -  

 

MR THOMSON:  Yes, it is not clear from the definition whether the 

occupation by six tenants is per room or not so I think there’s a word 

“and” missing in the definition.  So after boarding rooms I’ve put “and 10 

occupied by” and I’d say no more than six.  Oh, sorry it’s - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Not less than. 

 

MR THOMSON:   - - - yes, I need another word for “at least”. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   Six or more. 

 

MR THOMSON:  Six or more, yes, to rent the property at one time. This 

definition, you quite rightly Ms Dawson, really it goes hand in hand 20 

with the definition of residential unit and it’s trying to deal with a 

particular situation and if you look at the definition – well I’ve looked 

at the definition of boarding house in the Auckland unitary plan and it 

is quite different and in some ways preferable but I am not sure if it 

deals with the specific situation that the Ilam Residents Association 25 

find themselves in.   

 

 The intent of this definition I think is to enable our enforcement 

officers at least to investigate a complaint.  At the moment there is 

nothing in the plan which really enables the Council to take action and 30 

I understand there could be some deficiencies or question marks around 

this particular definition but if it stays it does give our enforcement 

staff an opportunity to at least investigate on the grounds of a breach of 

the District Plan, or possible breach of the District Plan. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   I know that it links to the word “boarding room” and I 

haven’t got any questions about the definition of boarding room.  I was 

concerned about this “occupied by six tenants who are at the property 

at any one time”.  It sounds like they all need to be there all the time, 

and I think the Ilam Upper Riccarton people had some definition that 40 

some other wording about the tenancy was intended to be for at least 

six or more tenants or something like that, and you may have concerns 

about their wording as well.   
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 But I do think it needs – I mean being at the property at one time is not 

really what’s intended is it, it’s that the tenancy is for, there are 

tenancies for six or more tenants rather than actually occupying it. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, it’s a tenancy rather than, you could end up with a 5 

flatting situation.  It gets a little bit tricky around this whole area, when 

is a boarding house and say a flat and what’s - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well the boarding room definition talks about tenancies, 

agreements relating to individual rooms. 10 

 

MR THOMSON:   They get round that issue, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So perhaps you could – is this one of the ones you would like 

to have a little bit more of a look at and come back to us? 15 

 

MR THOMSON:   There are a number of things that I would like to look at 

Ms Dawson, but that would be one of them. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  I don’t have anything more until 20 

building. 

 

SJH:  Anything before building? 

 

MR THOMSON:   No. 25 

 

SJH:   All right, we’ll go to building please. 

 

  [12.55 pm] 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   This is just a small point on building.  It’s in B and it was 

raised by Karen Blair in her evidence for the oil companies and you 

may have thought about this.  She has raised the question about 

whether the word “use” should be included there when building is 

really used to refer to the structure and the use of the building is often 35 

dealt with as another definition, as the activity and lots of activities that 

can use buildings.  But maybe it still needs to be there, it’s just she 

raised that and it seemed like an important point to raise with you. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Off the top of my head I can’t think of a situation where the 40 

use would be pertinent.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Because I just think it has this potential to overlap with the 

way uses or activities are dealt with. 

 45 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 
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MS DAWSON:   We shouldn’t jump to an immediate conclusion because that 

word may have been there for a long time and have a purpose, but 

could you have a think about that please? 

 5 

MR THOMSON:   Yes.  I would suspect without knowing that that definition 

has been there in the Operative Plan and has got some longevity but 

we’ll certainly have a look at that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  Sorry, building supplier.  At the bottom 10 

of building supplier has been added in, “any goods allowed by any 

other definition under trade supplier”.  And trade supplier has a whole 

lot of definitions under it including automotive and marine suppliers 

which have their own definition.  And I’m just asking whether you 

really mean all the terms under trade supplier to also come under 15 

building supplier. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, this is an area where the Council considers part of plan 

change 84 when Bunnings submitted to get trade suppliers at the airport 

and we considered for some time the actual scope of trade suppliers, 20 

particularly around their retail component. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I’m not asking you about the scope of trade supplier, I’m 

saying it’s now all popped into building supplier. 

 25 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, it has and it’s one of these areas where there is overlap 

in a number of these definitions and again I haven’t considered at any 

length the implications of that.  I have for some definitions like 

community facilities for example and places of assembly but not in this 

particular instance. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so could you just have a look at that please?  I mean it 

may be that the introductory words, “sufficiently qualify the following 

list” that it doesn’t matter if trade supply has things like “uniform 

supplies” and “office equipment” and “automotive and marine”.  But 35 

on the face of it it looks like more things are being brought into the 

building supply definition than was intended.   

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  It’s interesting, I have many more before N and 

M, the middle of the alphabet, than after.  Care home within a 

retirement village.  You’re intending that all – there’s no comma before 

the word “within a retirement village” at the end.  And I just want to be 

clear that you’re intending that all those matters, whether it’s a rest 45 
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home, residential care or I think it’s supposed to be daycare – are all 

intended to be within a retirement village. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR THOMSON:   That’s the intent. 

 

  [1.00 pm] 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, that’s all for that one, thank you. I don’t have 

anything more before community housing unit. Is this definition used at 

all? The reason I’m raising it is that it becomes a bit confusing with the 

social housing definition, because they’re very similar, covering very 15 

similar matters, but with different words. 

 

MR THOMSON:   I am not sure whether it is used or not, I would have to 

check on that.  

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Could you check whether it’s used and then when we get to 

social housing maybe look at how they overlap or get confused. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes.  

 25 

MS DAWSON:   I don’t have any more C’s. My next one is duplex, towards 

the end of the D’s. 

 

SJH:   I think the next other one is G, so keep going. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Okay. So duplex, just to be clear, duplex is only used in the 

New Neighbourhood Zone? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   So because in some places the definition says “in relation to 

the New Neighbourhood Zone of the rule” would that be appropriate to 

put in here as well or is it unnecessary? 

 

MR THOMSON:   I am absolutely sure that’s only used in the New 40 

Neighbourhood Zones. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, you can come back to us on that. 

 

MR THOMSON:   I’ll come back to you on that. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes, that’s fine.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just as a follow up on that, we’ve just had some hearings 

on the New Neighbourhood Zones, and so if matters were to be 

deferred until a later stage on aspects of that rather than deciding now, 5 

this definition should not be determined until later. 

 

MR THOMSON:   That would help. It also overlaps with the definition of 

apartment as well, and there is some – I think it was raised in 

Mr Crisp’s report about that apartment/duplex relationship where or 10 

why for example is an apartment not, why is it defined the way it is, 

and I think it comes back to the way duplex is also used, and it is used 

in different places and different ways, but I think you’re right, I think 

it’s something which could be for the latter of the Stage 2. It is 

confined to the Greenfield New Neighbourhood areas.  15 

 

MS DAWSON:   In terms of using it as a defined term in the rules particularly. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   The only thing to be careful about is what might be in the 

policies that might be more general. Anyway, don’t deal with that now, 

it’s something to think about. My next one is early childhood education 

facilities, see preschool is also defined and I’m not sure that – so my 

question is why is this definition needed? I can’t see, there’s nothing 25 

reliant and I can’t see another rule like preschool that uses it, and it 

becomes confusing having a definition which has a similar meaning to 

preschool but is also defined. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Okay, so this is the submission from the Crown, and that 30 

may well be right, Ms Dawson, I will - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just see if it’s used at all or if there’s anything from here that 

needs to go into the preschool definition, because preschool is the term 

that’s used in the rules. 35 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So on a similar vein, my next one’s on education activity, and 

in here it refers to preschool facilities and I will come back to that when 40 

we get to preschool, but I just need to know whether we’re talking 

about preschool facilities or whether preschool is a separate activity, so 

I will come to that later but just to note that it’s called preschool 

facilities in here. 

 45 

MR THOMSON:   Okay. 
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MS DAWSON:   But my main question about this is, is it intended that tertiary 

education and research activity is included within the education activity 

definition or not? 

 5 

  [1.05 pm] 

 

MR THOMSON:   I think it is a separate definition, and I think this is one of 

the examples where, when the residential proposal was being crafted, 

we had to have something in there about education activity in order to 10 

make the chapter work. I think it’s going to evolve when you hear the 

specific purpose “Education Zone”, so in the context of a Residential 

Zone an education activity would be quite small scale, so we’ve got 

school separate, we’ve got university and the polytech separately 

zoned, that kind of thing, so they are separate, and I think this may well 15 

change as a result as it goes through Stage 2, for other reasons other 

than you’ve just mentioned. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So it could include and I think it does include tertiary 

education such as trade and industry training facilities or other sorts of 20 

activities, so it’s not excluding tertiary education, but it doesn’t include 

the specific term tertiary education and research activity. So in other 

words, it doesn’t exclude tertiary education even though there’s another 

definition that encompasses it as well.  

 25 

MR THOMSON:   Well, to the extent that trade and industry training facilities 

are tertiary, because I think - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   It just says provision of regular instruction or training, that’s 

the key definition, the rest is all just inclusive. 30 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, it’s really wide ranging. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So as long as you’re being regularly instructed or training, 

you’re in here. 35 

 

MR THOMSON:   Correct.  

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. Well, I mean have another look at it if you wish, 

but I just want to make sure there’s no – like a university would come 40 

within this definition of education activity. 

 

MR THOMSON:   It would. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But maybe that when it comes to the rules that doesn’t make 45 

any difference because it’s provided for differently.  
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MR THOMSON:   It is, it is provided for in its own zone. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. So my next one is elderly persons’ housing. I just 

want to know, the word “unit” has been crossed out, but in the rules it 5 

is a unit, because the rules relate back to the way it’s been provided for 

previously and the fact that those can now be converted into non-aged 

requiring units. So, I mean, is elderly persons’ housing intended to be 

one of a group or a group, given that the only place that it’s used as it 

was previously and brought forward into these rules, which is about a 10 

unit. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. Again, I am not in a position to answer why Mr Blair 

took that out, but in any event these recognise existing elderly person 

housing units, complexes or entities. Now, I don’t know whether 15 

they’re all units or whether there are self-contained elderly persons’ 

housing which aren’t units, so it’s made it more encompassing, 

presumably to recognise an existing situation because they of course 

took the age restriction off and we’ve created a different vehicle for 

elderly persons to reside in. So it may well be that it’s deliberate and 20 

it’s all encompassing to include units, notwithstanding what the rules 

say, that - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, it is really a matter of whether the definition is meant to 

apply to one of a group or the group, because it makes a difference later 25 

on when you look at how it relates to other types of uses, et cetera. So 

maybe just don’t deal with that now, there’s no point in doing it on the 

fly, if you could just go back and talk to Mr Blair and sort out what’s 

intended, because it still says one of the group, but the word “unit” has 

been taken out. So just could you make it consistent with the rules in 30 

the residential chapter or whatever is intended.  

 

 Right, okay, I don’t have anything until the G’s. 

 

SJH:   All right, does anyone have anything before G? No, thank you, we will 35 

take our lunch break for 30 minutes and come back with G. 

 

ADJOURNED [1.10 pm] 

 

RESUMED [1.43 pm] 40 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. Mr Thomson, you are on your former oath from before 

the adjournment?  

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, sir, thank you. 45 
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SJH:  Now, we have come to G. 

 

MS DAWSON:   My first one is Greenfield, GR, so has anyone got anything 

before that?  

 5 

SJH:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Mr Thomson, I want to ask you about this addition at the end 

of the definition of Greenfield, which refers to land not included on 

Map A, and I know that in the normal course of events land that’s still 10 

rural and not yet developed is generally Greenfield land, but I don’t 

know – have you turned your mind, and I haven’t done this myself, to 

the policy implications of calling land that’s not on Map A of the RPS 

Greenfield land because of the particular policies in both the RPS and 

flowing through to the Residential Zones and the Business Zones, 15 

which refer to Greenfield in a very particular way relating to that Map 

A land. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   I just want to make sure that we’re not falling into a policy 

trap by extending it to all other rural land effectively. 

 

  [1.45 pm] 

 25 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, so the original definition in my view was very broad, it 

didn’t distinguish at all between Map A or anything else, so I had some 

difficulties with that. The Crown, through their mediation, raised the 

issue that, and I think sought some wording that tied in the Greenfield 

definition to Map A strictly. The issue with that is that we have 30 

Greenfields development or potential Greenfields development outside 

of the Greenfield priority areas that are identified in Map A, so for 

example we could have Greenfield development in the small 

settlements of Banks Peninsula, those policies are yet to come before 

you of course, but it is quite conceivable that there may be some 35 

extensions to small settlements which of course are outside the Map A 

area. So that was just the first problem with both the Crown’s position 

and what I think the City’s position was in its original definition.  

 

 The other issue is there are – and I suppose it is related – is that on the 40 

Port Hills, which are part of Stage 2, it is quite conceivable that we may 

have Greenfields areas. Now, I guess the problem with that is that any 

Greenfield extensions will require an adjustment to the urban limits in 

most cases, so there is a policy issue there, but it doesn’t stop 

submitters seeking additional Greenfield land or trying to secure more 45 
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Greenfield land outside the urban limits, the problem that they have, 

there is a process to go through.  

 

 So in terms of Greenfield development, in the strict policy sense, you 

are correct, that is it really anchors back to the RPS chapter 6, but in the 5 

more general sense there are Greenfield situations which could either 

amend chapter 6 or is outside the chapter 6 jurisdiction. So the 

definition has to be broadened in my view to cover these situations 

outside Map A.  

 10 

MS DAWSON:   So if we just think about not Map A and read this definition, 

because it says “land at the urban edge”, so that’s I guess at any urban 

edge. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   “Not currently used for urban activities”, so it’s rural. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Rural. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   “That is not included on Map A”, that will be the next bit, 

isn’t it, “and which is generally rural”. So basically it’s saying any land 

around the urban edge, not on that Map A, which is rural can be 

considered as Greenfield. 

 25 

MR THOMSON:   Well, then it’s either or. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. Well, in addition to Map A, but if you just look at the 

non-Map A stuff - - - 

 30 

MR THOMSON:   Correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - “any other land that is on the urban edge that is rural is 

defined to be Greenfield”. 

 35 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So Greenfield doesn’t mean and is about to be considered for 

urban development, it just means rural land. 

 40 

MR THOMSON:   It is potential urban – yes, it does. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Does it? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   It’s only potential urban because it’s on the urban edge. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So my question is, has somebody looked at all the policies 5 

that use the word “Greenfield” and made sure that there’s no 

inconsistency in the way Greenfield is used in those policies with this 

broader definition that includes both Map A land and any other land on 

the urban edge of any other settlement, including Christchurch? 

 10 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, I have done that. The Regional Policy Statement out 

within the wider region doesn’t have a definition of Greenfield, so it 

doesn’t really address the issue. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay. And that tends to use Greenfield priority area? 15 

 

MR THOMSON:   In chapter 6 for the UDS area it does, so that is a 

distinction. It is up to the Council, the City Council I guess through its 

policies to determine what is permitted as Greenfield development 

outside of Map A, because it doesn’t have to give effect to the RPS. So 20 

for example, if a proposal came along through submissions to extend 

Duvauchelle’s, then the policy framework of the second stage of the 

residential proposal will have policies to guide the decision maker 

around the merits of that proposal.  Because the RPS is silent on it. So 

it’s really up to the districts to have that policy framework.  And the 25 

definition tries to take that into account. 

 

  [1.50 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, so can you confirm to me that you have looked at the 30 

way the word greenfield is used in the policies in the stage one part of 

the plan and that this definition doesn’t inadvertently provide a policy 

leg-up, I suppose, for land around Christchurch for example that might 

not give effect to the RPS? 

 35 

MR THOMSON:   I think the amendment that is proposed covers that, but I 

will say that I am aware of an amendment to a subdivision policy that - 

- -  

 

SJH:   I am sorry, Mr Thomson, you were asked to confirm something. 40 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes I - - -  

 

SJH:   You either confirm it or not - - -  

 45 

MR THOMSON:   - - - I can confirm - - - 
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SJH:   - - - and then you can qualify it if you wish. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So residential business - - -  

 5 

SJH:   So you do confirm it? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Right. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:  You have looked and this is not inadvertently giving a 

definition of greenfield that would mean that if interpreted as widely as 

this definition, the policy would be not giving effect to the RPS as more 

constrained. 15 

 

MR THOMSON:   I have looked into that, and can confirm. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay, thank you.  That’s what I needed to know.  Thank you 

very much. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just as a follow up, Mr Thomson, on this definition.  I 

have to say I had similar anxieties but those have been covered in your 

answers.  But on another matter with this, if you look at the way this 

definition is formulated, there is a set of qualifying words at the 25 

beginning, and then there are the two examples of where it can apply as 

you’ve described with the two categories.  One, if it’s in map A and, 

two, if it’s not.   

 

 But if it’s in map A, why do we need to have the qualifiers that it also 30 

has to be at the urban edge and also has to be not currently used for 

urban activities?  Doesn’t map A answer the question and say it’s 

greenfield if it’s in map A? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Well the words “at the urban edge” - - - 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can you answer my question first, or you are answering 

that? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes.  The words “at the urban edge” apply to areas outside 

of map A as well.  So it would - - - 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   No, no, I don’t want you to talk about stuff outside of 

map A. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Okay. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   My question related to when it’s in map A. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If it’s in map A, isn’t that the end of the story?  At the 10 

moment, if it’s in map A it may not qualify as a greenfield area because 

somebody might say it doesn’t meet the introductory words.  You see 

what I mean? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes I do but it will in every instance.  Map A is at the urban 15 

edge. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Why can’t it just say, “greenfield means land in map A”, 

or “land at the urban edge currently used for urban activities not in 

map A and which is generally rural land”.  Why can’t it say that? 20 

 

MR THOMSON:   It could, absolutely. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, so thank you. 

 25 

SJH:   All right, next one? 

 

MS DAWSON:   My next one is guest accommodation.  And just asking you 

whether bed and breakfast is guest accommodation or not.  If you don’t 

know you can check. 30 

 

MR THOMSON:   Well in the normal meaning of the word it would be. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but it looks like it isn’t from the way it’s dealt with 

separately in the rules and it might need to be specifically excluded if 35 

the rules have been set up that way because in the normal course of 

events someone might think that it is included in guest accommodation.  

Can you look at that for me? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I’m onto H now. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a further, on guest accommodation.  This middle 

phrase, “which may involve the sale of alcohol and/or food” and so 45 

forth, “and the sale of food, with or without alcohol, to the public”.  Is 
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it intended that either of those matters could be the subject of restriction 

through conditions of consent?  Because at the moment it seems to say 

that’s inherent in guest accommodation and it’s about the role of the 

definition versus the role of the rules that I’m asking that. 

 5 

  [1.55 pm] 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes.  It could well be depending on the context.  So I’m just 

trying to think of an area in a – I think conceivably it could, but I’m not 

sure if that’s the intent.  I think the intent is to widen the meaning of 10 

guest accommodation to take into a range of circumstances and then 

leave it to the standards and the rules to determine how it’s applied and 

of course from there it may trigger a resource consented condition. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  So we just look it on the basis that it’s 15 

covering the broad boundary but not on an assumption that those are 

implicitly allowed? 

 

MR THOMSON:   That’s correct. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 

SJH:   All right, H. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Healthcare facility. 25 

 

MR ………:   Financial. 

 

MS DAWSON:  No sorry, gymnasium. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:  It’s the same question for gymnasium, presumably the 

same answer.  That where things are described there, to be part of the 

definition of gymnasium, such as apparel sales and other things.  It’s 

not saying those things can’t be the subject of restriction.  It’s not 

trying to say that. 35 

 

MR THOMSON:   No, it goes back to the way it’s provided for in the actual 

zone that would determine that. 

 

SJH:   Yes. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So we just need to look at it in light of that, I just wanted 

to get that clear first. 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Healthcare facility. 

 

SJH:   Healthcare facility. 

 

MS DAWSON:   If you could just look at the second line and whether we need 5 

another comma.  So it means land and/or facilities used for the 

provision of physical and mental health.  I presume that means 

services.   

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   So do you see what I mean?  Because and it’s not just 

pedantic because then it goes on to “before people buy”.  So should it 

read “physical and mental health,” or “health related welfare, services” 

- - - 15 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - so that the following words, “for people by registered 

health practitioners” qualifies both sets of words. 20 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes.  Yes, I think that comma - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right then, that’s good.  So then I want to look at the 

list under “including”.  And I know this is a bit pedantic but we need to 25 

get it right.  The list starts off being a list of practitioners because it 

does when you read the initial words seem to be, qualifying or 

providing an inclusive list following on from the word “registered 

health practitioners including”, but then you get down to H and you’re 

into non-practitioners.  You’re into laboratories and daycare facilities 30 

and so could that just be tidied up? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I think that means “and may also include”. 35 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Yes. Is that what’s intended? That it’s a list of practitioners 

and a list of facilities and some exclusions? 40 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So the first words, the first set part of the sentence will need 

to be tidied up so that it doesn’t all follow on from the word 45 

“practitioners”. 
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MR THOMSON:   Yes, I think stopping at G would probably be about right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   For that and then we introduce another sort of heading. 

 5 

SJH:   I just wonder has this been agreed with the CDHB? 

 

MR THOMSON:   This particular one? 

 

SJH:   This definition.  And have you considered the new concept of integrated 10 

family health care centres? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, there is - - -  

 

SJH:   Because they are meant to include social workers and a whole lot of 15 

other people, dieticians, people who are not normally. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, and an integrated health care facility is a health care 

facility. So it’s a form of health care facility. So everything that’s 

provided for within an integrated health care facility needs to be also 20 

provided for in the parent definition of healthcare activity. 

 

SJH:   There shouldn’t be two, it should be simply part of one, I would have 

thought. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:  Well certainly one just refining the other, not completely 

replacing, adding to it.  So if both those could just be looked at together 

to get a coherent package. 

 

SJH:   And it has been signed off by the health board, has it? 30 

 

MR THOMSON:   My understanding is that this was signed off as part of the 

residential package, but I can’t be sure of that. 

 

  [2.00 pm] 35 

 

SJH:   All right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So the integrated health care facility has come from the 

CDHB but I don’t know if this has. 40 

 

SJH:   And it falls well short, the Integrated Family Health Centre, but a lot of 

the things in health care facilities will be carried out in Integrated 

Family Health Centre, so. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   That’s right.  All right, so something to have a bit of a tidy 

up, please. 

 

SJH:   Okay, anything else? 

 5 

 All right, next one John has is height, have you got it? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I’m on heights too.  My questions about height are quite 

simple.  I think in F of height there is a line just been missed out, which 

should say “the spires or towers of spiritual facilities that exceed the 10 

allowed height by no more than three metres”.   

 

MR THOMSON:   Spiritual facilities. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 15 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   It’s to do with spires and towers of spiritual facilities, I think 

F should be.  That is where I have seen it before.  I don’t think F just 20 

sits alone as it is written there. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Ms Dawson, can I just take you back to very briefly health 

facilities.  I am not sure that has been signed off, I think that is a stage 

2, that was going to come up again as part of Specific Purpose 25 

Hospital, so I would imagine that definition is still subject to some 

discussion. 

 

SJH:   Okay. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   All right. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes 

 

MS DAWSON:   So if it could be tidied up for how it’s intended to be now and 35 

then we may look at it again in stage 2.  Thank you.  All right so just 

height please.  Can you see what I mean by there being a line missing 

out in F? 

 

MR THOMSON:   You can see the allowance allows zone height of no more 40 

than three metres, or 20 percent of the governing height.  

 

MS DAWSON:   I don’t think that was intended to be all and every exceedance 

of three metres.  In a previous incarnation of this definition that F had 

the words “spires or towers of spiritual facilities”.  Now maybe it’s 45 
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been deliberately cut out, but could you have look and see whether 

that’s actually a cut and paste mistake? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, will do, okay.   

 5 

MS DAWSON:   And then in G, I wonder about the words “minor or major 

sports facility”, is that really needed in there? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, that will come up in stage 2 as a part of the open space 

and recreation zone. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. 

 

MR THOMSON:   That is where those terms are going to be developed, so I 

suppose we could leave that until then. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay, all right.  So that they will be the subject of definition? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   All right, that’s fine, that’s understandable.  

 

MR THOMSON:   It would be part of the rules, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  So that is all I have on height. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSON:   I’m happy with height, yes, sir.  

 

SJH:   Everyone happy with height, all right the next one. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   So this is the infrastructure matter that we discussed with 

Ms Carter.   

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   So my question, and I just want your view on it, and we have 

the definition of critical infrastructure and strategic infrastructure, both 

of which are dependent on the, on an understanding of the word 

“infrastructure” and we have this particular infrastructure definition 

that’s for the Natural Hazards Chapter. 40 

 

 And we’ve discussed it in previous chapters, it seems to me anyway 

that a definition of infrastructure itself is needed, and it may then be 

able to simplify the other definitions so that if we know what’s meant 

by infrastructure then the definition of critical infrastructure could 45 

either take some things out or add to it, and similarly strategic 
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infrastructure could give a purpose, being greater than local importance 

or something and add or subtract things, and similarly this. 

 

 It’s like the key word is undefined and so every time you need to create 

a new definition for these different purposes.  Do you have a view on 5 

that Mr Thomson? 

 

  [2.05 pm] 

 

MR THOMSON:   I certainly agree that, and I think it was agreed by 10 

Ms Carter this morning, and she asked to come and have a look at it, 

and it does need to be sorted out.  I think there are some overlaps 

between infrastructure, critical infrastructure, strategic infrastructure, 

not so much community infrastructure, I think that’s fine. 

 15 

 Part of it is to do with, I think, the way the RPS deals with strategic 

infrastructure as well.  So we’ve got a situation where strategic 

infrastructure just applies to the UDS area. Critical infrastructure 

probably is a term which applies outside of that. 

  20 

 So again we’ve got some integration issues around that, but I accept 

your point.  I think this whole terminology needs to be straightened out 

because there are overlaps.  Particularly with strategic transport. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well it is probably more fundamental though, that we don’t 25 

have a definition for infrastructure, a starting point. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Not unless you rely on the Act. 

 

MS DAWSON:   A starting point. Well we don’t rely on the Act. 30 

 

MR THOMSON:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because in other places where the term in the Act is used, 

like network utility operations is a classic one, it is in the definitions 35 

and it says “as per section 2 of the Act” and then it’s repeated.  

Amenity, exactly the same “as per section 2 of the Act’ but it’s not 

there for infrastructure. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Correct, that’s right. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   And I suppose if you are looking at, well we would like you, 

as we have said to Ms Carter, to look at all of that.  It seems to me that 

there would need to be good reason to not use as the starting point the 

definition that’s in the Act, even though it’s there for the purposes of 45 

section 30. 
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 Because when you look at the list of things that are included, they don’t 

strike you as just being regional, they cover everything, or heaps of 

things anyway.  Sorry, that’s how I feel. 

 5 

MR THOMSON:   No, I agree absolutely, and that would be helpful to do that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   As a starting point, and there would need to be a good reason 

not to use that as a starting point and either add to it or subtract to it for 

the definition for the purposes of the Plan. 10 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes.  

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so I will leave that with you and Ms Carter.  

 15 

MR THOMSON:   Yes.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Sorry, Sir John? 

 

SJH:   No, no.  20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Now this one is a bit odd, but it’s market garden.   

 

SJH:   What was the one before that?  Legibility.   

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Thomson, I am going to take you to your word that it 

probably was invented by an urban designer, but I suspect we might 

both struggle with it, and on the other hand I suspect the author of it 

may not have been an English scholar.   

 30 

 I wonder, the syntax of this just needs to be clarified in my view.  Now, 

if you take the first part of it, “means the degree to which”, so it’s a 

relative terms, and then it flips into something quite specific at the end 

“degree to which a place can be easily understood”, and then it says 

“and enables people to orientate themselves and find their way with 35 

strong visual links…” you see what I mean? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It’s a non-sequitur. So is the answer to that perhaps 40 

something like “means to the degree to which” et cetera, understood 

and legible means that “people are able to orientate themselves” or 

something to that effect, is that what it’s trying to say? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yeah, to be honest, your Honour, I have got doubts whether 45 

we need this definition anyway. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, good. 

 

MR THOMSON:   It was a number which I had the discussion with the Crown 

about and with all the other urban design definitions.  This one seemed 5 

to be the best of what was left, and it does come up on several 

occasions, so on balance for the moment I decided to leave it there.  

But because of its subjectivity I think it has got a degree of subjectivity. 

Again I would not be upset if it was taken out of the Plan  

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You trust the good urban designer’s eye to tell you that it 

is fine as opposed to trying to define it.   

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes.  They are actually much better suited to a design guide 

than they are to a - - - 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, to a definition.  Okay,  

 

MR THOMSON:   - - - a trite type.   

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, well you have answered my question, thank you 

Mr Thomson.   

 

SJH:   Okay, thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Market Garden. 

 

SJH:   Anything before Market Garden?  No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   There are two things about this definition.  The first one is in 30 

the first line, it talks about a small scale business, and I think we’ve 

already had Mr Stevenson today talk about not liking words like “small 

scale” being included in, I think it was the definition of Ancillary.  So 

does it mean small physical size, small level of turnover, I think that is 

potentially going to cause difficulty in a definition? 35 

 

  [2.10 pm] 

 

 And then the second part I have concern about is sold directly to 

consumers.  So what if someone sells it to a shop or sells something to 40 

a garden centre, for example?  I mean in Bowenvale there is a 

substantial greenhouse business, for example, that sells potted 

chrysanthemums directly to garden centres.   

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   That would be a market garden I think in everybody’s book. 

 

SJH:   Well, again the consumer would be the diner at the restaurant not the 

restaurant. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   I know, yes.  So I feel there are some flaws in this definition. 

 

MR THOMSON:  Yes, we have three terms and I am just trying to put my 

hand, find them, but there is one called community garden and one 

called market garden and one called - - - 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Community allotment.   

 

MR THOMSON:  Community allotment and I think that we are trying to 

distinguish between the three.  A community allotment is like a 15 

Packe Street, for example.  The - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   I think that is a community garden. 

 

MR THOMSON:  Community garden and then the other one is a private, an 20 

individual who has got an allotment and then we have got this one 

which is more commercial.  So there are kind of three related 

definitions going on here.  - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, because - - - 25 

 

MR THOMSON:   The issue with small scale, I accept that does raise that what 

is small scale question and I am not sure if I know the answer to that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, that is - - - 30 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, but we could come back and look at that. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Come back please because there are rules that relate to market 

gardens, for example, they have different coverage rules in the 35 

residential zone because historically Christchurch’s residential zones 

have had market gardens within quite a lot of them and so there are 

rules particularly around those and we wouldn’t – I mean I don’t think 

it is the intention to stop activities that are currently recognised as 

market gardens from being market gardens? 40 

 

MR THOMSON:   No, this is quite limiting when - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   It is very limiting. 

 45 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 
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MS DAWSON:  It doesn’t cover the range of activities that occur in lots of 

residential zones around the foot of the hills and the valleys, for 

example, and probably on the other outskirts of Christchurch. 

 5 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, and it may also come up in the rural zone too. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, it may. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you. 

 

SJH:   What is your next one? 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   My next one is New Neighbourhood net density. 

 

SJH:   Anything before New Neighbourhood?  Net site area. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Thomson, I just want to take you to net site area, just 20 

find that again.  So, yes, it is just a question of clarification on this one.  

If we look at breaking down this definition so net site area – we will 

just wait for it to come up. 

 

 All right, so what I want to know is you see the words “less than” or 25 

“less any”, “less any”, I want to know whether or not those words “less 

any” are intended to qualify all of the following words or just the first 

of them.  “Less any area subject to a designation for any purpose”, I 

take it is “less any” for that and for the next bit “less any strip of 

land…”, we will come back to this one, “… six metres or less or less 30 

than any area of land where it is shared access”, that is right, isn’t it? 

 

MR THOMSON:  Yes, I think there could be a comma after “width” so that the 

three kind of follow on is - - - 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, or possibly, you know, the definition could have an 

A, B and C in it or something. 

 

MR THOMSON:   It could have an A, B and C. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, coming back to the middle, the phrase “any strip of 

land six metres or less in width”, I struggle to know what that would 

actually mean, what does that mean?  I mean you could invent any 

strips of land six metres or less in width on an area so what is that 

trying to say or do you want to come back to that? 45 
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MR THOMSON:   I will come back because I am not familiar with where that 

came from, your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, okay.  No, that is fine, I just had a basic question in 

my head on that, thank you. 5 

 

MR UDALE:   Sorry, could I just ask a follow question on that.  In net site area 

where it says, “designation”, what would happen with Transpower 

where there might be a Transpower line but no designation which is 

probably more the – that wouldn’t be taken out of the site area?  I don’t 10 

know where this gets used. 

 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, that “subject to a designation for any purpose”. 15 

 

MR UDALE:   A lot of Transpower is not designated. 

 

MR THOMSON:   No.  Can we look at that as well, your Honour? 

 20 

MR UDALE:   That would be helpful and obviously Orion and anything like 

that. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 25 

SJH:   Okay, thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:  New Neighbourhood net density, and it hasn’t been deleted 

but I understand in your evidence 5.91 you have actually asked for that 

to be, you have suggested that be deleted?  5.91 of your residential 30 

evidence. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So is it intended that it should be deleted? 35 

 

MR THOMSON:   Can I just refer to my rebuttal. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Unless, sorry, you might have put it back in again. 

 40 

MR THOMSON:   No, that is to stay.  So that would come, that would be the 

way that we measure the net density and to meet the requirements of 

the RPS. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so that is to stay? 45 
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MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is fine, I just wasn’t sure.   

 

SJH:   Just trying to understand why you say in your evidence it should be 5 

deleted and now you are saying it should stay. So the term was 

previously there, it has been taken out, what is the point of it? 

 

MR THOMSON:   It has been taken out for the Meadowlands one. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   If you look at 5.91 of your residential evidence. 

 

SJH:   And your 5.91 doesn’t seem to be restricted to the Meadowlands.  Do 

you want to have a look at it? 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Better just park it and confirm. 

 

MR THOMSON:   I see, yes.  So it is not used, that is correct, so that may well 

be a problem with my rebuttal in that case, an inconsistency there.  It 

looks like it has been in the 23 April version it is not being used any 20 

longer so that may well be the case, thank you. 

 

SJH:   All right, we can come back to it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   You can confirm whether it is in or out. 25 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   My next one is place of assembly if anyone has got anything 

before that. 30 

 

SJH:   Anything before place of assembly? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I have got “no complaints covenant”. 

 35 

SJH:   Yes, go to that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Thomson, we will just wait for this one to come up on 

the screen and this was the matter I raised before lunch just to see if 

this needs to be clarified, we will wait for it to come up.   40 

 

SJH:   Page 79.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so have you had a chance to consider and perhaps 

confer on B and take the word “willingly” for a start as to whether or 45 

not that should remain? 
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MR THOMSON:   Yes, to be honest, your Honour, I have some difficulty with 

the particular definition altogether.  It was originally a rule in the Banks 

Peninsula plan, it has been put in as a definition.  The word “willingly”, 

if I may say so, suggests some sort of coercion and I am not sure if that 5 

is the intent but it certainly is a connotation. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, I wondered about that as being first, it is just 

thinking we have got to be careful about this area because sometimes 

people might feel as though there is an element of coercion sometimes 10 

in behind a consent process.   

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, my recall there is a non-complying status unless such 

an agreement was entered into which seemed to be a little bit 

draconian.  As I say it seems to be another method outside the plan 15 

which could be used rather than through even a rule in the plan. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I don’t want to disturb anything particularly something 

which may have been put in by way of consensus between the parties, I 

would very much urge that I don’t wish to do to that.  So is this 20 

something to your knowledge that’s come out of a consensus between 

the Port and the Council? 

 

  [2.20 pm] 

 25 

MR THOMSON:   I’m not aware of that at the moment but of course the Port 

overlay is also subject to a recovery plan so that may come back, well it 

may not come back to the Hearings Panel but it may well do, 

depending on how the recovery plan and the district plan pan out 

together.  As far as I’m aware, no, I don’t think there’s been any 30 

discussion around about that particular definition. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, and then the second aspect of it was I was asking 

about what the degree of prescription and the balance of B (ph 0.48) 

and whether or not that might have the unintended consequence of 35 

excluding some forms of covenant and unintendedly simply because 

they were more prescriptive or they were less prescriptive than that, on 

those details.  Is that covered by your first answer?  Do you think this 

definition isn’t needed, is that what you’re saying? 

 40 

MR THOMSON:   I’m really worried about it actually.  And that also as I think 

you were saying oppose any adverse effects so any adverse effects 

including noise, and that’s a very wide ambit. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are you in a position to advise us now on this or is it 45 

something where you need to test the matters further potentially in 
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discussion with the Port and advise a position on the place of this 

definition and if it’s there, what it should say? 

 

MR THOMSON:   It would be on preference. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 

 

SJH:   What’s your next one? 

 

MR ………:   Outdoor storage. 10 

 

SJH:   Outdoor storage, that’s 83. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Outdoor storage, here we are, this is just a question of 

clarification.  Storing is not parking a vehicle, is it? 15 

 

MR THOMSON:   No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Storing vehicles is I take it not parking vehicles in a yard? 

 20 

MR THOMSON:   No, I think probably it would, in practical terms refers to 

probably car wrecks or things like that at the worst case.  But it is not 

car yards or rental - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Car sales yards. 25 

 

MR THOMSON:   - - - no.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So perhaps just again checking this against its purpose 

within the rules, making sure no unintended consequences.  It might 30 

need some refinement perhaps to avoid - - - 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes.  In my experience this would normally apply to an 

industrial area for example but I certainly take your point, your 

Honour, that we may want to make that clear so - - - 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just double check to make sure. 

 

MR THOMSON:   - - - we’ll check that, sure. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 

SJH:   What was your - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Place of assembly. 45 
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SJH:   Place of assembly. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I think you said earlier that you wanted to discuss this with 

us.  But I think my concerns with this definition have predominantly if 

not completely been sorted out by the changes that have been made to 5 

this definition now.  Because what I was concerned about in the 

Residential Chapter was that activities were included within place of 

assembly but also included as spiritual or educational type activities 

and yet within the Residential Chapter they were listed separately with 

different standards.  So people needed to know whether they were a 10 

spiritual facility or a place of assembly.   

 

 And I think, so am I right in reading it now that – sorry, one step back.  

Community facilities is a very broad definition. 

 15 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And that’s included within place of assembly.  

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   But am I right in reading it that a community facility that’s 

not for recreational, cultural or deliberation purposes is now no longer 

included within the definition of place of assembly? 

 25 

MR THOMSON:  That’s my understanding but I think there’s still some clarity 

needed around this and that’s why I raised it.  I would prefer the term 

“community infrastructure” because that’s what it seems to be.  Now 

we’ve redefined community infrastructure in terms of the new - - - 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   The Local Government Act. 

 

MR THOMSON:   - - - I think was the 2014 amendment I think it was, and it’s 

concerned with quite small scale facilities like libraries, and community 

halls and I imagine in there as well you’d include community resource 35 

centres where people can go and have meetings. 

 

  [2.25 pm] 

 

 And I think that would actually dispel my concern about this definition 40 

because I think that’s the intent for the scale of community type 

facilities that this envisages. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I think you’d need to be very careful about changing the 

definition of community facility and replacing it with community 45 

infrastructure. 
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MR THOMSON:   Oh, I wouldn’t do that.  No, I’m just saying within this 

definition. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Within this definition. 5 

 

MR THOMSON: Yes, I’d just use it, the definition of community 

infrastructure rather than community facility for the purposes of this 

particular definition. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Which would confine it to community centres and halls, play 

equipment and toilets. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, which I think is more in keeping with what - - -  

 15 

MS DAWSON:   With what’s intended here. 

 

MR THOMSON:   - - - in a residential environment, that was my thoughts 

about that. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   But a church or a school or a corrections facility for example, 

which are within the definition of community facility and spiritual 

facility if that’s for the church, or educational facility, they are no 

longer included in place of assembly. 

 25 

MR THOMSON:   No and they’re also separately defined with their own 

activity standards too. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well that’s the point. 

 30 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Okay, I think I’m satisfied regarding that, except 

for this community infrastructure.  Pre-school - - -  

 35 

SJH:   Which relates back to. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I just want to, can you – there’s probably something you 

need to take away and come back. 

 40 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Is it a definition of pre-school facility or pre-school or pre-

schools facility it is in the Residential Chapter in some cases.  And is it 

an activity or is it a facility because you’ve got this cute little, I mean 45 
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other than this one the definitions reasonably consistently use different 

terminology for activity and facility. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   I think I’ve checked those and they’re quite consistent except 

for preschool.  Yes, depending on what it is. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   So could you just have a look at that and - - - 

 

MR THOMSON:   We’ll get back to you on it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And make it consistent with the Residential Chapter or make 15 

the Residential Chapter consistent with this. So the next one is 

residential activity and residential unit, which others might want to talk 

about.  Is that the next one?  I actually haven’t got many questions 

about this.  The main ones are around boarding house and bed and 

breakfast. So in the Residential Zone and only in the Residential zone I 20 

think, residential activity is a defined term as opposed to residential – 

not a defined term, it’s a permitted activity.  So it’s not residential units 

that the permitted activity, it’s residential activity.  And then later in the 

Residential Chapter, boarding house is separately identified as a 

restricted discretionary activity.  So we can’t bundle one into the other.  25 

They can’t be both part of residential activity and separately an RDA. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Unless residential activity says “except for boarding houses”.  30 

So could that be sorted out for us, what’s intended?  Is boarding house 

intended to be part of residential activity but excepted from the 

permitted activity aspect of it, or not? 

 

MR THOMSON:   It’s certainly intended to be part of residential activity and 35 

that was an issue raised by Christchurch International Airport and it 

relates back to sensitive activities. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right so if you could just let us know, yes, it’s intended to 

be part of Residential activity but not for the purpose it’s being a 40 

permitted activity in the residential suburban zone for example. 

 

SJH:   Did you have a question (INDISTINCT 4.39) 

 

MR THOMSON:  On Residential activity? No. I have one other on Residential 45 

activity.  The words “including the construction of buildings” has been 
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added in to the first line of this activity.  And that does seem unusual 

that that’s added into this particular definition of activity and not every 

other activity that has buildings.  Is there some reason for that? 

 

  [2.30 pm] 5 

 

MR THOMSON:   Well the only reason, Ms Dawson, as I understand, that was 

obviously part of the residential – said to come out of the residential 

hearings as part of an agreement which I wasn’t involved with so I 

guess your question is can that be extended? 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well if it has got a real reason, a need - - - 

 

SJH:   So you have not checked this transcript? 

 15 

MR THOMSON:  Not all of it.  I have checked parts of it. 

 

SJH:   Okay. 

 

MS DAWSON: So could you, to put in something like “including the 20 

construction of buildings” in a definition of other activity, is it unusual?  

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Because the activity is about the activity of being residential 25 

and then you have got things like residential unit which applies to the 

actual physical facility or building but for some reason that has been 

popped in there but if you are a spiritual activity you do not have 

including the construction of the building.   

 30 

 Now, if there is a real reason for it fine but it is both unusual to be in 

there and if it is needed in there why is it not needed in other places?  

And I don’t want to sort of start clogging up definitions unnecessarily 

so if you could look at that please? 

 35 

 I will just cover my little concern about residential unit which is just to 

do with bed and breakfast.  A bed and breakfast is defined as the use, I 

think, of a residential unit so it cannot be the residential unit itself.  

Now I just think – and this is my view and put me right if I have got it 

wrong, by popping “or a bed and breakfast” into the first part of the 40 

definition it is actually saying it is the residential unit which what it 

probably means is something like, for D, which says “A residential unit 

may be used as a holiday home”, it could also say E, “A residential unit 

may also be used as a bed and breakfast”  if you wanted to link it that 

way but it is an allowable use of a residential unit, not an alternative 45 

form of residential unit. 
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MR THOMSON:   Yes, I see the issue that you are telling me. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Same with the family flat, a residential unit may include no 

more than one family, may be used as a holiday home and it may be 5 

used as a bed and breakfast, that is consistent with the definition of bed 

and breakfast. Is that – if you can clarify that?  

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   All right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Just a couple of other questions on the residential unit 

definition, Mr Thomson, just picking up on that last matter, if there was 

to be an E following C and D, is there a question that also should be 15 

considered in terms of whether or not C, D, and E have a better place 

being expressed in a role in the plan as opposed to the definition? 

 

MR THOMSON:  C certainly looks that way. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:  I wonder about D on the same basis as to whether those 

things that say you cannot do are better expressed in the rule for clarity 

rather than the definition. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Possibly. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  It would work either way in your view at the moment. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, I think it depends on where it’s easier for the reader to 

pick it up and in some cases the definition that has the slight rule type 30 

inference may be easier in that we have got a definition rather than 

going into the rules. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Just on the topic at the beginning of that means a self-

contained building.  Does the Council have in mind what that means 35 

for instance is it self-contained if it does not have a kitchen or a 

bathroom or a bedroom?  What does it mean? 

 

MR THOMSON:  It means that a residential unit, once it has a kitchen then  

my interpretation of it is a self-contained unit. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, but if it does not have a bedroom?  The reason I am 

asking is I have dealt with the previous example in another plan where 

there was a massive argument about the meaning of a concept and it 

was in a sense similar.  You had to guess what self-contained would 45 

mean and in that case it opened up to some arguments on some topics, 
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in this case perhaps arguments about whether a building that had a 

kitchen but no bedrooms was a residential unit. 

 

MR THOMSON:  Yes. In the context of this definition from looking at B it 

certainly would imply it needs a kitchen but doesn’t say it needs a 5 

bedroom so self-contained - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  But A suggests accommodation, doesn’t it? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, it is. 10 

 

  [2.35 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So I am wondering whether this could be thought about a 

bit further as to whether the phrase itself “contained building” could be 15 

more further defined by way of what the elements of self-containment, 

the essential elements of self-containment are intended to be, for 

instance it might not be that the Council’s trying to constrain buildings 

that do not have bedrooms, bathrooms and kitchens, some of those 

might be discretionary but this one will effectively come back to a rule 20 

that says this is a permitted activity, won’t it? It will just say residential 

unit or something like that. 

 

MR THOMSON:  That is correct. Yes, in the normal meaning of the word 

“self-contained” would include bedrooms and it is hard done, does it, I 25 

can see a situation where it wouldn’t but given some of the things that 

are perhaps going on at the moment out at Ilam for example you may 

get situations where there are units that don’t have bedrooms. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well that may well be the case but it seems to me that A 30 

and B are attempting to say these are exceptions to the rule and the 

Council is thinking clearly about those exceptions but the version of an 

example you have described in Ilam is the concern I have that many 

different types of examples of those things could come up for argument 

about whether something is permitted or not and there is some clarity 35 

around self-containment, do you agree? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, I do. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 40 

 

SJH:   All right, another one to come back to, anything else on residential unit?  

The next one? 
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MS DAWSON:   Retirement village.  A lot of these come from residential and 

I know you weren’t the chapter leader but I am afraid you have adopted 

the - - - 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, I adopted the evidence.  Well, written evidence. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   So I only have one question about retirement village.  It talks 

about land building or site that is used for comprehensive residential 

development, two or more residential units together with services and 

facilities and then it just says “including care home versing medical 10 

hospital care, et cetera, facilities.” 

 

 I presume it is not intended to mean that all retirement villages must 

include those sorts of facilities? 

 15 

MR THOMSON:   No, I doubt whether that is the intention. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So does it mean, “and may include?” 

 

MR THOMSON:   And may include. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   And may include, yes, thank you.  My next one is social 

housing but that skips over reverse sensitivity. 

 

SJH:   Second-hand goods is the next one. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Just quickly on this one, second hand goods, thank you, 

Mr (INDISTINCT 3.15). So just looking at the definition of second-

hand, the concept of a business that should possibly refer to a land use 

concept where a business is operating should it not, to avoid the 30 

TradeMe sellers getting caught by this? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

JDUGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   This is my last one.  So social housing, and it relates to how 

this relates to multi-unit residential complex and social housing.  In the 

residential chapter, those two forms of housing are quite closely allied 

in terms of the way they are treated and I think multi-unit residential is 40 

just a group of two or more residential units held under the Unit Titles 

Act and that is quite clear but social housing is referred to sometimes as 

social housing complexes, sometimes is social housing multi-unit 

residential complexes, sometimes just as social housing and you may 

not be able to answer this now but it is, what I want to know is, are we 45 

defining the concept of social housing or are we defining a sort of 
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housing type, in other words is it, and is it intended to be a group of 

two or more residential units or could it – is it just any residential unit 

which could be just one and how does it relate to the idea of 

“complex”, a social housing complex, which is what the rules really are 

talking about. 5 

 

  [2.40 pm] 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, I’m trying to distinguish the two that is permitted 

activity 20 and 21 for multiunit residential complexes and for social. 10 

One, I think the clear distinction is, that one of them is to be provided 

by certain housing providers - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 15 

MR THOMSON:   - - - and I cannot see any other, without going to the rules in 

a detailed way, I cannot see any other differences in terms of density or 

anything else. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, no that’s fine, I just want - - -  20 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON: - - - to make sure that the words that are used in the definition, 

in other words, the - - -  25 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - are the same and consistent as the words that are used in 

the residential chapter - - -  30 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, so - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - or one - - -  

 35 

MR THOMSON:   - - - we could have - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - one set of words is chosen to be used and we’re told 

what that is, and then it is, is it to be about a - - -  

 40 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - a group or could it just be one, so I mean it is not rocket 

science - - -  

 45 

MR THOMSON:   No. 
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MS DAWSON:   - - - it is just getting it right. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Getting it right and - - -  

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR THOMSON:   - - - being consistent but - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Because I know that this is about who owns it - - -  10 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - and it is not under the Unit Titles Act, whereas multi-

units are, so you know if they need to be defined – they aren’t the 15 

same, but they’re treated similarly so the concept of whether it is a 

group and if it is a complex or if it is just one. 

 

MR THOMSON:   From a planning – look, from my experience here, I think 

that the definition needs to be amended so it is consistent with the 20 

activity that might help. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Okay. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I mean I do not think it needs to vary strongly from it 

because it is not the same as multiunit housing complex because - - -  

 

MR THOMSON:   No. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   - - - it is just an ordinary multiunit title set. 

 

 So if that could be looked at in relation to how it is provided for and, 

you know the form of the word that is needed in terms of the residential 

zone, and then in the middle the part that is put in, in red, I think that is 40 

a bit confusing, I think it just means “including where one of these 

parties is in a public/private development relationship”. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes, (INDISTINCT 3.10). 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, yes - - -  
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MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - it is not - - -  

 5 

MR THOMSON:   It is not exclude. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - not always, is it? 

 

MR THOMSON:   No. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, all right. And I think possibly just putting some structure 

or grammar or A, Bs and Cs or bullet points or something in here 

would help a lot, it is very hard to follow. All right, yes - - -  

 15 

MR THOMSON:   Thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - has anyone else got comments on that one? 

 

MR UDALE:   I just have one comment on that and you covered off a lot of 20 

them, but this says specifically “owned” and yet the sentence in the 

middle probably implies “not necessarily owned”, I just think maybe 

“owned” or “managed” because it is about the tenure and the type of 

person who under which they occupy the house rather than - - -  

 25 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

MR UDALE:   - - - who owns the house. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Owned or operated by or managed by, yes, I think that 30 

would clarify and make it consistent. 

 

MR UDALE:   Yes, and I think it is also consistent with the way this whole 

space is going as well. 

 35 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Okay. Do you - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   That is all. 40 

 

MR UDALE:   In which case you might be able to then drop out the sentence 

in the middle, but I will leave you with that. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 45 
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MS HURIA:   Is it still social housing where people pay on a – I am not sure of 

the specific phrase, but something like “rent to buy scheme”? 

 

MR THOMSON:   No, I don’t think that comes into this particular model. 

 5 

MS HURIA:   Okay, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria, do you have any others? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you. 10 

 

SJH:   Mr Udale, do you have any other? 

 

MR UDALE:   No I don’t thank you. 

 15 

SJH:   There is quite a few for you to look at, Mr Thomson, can you indicate 

when we might expect something from you? 

 

MR THOMSON:   As soon as possible, if I could say Wednesday or Thursday 

would that be acceptable to the Panel? 20 

 

SJH:   Thursday would be fine. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Thank you. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you. Any questions arising, Ms Viskovic? 

 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Sorry, just to clarify, do you mean Thursday of this week – I 30 

am just conscious that a number of these definitions relate to the 

residential chapter, the chapter lead is currently on leave and will be 

back in the office on Monday, so I wonder about whether we could 

perhaps provide something next Wednesday or Thursday to provide the 

most (INDISTINCT 0.21) - - -  35 

 

SJH:   Well the residential ones by Wednesday of next week, the other ones by 

Thursday of this week. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Okay. 40 

 

SJH:   Okay? 

 

MR THOMSON:   Yes. 

 45 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you. 
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SJH:   All right, thank you, Mr Thomson, you may stand down. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Thank you. 

 5 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.45 pm] 

 

SJH:   Now Ms Silcock. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you, sir, our submissions, sir, are quite brief and I will 10 

just address you on some of the key matters and a couple of the points 

that have been raised in questions today, so first at paragraph 1.1 of my 

submissions I confirm that the Crown submission on both the 

introduction and the definitions proposal sought amendments to make 

the proposals more usable, clear and easy to understand. 15 

 

 Paragraphs 1.2 and 1.3, just point out the key parts of the Crown 

submission on the introductions proposal and the definitions proposal 

respectively and really address what the Crown’s key concerns were. 

 20 

 At paragraphs 1.4 and 1.5 I set out the current position in relation to the 

introductions proposal and the definitions proposal and the agreements 

that have been reached. 

 

 In relation to paragraph 1.4 about the introductions proposal, sir, I just 25 

also confirm that the joint memorandum that was filed on Friday also 

confirms that position. 

 

 And in relation to the definitions proposal I can also confirm that the 

Crown supports the suggestion at paragraph 1.3 of my friend’s 30 

submissions for the Council that the proposal be restructured to bring 

section 10 about how to use the Replacement Plan further up and above 

the appendices in particular. 

 

 Sir, the purpose of my submissions is to just outline the remaining 35 

issues for the Crown, briefly address the higher order documents and 

also some key principles - - -  

 

SJH:   We do not need the higher order documents interest again, I can assure 

you. 40 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you, sir, I’ll skip to section 4, which is essentially 

where I set out some of the key principles, so Mr Timms’ evidence 

does that from a planning perspective and I also, sir, just set out some 

cases there that talk about the importance of definitions and in the 45 



 Page 116 

  

Ch1 & 2: Introduction (Part) and Definitions (Part) Commenced 13.07.15 

Crown submission it is critical, sir, that definitions say what they mean 

and that they use language which is clear and easy to understand. 

 

 At 4.3 I just discuss that point that has been discussed quite a lot today, 

sir, is that if a term has an ordinary plain meaning then there is no need 5 

to have a special definition in the plan and on that basis the Crown and 

the Council have agreed that a number of definitions could be deleted 

because they reflect that ordinary and plain meaning. 

 

 And paragraphs 4.4 and 4.5, just outline some of the key principles 10 

again that Mr Timms covers in his evidence, and the key point there 

being that there are efficiencies and benefits that clarity and certainty 

provide both for the consent process, encouraging investment and for 

supporting recovery. 

 15 

 Sir, just at section 5 is other matters and that is about the directions that 

the Hearings Panel has given in relation to definitions to be deferred 

and I can confirm that the definitions footnoted there are covered in my 

friend’s submissions for the Council. 

 20 

 Sir, one of the definitions that was raised in questions of Mr Thomson 

was the definition of “early childhood education facility”, now the 

Crown previously filed a memorandum advising the Panel of the earlier 

evidence which it sought to rely on in relation to definitions.  

Mr McCullum-Clark provided evidence for the Crown as part of the 25 

residential proposal on that definition. My understanding of his 

evidence, and if you look at paragraph 5.5 in particular, is that the 

intention was that the definition of pre-school be deleted in favour of 

the definition of “early childhood education facility”. 

 30 

 Unfortunately, sir, I haven’t had an opportunity to confirm that with 

Mr McCullum-Clark before I spoke to you today, but I can do that and 

get back to the Panel on that point. 

 

SJH:   If you would, thank you. 35 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, that would be useful. 

 40 

MS SILCOCK:   If there are no questions I will now call the Crown’s first 

witness, Mr Stephen Timms. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 45 
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<STEPHEN RONALD TIMMS, sworn [2.50 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SILCOCK [2.50 pm] 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Afternoon, can you please confirm that your full name is 

Stephen Ronald Timms? 

 5 

MR TIMMS:   It is, yes. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   You have prepared two statements of evidence in relation to 

this hearing, a second statement of evidence dated 23 June 2015 in 

relation to the definitions proposal? 10 

 

MR TIMMS:   That is correct. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Also a third statement of evidence in relation to the 

introductions proposal dated 30 June 2015? 15 

 

MR TIMMS:   That is right. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   And your qualifications and experience as set out in 

paragraphs 1.1 to 1.8 of your evidence for the Strategic Directions 20 

proposal?  

 

MR TIMMS:   It is, that is right. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Do you confirm that those are still true and correct? 25 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you, do you have any corrections to make to your 

evidence? 30 

 

MR TIMMS:   No. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you, can you please confirm that your evidence is true 

and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief? 35 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you, can you now please present a short summary of 

your evidence to the Panel and then remain for any questions. 40 

 

MR TIMMS:   Okay, thank you. 

 

 Good afternoon, I have just got a couple of key points I want to press 

home that are in my evidence and I understand you have read that so I 45 

will be fairly brief.  You have already heard today that the Crown and 
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Council, Ngai Tahu and a number of other parties have reached an 

agreed position on proposal one which addresses the Crown’s concerns 

and the agreed version was attached to my evidence and the joint 

memorandum that was filed on Friday. 

 5 

 I address the importance of clarity in using plain English in my 

evidence for the Strategic Directions proposal, objectives 3.3.1 and 

3.3.2 of the Strategic Directions Chapter now clearly state the need for 

the replacement plan to support recovery and to be clear and concise 

and easy to use. 10 

 

 It is important that proposal 1 achieves its purpose as a robust and user 

friendly introduction to and explanation of the replacement plan and 

that endures over the 10 year life of the replacement plan.  I am 

satisfied that the agreed introduction proposal achieves its purpose. 15 

 

 Just following on from conversations earlier today I support the 

Council’s intentions regarding that Mahaanui Iwi Management Plan 

being particularly relevant to their considerations and that wording 

being included in the introduction proposal.  I note that paragraph 43 of 20 

your decision on the Strategic Directions proposal sets out the statutory 

framework and that you have to take into account that document and I 

think it is particularly relevant to these considerations and that wording 

could be used in here. 

 25 

 I also note that this proposal will evolve over time as you hear the 

future stages and that you may revisit some things, there will be 

additions made and I support that being reviewed over stage 2 and 3 as 

we came to those. 

 30 

 I supported the descriptions of the zones being deleted mainly for that 

reason I guess because things have evolved quite significantly since the 

notified version and that we have not quite got decisions yet on that 

stage 1 so the wording there is unclear on and that could be revised 

later, but I understand and agree with the position now that it is better 35 

for those explanations to sit within the relevant chapter and the 

objectives and policies to be clear enough to state what they mean. 

 

 The diagram that the Crown asked for to be included into the 

introductions chapter has not been included and I do not disagree with 40 

that at this stage.  My evidence said that the main reasoning for that 

was because of the transition proposals that are at foot at the moment 

and until that is settled particularly the recovery plan documents and if 

CERA actually continues over the next few years, I think it would be 

problematic to set out that in a diagram that the Council already see as 45 

fairly complex and that that may involve even as early as next year.  I 
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think again that could probably be revisited and the Crown would be 

more than happy to help now if the Panel thought that was necessary. 

 

 That is all I have got to say on the introductions proposal, I can give a 

quick update on the definitions as well if you like? 5 

 

SJH:   Yes please. 

 

MR TIMMS:   The Crown and the Council have reached agreement on the 

definitions to be included in stage 1 as set out in the joint memorandum 10 

filed on Friday.  There is no fundamental disagreements between the 

Council and the Crown regarding both the overall approach and the 

principles that apply to the definitions.  The usability report in my first 

report that was referred to earlier that was commissioned by the Panel 

undertook some scenario testing which highlighted a range of problems 15 

with the proposals and particularly the definitions. 

 

  [2.55 pm] 

 

 The Council has responded fairly well to these concerns.  In my 20 

evidence I note that some further improvements could be made to 

improve the clarity and usability of the notified proposal.  I am satisfied 

that the agreed changes address the concerns and make the replacement 

plan clear, concise and easy to use but as the Panel are deliberating and 

reaching decisions on other proposals I acknowledge that further 25 

improvements may need to be made to delete or amend definitions to 

better reflect the content of the proposals in their final form. 

 

 I support moves by the Panel to that effect where that is consistent with 

the general principles that are in my evidence.  Further scenario testing 30 

and/or a reality check would help inform decision making in my mind 

so my evidence covered that but I think the questioning today would 

also cover a lot of that. 

 

 There are a number of definitions that you have asked the Council to go 35 

back and reconsider.  The Crown has an interest in a number of those 

and we would be more than willing to assist with, particularly 

infrastructure, social powers - - -  

 

SJH:    You could take those up direct with Mr Thomson and Ms Viskovic you 40 

take that on board because I am sure he will be quite happy to have all 

the help he can get. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you, sir, yes. 

 45 

MR TIMMS:   Thank you, that is all I had to say on that. 
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SJH:   Thank you. Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:    Yes, Mr Timms I note that you state that you support the 

Council’s position on the relevancy of the Mahaanui Iwi Management 5 

Plan. Have you read it? 

 

MS HURIA:   Yes, I have.  My evidence does not specifically identify that but 

since I have completed my evidence I have spent quite a bit of time 

looking through a range of different documents, not only that one but 10 

also the RPS Land and Water Regional Plan and a few others 

comparing them and how that might fit into the introductions proposal. 

 

MS HURIA:   So that is why it is missing from both of your pieces of evidence 

because you read it subsequent to that? 15 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, I was certainly aware of it and had read it, but I have spent 

more time looking at it now since, yes.  It may be an oversight that it 

was missing from that, yes, 

 20 

MS HURIA:   Because surely it is a pretty important part of giving evidence in 

this process. 

 

MR TIMMS:   Absolutely, yes, as are those other ones that are mentioned as 

well.  I mean they may be more important but the Land Water Regional 25 

Plan, the rest of the RPS, not just Chapter 6 which I think I noted in my 

evidence as well. 

 

MS HURIA:   But important to include it in this process? Thank you. 

 30 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, definitely. 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Ms Dawson? 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just a couple of questions please, Mr Timms, I do not know if 

you were here when I asked Mr Thomson about the use of defined and 

undefined versions and terms because you covered that in your 

evidence as well and support Mr Thomson’s position on the fact that 40 

some terms might have to be left used in an other than their defined 

form from time to time.  Do you support the need to use terms in their 

defined form wherever possible? 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Should the use in there in a not, use of the same word and are 

not defined to be the exception rather than the rule and be for particular 

reasons? 

 

MR TIMMS:   It would be problematic, yes, and I think at my evidence in 7.3 5 

suggests a possible way around that but I have not unpicked the whole 

plan to see whether you could avoid using terms in sentences where 

they might be defined but not intended to be that defined use. 

 

MS DAWSON:   May I say if that was possible that would be preferable but 10 

from time to time you might have to use the word “building” or some 

word in a slightly different way. 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, that is right. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, now I do not know if you were also here 

when I asked Mr Matheson some questions about the Ngai Tahu mana 

whenua section of the introduction attached to your evidence.  I am 

going to ask Ms Murchison about this as well but where you can, can 

you assist me with the same questions please? 20 

 

MR TIMMS:   I will try to. 

 

MS DAWSON:   The first question was around customary purposes or uses 

which is section 3.1.2 and whether you are aware of customary 25 

purposes or uses that go beyond water bodies which seems to be the 

focus of that paragraph. 

 

MR TIMMS:   It may be a better question for Ms Murchison, I am sorry. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   All right, that is fine. 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   In 3.1.6 I asked Mr Matheson about the use of the word 35 

“manage” and where it says “kaitiakitanga is the inherited 

responsibility of mana whenua to manage the environment and natural 

resources” and whether there was some need for a qualification of that 

in terms of the context within that, of that management, given how 

management occurs under the Resource Management Act and the 40 

ability for mana whenua to manage the environment is more limited.  

 

  [3.00 pm] 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, I think you’re right.  I share that general concern.  Again I 45 

think it’s probably something to explore in more depth with 
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Ms Murchison but I think it would be useful to explain more fully what 

is intended there.  I was drawn to the objectives in the strategic 

directions, around mana whenua, 3.3.3, which I fully support, but I 

think just to revisit that and how that then flows through the rest of the 

plan, on that general topic, providing mana whenua with the 5 

opportunities to have their involvement in management I agree with, 

but how that plays out in practice is something that I think needs to be 

explained a bit clearer. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, because I mean this section, it will form part of the 10 

District Plan.  It’s been supported by the Crown and the Council so 

although it needs to carefully define the important role of mana 

whenua, I guess we’re just concerned or I’m just concerned that it 

doesn’t purport to provide a level of ability to manage or a level of 

authority which isn’t actually there.  But doesn’t overlook things that 15 

are there. 

 

MR TIMMS:  Yes, that’s right as a balance and not setting unrealistic 

expectations on one side, yes. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   All right, well I’ll ask Ms Murchison about those matters. 

 

MR TIMMS:   Thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I think I’ll leave it at that.  Thank you very much. 25 

 

SJH:   Mr Udale? 

 

MR UDALE:   I have no questions. 

 30 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman.  Mr Timms, good afternoon 

and thank you for your role in working through this area, which has 

probably been quite a challenging one to get the Crown and tangata 35 

whenua and the Council on the same page in these areas.  It’s been 

helpful for us. 

 

 I’ve just got a couple of questions though about this section and also a 

minor question about some other matter which I’ll come to.  If we 40 

could go to your text at page 6 of your track changes and the section 

under Te Treaty o Waitangi, Treaty of Waitangi.  Similar to the 

question that I asked Mr Matheson, just a couple of things.  It seems 

from my reading that this particular section of the narrative is written as 

a perspective on these issues.  Would you think that’s correct?  A 45 

perspective by those that have authored the words. 
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MR TIMMS:   Yes, I agree with that, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   For instance if we go to 3.2.4 just down the page a little 

bit there’s a perspective given there to what the Waitangi Tribunal 5 

found and it may well be exactly correct or completely and utterly 

without qualification what the Tribunal says or not.  Do you think it 

would be useful to reference that particular source? 

 

MR TIMMS:  It probably would be yes, so if people were interested they could 10 

go back and check.  I don’t think we’ve used references throughout the 

introduction of the proposal - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, so coming back to my first question, I wonder 

whether the better thing would be do you think to be a bit more explicit 15 

that this is a perspective on these matters by the parties that authored it.  

Given it’s going to be sitting in the plan. 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, I guess it is the Council’s document I suppose.  People 

might infer that from reading it. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you think it would be better and more transparent if it 

was to be stated that it’s the Council’s document but the words were 

generated from a context including settlement by the Crown on these 

words.  I use that word settlement in a sense of arriving at a consensus, 25 

with Ngai Tahu and the Council, effectively this is a common view, 

informed view. 

 

MR TIMMS:   I think that would add weight to it, yes.  As long as, it is, the 

Council has some ownership over those words, they’re happy with it, 30 

they weren’t coerced into it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No. 

 

MR TIMMS:   As long as that’s clear. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And it’s with the support of the Crown. 

 

MR TIMMS:   That’s right, yes. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, okay.  I just want to check if there was any 

qualification you needed to make to that to give you the opportunity to 

do that at some stage, but I suppose reverting to the first point, given 

that it’s part of a statutory document, I don’t want to coerce you into 

thinking that it is how you have to think.  Are you generally of the view 45 

that it should be expressed as a perspective or made clear that it is?  
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  [3.05 pm] 

 

MR TIMMS:  I think that would be really useful, yes.  So it would possibly be 

recorded in your decision, could be in section 32 but I think even then 5 

it could be lost and I think it would be actually quite useful to have it 

there in the introductory proposal, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And you will note that I have just confined my questions 

of you on this to this particular section, not the whole lot. 10 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: All right. So the other thing I wondered about as to whether 

there’s reference to certain of the sections of the Resource Management 15 

Act in 3.2.6 but no reference there to section 6E which seems to be an 

important gap to fill – the relationship of Māori to resources. 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Do you think that should be referenced as well? 

 

MR TIMMS:  I think it should be, yes, I’ll check with Ms Murchison why that 

wasn’t included but I would agree with that. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:  I see the Regional Policy Statement has referenced it.  All 

right. Now finally, just on another topic, if you go to page 12 of your 

track changes and your discussion on the concept of preparing the plan 

and the reference to section 32. Now this is just a matter of 

completeness but bearing in mind this plan is a living document which 30 

will be revisited by the Council from time to time, but also bearing in 

mind that there is a special process by which this plan has come about 

through an independent inquiry what’s your view about whether or not 

that should also explicitly reference section 32AA in the role of the 

board of inquiry? 35 

 

MR TIMMS:   Yes, I think that would be useful. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you very much. 

 40 

SJH:   Anything arising Ms Silcock? 

 

MS SILCOCK:  No sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you Mr Timms, you may stand down. 45 
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MR TIMMS: Thank you. I can stay for definitions if you like. No, no questions 

about definitions? 

 

SJH:   No. I think we’ve had enough questions on definitions.  Mr Thomson, 

when you were out of the room Mr Timms very generously volunteered 5 

to assist you with the matters that you’ve got on your to do list.  As do 

all the other planners in the room, I am sure.   

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.07 pm] 

 10 

SJH:   Mr Williams? 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Certainly just echoing that comment too, certainly with my 

LPC hat on we are more than happy to help on those couple of points 

that arose with respect to Port issues. 15 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR WILLIAMS: Putting a different hat on which is the Christchurch 

International Airport Limited I would like to call Mr Bonis, sir.  I don’t 20 

have any legal submissions and I don’t think Mr Bonis has a summary, 

sir, I’ll just have a look at his evidence. 
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<MATTHEW WILLIAM BONIS, affirmed [3.08 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR WILLIAMS [3.08 pm] 

 

MR WILLIAMS:  Good afternoon.  Do you confirm your full name is Matthew 

William Bonis?   

 5 

MR BONIS:   It is. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   You have produced a statement of evidence dated 23 June 

2015? 

 10 

MR BONIS:   I have. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   You have got the qualifications and experience set out in 

that evidence? 

 15 

MR BONIS:   I do. 

 

MR WILLIAMS: Are there any corrections you wish to make to that evidence? 

 

MR BONIS:   No there are not. 20 

 

MR WILLIAMS:  Do you wish to confirm that to the best of your knowledge 

that evidence is true and correct? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, it is. 25 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   And the Panel may have some questions for you, thank you. 

 

MR BONIS:  Given the sort of narrowed focus of my evidence and also the 

discussions and agreement with the final position for the Council I 30 

don’t see any point in preparing a formal summary. If I can, however, 

sir, take you through to page 4 of my evidence which lists a table that 

essentially summarises the definition in contention, the recommended 

approach, a very brief commentary, and also where similar material can 

be found within the Council’s own evidence. 35 

 

 And sir, if I may, there are just a couple of minor matters that perhaps I 

can elaborate on. In terms of residential activity there was some 

commentary in my evidence and also in Mr Thomson’s evidence at his 

paragraph 5.17 and 5.18 I identified that I had some difficulty as to 40 

boarding house and where that was nested under residential activity.  It 

didn’t refer to residential unit within that definition.  So the suggestion 

was that it simply be inserted within the definition of residential 

activity in the front sentence and that appears to have been accepted by 

Mr Thomson in his rebuttal evidence.   45 
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  [3.10 pm] 

 

 In terms of Elderly Persons’ Housing Complex, that was a definition 

that was sought by CIAL within its submission.  Exhibit 14, sir, during 

the Commercial and Industrial Proposal, which I handed up, effectively 5 

removed all reference to that.  So I agree with Mr Thomson’s evidence 

at 5.4.4 to 5.5.1 that that definition can be deleted.  That was the only 

time that it was used. 

 

 In terms of sensitive activity, again back to exhibit 14. I have suggested 10 

a couple of very minor matters for clarification just to avoid any 

inconsequential issues in terms of the interpretation.  The first one, sir, 

is making it quite clear in clause B of that definition, that flight training 

trade and industry facilities could also be located within the Non-

Specific Purpose Airport Zone.  It will be quite ironic just to go through 15 

that process than have a definition that could be considered to actually 

exclude those activities within the very zone in which it was first 

mooted for. 

 

 The other one is simply an issue around inclusion of custodial 20 

accommodation, as identified by Mr Stevenson within his initial 

evidence at his paragraph 5.6.  I have simply suggested, sir, that the 

whole narrative out of the Residential Activity definition, which 

excludes “custodial and/or supervised living accommodation where 

residents are detained” just be sleeved directly into the definition of 25 

Sensitive Activity.  

 

 And I understand that Mr Stevenson has agreed with that within his 

rebuttal evidence.   

 30 

 So, sir, that is a very sort of brief overview.  I didn’t want to waste the 

Panel’s time, if there are any questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Bonis. 

 35 

MR BONIS:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 40 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Mr Bonis, were you here when we were asking Mr Thomson 

about all his definitions? 45 
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MR BONIS:   Unfortunately, I came and went, I grabbed some other work 

from the office to come back, so I may have missed something specific, 

or I may have heard it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So just to alert you to the fact that we questioned him about 5 

the way “boarding house” has been slipped into the definition of 

residential activity, and also the elderly persons housing has come back 

into the definitions again.  I think through Mr Thomson’s rebuttal or 

further version, because it is still used in the Plan.   

 10 

MR BONIS:   Right. 

 

MS DAWSON:  And we also questioned him about, well I questioned him 

about that definition as well, and he has been asked to go away and 

look at those definitions again in the way they work together.  So you 15 

may wish to be involved in that.   

 

MR BONIS:  Yes, I guess from my perspective, it is more that there is 

consistent reference to, particularly boarding house and elderly 

persons’ housing complex if it’s used to this concept of residential unit, 20 

because that appears to bind all those residential activities under that 

key definition, which then becomes sort of sensitive activity for the 

purposes of the Airport contour.  So the machinations (ph 3.14) of that 

I am perfectly happy to sit and assist Mr Thomson if I may, but that is 

really the key sort of cornerstone in terms of my submissions. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:  Well I don’t think that boarding house – well I don’t want to 

go into all the discussion with Mr Thomson, but I just think you need to 

have an open mind about the way that it is done, because I don’t know 

if it is residential unit, it is more residential activity which binds those 30 

things together. The residential unit has a more specific meaning within 

residential activity. 

 

 So I am sure your help will be welcome, and I understand that the 

position is that you don’t want something to slip out of sensitive 35 

activity, that is the key. 

 

MR BONIS:  Yes, that’s the key.  Though Mr Thomson has very much alerted 

to that issued anyway with the discussions I have had with him.   

 40 

MS DAWSON:  Yes. But just so you alert to that, we have asked him to relook 

at some of the matters that you have an interest in.   

 

MR BONIS:   Thank you. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  That’s all, sir, thank you. 
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SJH:   Mr Udale? 

 

MR UDALE:   No, thank you. 

 5 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, thank you, Mr Chairman.  Yes, Mr Bonis, just in 

regard to that last matter, also on the list you probably should have 

exhibit 2, Reverse Sensitivity, which was discussed with Mr Thomson.  10 

And the version that is exhibit 2 referred to the new concept of 

sensitive activities that was explained by Mr Johnson, I think, not to – 

no, it was Mr Stevenson, “Not to intend to encompass the defined term 

sensitive activities, but to refer to activity that is sensitive to the other 

activity.” 15 

 

 Nevertheless, a reframed definition is coming back to us on that, and it 

might be your client has an interest in that.  

 

MR BONIS:   Thank you, sir.   20 

 

SJH:   Mr Williams, anything arising? 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   No, nothing further, sir.  Thank you.  

 25 

SJH:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Bonis, you may stand down. 

 

MR BONIS:   Thank you very much. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.15 pm] 30 

 

SJH:   Ms Walsh? 

 

MS WALSH:   Thank you, sir, good afternoon.  Very brief legal submissions – 

I won’t take you through those, we have both read it, but just briefly 35 

these legal submissions are presented on behalf of Te Runanga O Ngāi 

Tahu and they submitted on the introduction and definitions proposals 

and various ways including to amend the Mana Whenua section of 

Chapter 1 to better describe the tribal structure of the Iwi, the 

relationship of Ngāi Tahu with Otautahi and the description of the 40 

treaty settlement and corresponding statutory duties to more accurately 

outline the relevant statutory acknowledgement areas to delete certain 

definitions from Chapter 2 and to include them as explanatory terms 

given their conceptual nature and to amend or include other definitions. 

 45 
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 Ngāi Tahu’s position on the introduction proposal is that it fully 

supports the agreed version that was attached to the joint memorandum 

that was filed on 10 July and in relation to the definitions it was already 

presented evidence to the Hearings Panel at previous hearings and after 

Paragraph 4 of my legal submissions I have identified the evidence that 5 

has been presented in relation to those definitions and respectfully seek 

to rely on that evidence. Unless you have any questions, sir, I’ll call 

Ms Murchison. 

 

MS HURIA:   Kia Ora, Ms Walsh.  Well done on the degree of agreement that 10 

you have achieved between the Council and Ngā Runanga, Te 

Runanga, and the Crown but – and I don’t wish to appear picky but – 

Te reo is Taonga for Ngāi Tahu and page 2 with your helpful chart does 

contain some errors which I would like to draw your attention to. 

 15 

MS WALSH:   Thank you, yes. 

 

MS HURIA:   That is all, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

MS WALSH:   Thank you, I will now call Ms Murchison. 20 
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<LYNDA MARION WEASTALL MURCHISON, sworn [3.17 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS WALSH [3.17 pm] 

 

MS WALSH:   Good afternoon, Ms Murchison.  Can you please confirm that 

your full name is Lynda Marion Weastall Murchinson. 

 5 

MS MURCHISON:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS WALSH:   And that you have prepared a statement of evidence-in-chief 

dated 30 June 2015 for this hearing. 

 10 

MS MURCHISON:   Yes, I did. 

 

MS WALSH:   And that you have the qualifications and experience set out in 

the introductory paragraph to that statement which of course refer back 

to your evidence presented at the Strategic Directions Hearing. 15 

 

MS MURCHISON:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS WALSH:   Are there any amendments or corrections you wish to make to 

that statement? 20 

 

MS MURCHISON:   No. 

 

MS WALSH:   So can you confirm that this statement is correct and true to the 

best of your knowledge and belief? 25 

 

MS MURCHISON:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS WALSH:   Thank you.  Now, I understand you have a very short summary 

that you will present to the Panel and then please remain for any 30 

questions, thank you. 

 

MS MURCHISON:   It will be very short.  Basically just to reiterate what is 

stated in the executive summary on page 2 of my evidence that there 

are three key matters that Ngāi Tahu would like to see included in the 35 

introductory section, the first one being the explanation of Ngāi Tahu 

values and concepts in resource management which is included in the 

joint agreed chapter, CCC and the Crown and the second one 

description of the relationship between Ngāi Tahu and the Crown under 

the treaty, the settlement and the mandated representation by Papatipu 40 

Runanga.   

 

 This matter is something which, in my professional experience, is quite 

important to have in plans because there is still a lot of confusion for 

people out there about what is the relationship between Te Runanga, 45 

Papatipu Runanga and who do you talk to within Ngāi Tahu.  That 
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thereby (INDISTINCT 4.15) the description of areas within the 

Christchurch district that are given special status under the Ngāi Tahu 

Claims Settlement Act and in particular was the inclusion of statutory 

acknowledgement 71 which is the costal marine area around Banks 

Peninsula that was not included in the proposed plan as notified 5 

probably I suspect because the Banks Peninsula District Plan pre-dated 

the Ngāi Tahu Claims Settlement Act. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 10 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   I just have some questions that I have also asked to, 15 

Mr Matheson started to ask to Mr Timms.  Before I start I am interested 

in your view as to how you see this chapter being pitched in terms of 

whose chapter is it and in terms of – it sits within the plan and in five 

years’ time it will be read as part of the plan not as part of the plan 

preparation process so how do you see the wording being pitched in 20 

terms of who’s got ownership of this chapter or who’s views have 

expressed this? 

 

  [3.20 pm] 

 25 

MS MURCHISON:  I think the most important thing is that it is enduring in 

time so it needs to be written with a view that CERA and the 

redevelopment process is only one point in time and that will pass and 

so it has to be a chapter that is enduring when that process is over.  This 

is Christchurch City Council’s plan but it is a plan for the rebuild and 30 

future development of Christchurch City so it does need to be 

accessible for anybody who might be using it to be able to understand 

the different issues and concepts and I think there are obviously key 

community groups who are part of that including Ngāi Tahu. 

 35 

MS DAWSON: Yes, so when we look at section 3, the Ngāi Tahu Mana 

Whenua section of this introduction, do you think it is appropriate for 

where necessary for it to say things like “It is Ngāi Tahu’s position 

that…” something like that or – I am not wanting to criticise or I am 

not pointing to anything in particular but sometimes it is speaking with 40 

the voice of the Council, sometimes it is just saying facts and 

sometimes it is putting a position or a view forward which may be that 

of more of Ngāi Tahu’s view than the Council’s just because of their 

knowledge.  Do you think that should be more explicit or more explicit 

than it is or do you think that is not necessary? 45 
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MS MURCHISON:   Is there an example in particular - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay, I will put that and then I will come to some examples.  

Probably the first example is 316 which is kaitiakitanga.  Where it says 

kaitiakitanga is the inherited responsibility of Mana Whenua to manage 5 

the environment and natural resources within their takiwa and I am not 

saying that is inherently a wrong statement to put in here but I am just 

wondering whether given that this is a resource management document 

and Resource Management Act and also ownership of land, it does 

limit Ngāi Tahu or kaitiakitanga’s ability to manage any particular part 10 

of the environment.  Is this a correct statement to put in this plan or is 

it, I mean maybe it is their inherited responsibility, it is just difficult to 

achieve nowadays. 

 

MS MURCHISON:  I think that last statement would be my view – it is an 15 

inherited responsibility.  I was aware and listening to the question that 

you asked Mr Timms and I did jot down while you were asking that if 

it was helpful you could add some words along the lines of “Within the 

context of traditional Ngāi Tahu resource management” to make it clear 

that it is coming back to a Ngāi Tahu value, a Ngāi Tahu inherited 20 

responsibility.  Of course kaitiakitanga is something that you have to 

have particular regard to under section 7A of the RMA so I think that 

there is some value in having the concept described as Ngāi Tahu 

understands it but that - - - 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   But putting, yes, so the first point I put to you was really 

around the appropriateness of sometimes we needed putting some 

context around what could be read as very broad statements that bring 

it back to Ngāi Tahu’s role or Ngāi Tahu’s context like the words you 

just said. 30 

 

 So from your point of view, having some words like that from time to 

time where appropriate would clarify some of these statements in here? 

 

MS DAWSON:  I think particularly if there is some confusion around the issue 35 

just raised with management and does that infer a level of 

responsibility or authority that is greater than it is, then yes I believe 

that would be helpful. 

 

  [3.25 pm] 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because another example was, and there aren’t a lot of these, 

I mean I think it is mostly expressed not in this sort of concern so I 

don’t want to criticise at all, I think it has been written well.  But 3.1.9 

is another example where it says, “The term mana whenua describes 45 
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the authority to make decisions concerning resources.  Now, I think it 

means within a Ngāi Tahu context? 

 

MS MURCHISON:   That is right. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   But it doesn’t say that and it implies that there is a level of 

authority that is possibly over and above that of the Council’s or other 

parties? 

 

MS MURCHISON:  Yes, and again, and I have again jotted down some 10 

comments from your previous question, you could again amend that by 

saying something like “describes the customary authority given within 

a rūnanga or whānau”.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 15 

 

MS MURCHISON:   And, yes, Te Rūnanga are moving to wanting to try and 

get consistent descriptions in the front of plans throughout the takiwā 

that describe Ngāi Tahu and its values.  So obviously a work in 

progress and I am sure any improvements the Panel could make on that 20 

would be gratefully received. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  So I am just moving back to another topic and I 

asked the others about section 3.1.2 which is describing a broad 

concept of customary purposes and uses but when you read that 25 

paragraph it is very much water related.  Now, I just want to confirm 

that in the Christchurch Banks Peninsula situation that water is the 

primary focus of customary purposes and uses and that it is not 

unintentionally excluding land based customary uses, for example? 

 30 

MS MURCHISON:   My understanding, and I qualify that by saying I am not a 

cultural expert witness, I am a planning witness, but my understanding 

from working with Te Rūnanga and obviously in the space (ph 2.02) is 

that customary uses and purposes can extend to sites on land as well as 

water.  Obviously in and around waterbodies is the prime example but I 35 

am also aware that there will be sites on land where customary uses or 

purposes would take place.  My understanding is that these definitions 

have come across from the subdivision chapter but I do agree that there 

could be times when access is part of subdivision or a customary or 

sole (ph 2.37) purpose may be to a land based site. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because this paragraph doesn’t, I mean to me when I read it, 

it actually excludes land based.  It just says, “through customary uses of 

freshwater and associated natural resources and maintaining a 

connection to the waterbody”.   45 

 



 Page 138 

  

Ch1 & 2: Introduction (Part) and Definitions (Part) Commenced 13.07.15 

MS MURCHISON:   So you could add “or the land” in in there. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  And then I notice in your evidence you have 

purposely excluded having a definition of rangatiratanga, and it is used 

in various places, and it hasn’t been defined or it just comes in through 5 

article 2 of the Treaty, so is there a reason for not defining it? 

 

MS MURCHISON:   Yes, there is.  So that was something that was negotiated 

between the Crown and Te Rūnanga in relation originally to chapter 3.  

There is not an agreement between representatives of the Crown and 10 

Ngāi Tahu as to what constitutes rangatiratanga.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so better not to then try and force a definition, all right, 

so that is purposeful.   

 15 

MS MURCHISON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:  That is all my questions, thank you very much, 

Ms Murchison. 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Udale? 

 

MR UDALE:   Nothing. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, Mr Chairman. And Ms Murchison 

congratulations to you too, thank you for the work that you have done 

in bringing this thing together in a consensus way. It seems particularly 

helpful to have this explicit material in the plan to avoid what can 30 

otherwise occur which is argument about things. 

 

 Just in terms of the questions I have asked of Mr Timms and following 

along from Ms Dawson’s comments I have focused on section 3.2 

which is about the Treaty.  And I see from a closer reading of it that 35 

there has been care in referring, for instance in 3.2.5, to it being a 

Ngāi Tahu perspective on the matter of rangatiratanga and also in 

paragraph 3.2.6, care about expressing what the Council recognise in 

that last sentence.   

 40 

 I wonder whether just as a minor tweaking exercise, as part of just 

putting the final polish on this, whether it might be also useful to give 

some expression to it being a perspective on some other matters that are 

referred to earlier which otherwise people might not understand why 

they are stated, for instance reference to the Waitangi Tribunal in 3.2.4.  45 

That’s an interpretation or a perspective on a case.  It may well be 
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exactly right but do you think it would be useful to express that as 

being effectively the view of those that have come to that view? 

 

  [3.30 pm] 

 5 

MS MURCHISON:   My understanding, sir, is that that is the wording of the 

Tribunal in the claim but if that’s so it should be referenced. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, so you can be safe about referencing it and it will 

be seen to be effectively what they said.  Thank you. 10 

 

MS MURCHISON:   I can supply a reference for the Panel. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  I think that’s probably the only substantive 

one actually.  When I look at the others it’s just a description of factual 15 

matters.  It was the one that I had the most issue with as to whether it 

was a reasonably clear statement of the Crown’s failure to comply with 

its Treaty obligations.  I thought it needed to be either referenced or 

stated as a perspective. 

 20 

MS MURCHISON:   It’s a bold statement without a reference, sir, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much.  One other thing, I take it you have 

no issue with referring to section 6E in 3.2.6 as to the relationship of 

Māori to resources.  Should that also be referenced there as a preface to 25 

the final statement?  It just refers to two sections of part two, not 

section 6E. 

 

MS MURCHISON:   Yes, it does and I am trying to think whether that was 

deliberate.  I do recall when we were having mediation we had some 30 

discussion about that.  I don’t, I mean off the top of my head I can’t see 

how it can do any harm. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You may want to double check.  I mean as I read it it’s 

different in a substantive sense, section 6E because it refers to Māori as 35 

opposed to mana whenua, those holding mana whenua per se.  Those 

holding mana whenua are included in section 6E but so are other Māori 

as I read it. 

 

MS MURCHISON:   Yes, I think if my recollection is correct, when Ngai Tahu 40 

and the Crown were negotiating and renegotiating section 3.2 the focus 

was obviously on the more governance side of matters in terms of the 

principles of the Treaty and kaitiakitanga as a concept but I cannot see 

how it wouldn’t add value to then make the reference to section 6E as 

well for completeness. 45 

 



 Page 140 

  

Ch1 & 2: Introduction (Part) and Definitions (Part) Commenced 13.07.15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It just seemed to be, refers to resources in a very direct 

way including particular land.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Murchison, you’d be able to check out that last point and come back 

to us? 5 

 

MS MURCHISON:   Yes, I can confirm that too, sir. 

 

SJH:   You weren’t here this morning and I don’t have the transcript but my 

memory tells me that when we were questioning Mr Matheson, he said 10 

while there was agreement between Ngai Tahu, the Crown and the 

Council, the words were Ngai Tahu’s words in this section.  Would you 

like to comment on that? 

 

MS MURCHISON:   The words in section 3.1 are just about wholly Ngai 15 

Tahu’s words.  A lot of this has come directly from the Land and Water 

Regional Plan for Canterbury which includes similar concepts and 

definitions.  Section 3.2 in my opinion would be a negotiated wording 

between the Crown and Ngai Tahu that we did as part of originally 

chapter 3.  3.3 is largely the words of Ngai Tahu but tweaked by 20 

Mr Matheson for Christchurch City Council in relation to some 

matters, and the same with 3.4.  3.5 was again largely I think driven by 

my amendments and then 3.6 was a compromise between Christchurch 

City Council and Ngai Tahu. 

 25 

SJH:   All right.  Now the matters that Ms Dawson and the Judge explored with 

you, I think we explored them at strategic directions from memory, and 

it’s really to the effect that on their face some of the wording could be 

read as it’s giving a greater authority than actually exists.  So wherever 

that occurs you’re happy with a re-wording that acknowledges the 30 

limitation if I can put it that way? 

 

MS MURCHISON:   I think that would be appropriate, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you very much.  Anything arising, Ms Walsh? 35 

 

MS WALSH:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you, you may stand down.  We’ll take a 10 minute 

break. 40 

 

 Just to let Council know, if you want to file written submissions, you 

may do so, which could be by Thursday of this week rather than 

closing at the end, if that is acceptable to you. 

 45 

MS SILCOCK:   Yes, sir. 
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SJH:   Your call, you can either close today or do it in writing. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Would it be helpful if the Council could close next Thursday 

along with the further work that Council is doing, that would be 5 

suitable. 

 

SJH:   Yes, that would be helpful.   

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you, sir. 10 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

ADJOURNED [3.35 pm] 

 15 

RESUMED [3.53 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.   

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you, sir.  Just before I call the Crown’s next witness.  I 20 

just wanted to clarify in terms of closing submissions, that given the 

number of definitions that the Crown has an interest in, that we also be 

able to file our submissions at the same time as the Council’s, on 

Wednesday next week. 

 25 

SJH:   Well, why don’t we do it on this basis.  I think Mr Thomson agreed 

Thursday of this week for everything but residential matters.  So your 

closings on that can be on Friday. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Yes, sir. 30 

 

SJH:   But for the residential matters if we left it till Wednesday next week 

until Mr Blair comes back, so we can say Thursday of next week for 

matters relating to residential.   

 35 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   And we will have to do that so it can be posted online. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Sorry, just to clarify, this morning Ms Carter raised in the 40 

tea break with me that you gave her until Friday to address a number of 

definitions, and one of the ones that she was going to look at was the 

definition of - - - 

 

SJH:   Well she should not have raised that, she is probably going to be 45 

Thursday then. 
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MS VISKOVIC:  Well it’s the definition of infrastructure, and we are just 

conscious that there are a number of parties that are quite congested 

(ph 1.13) in that. 

 5 

SJH:   Yes, let us leave the – I think it is clear that the Panel and others have 

real concerns about the relationship between the definition in the Act - - 

- 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes. 10 

 

SJH:   - - - and other definitions and non-definitions floating around.  Let’s do 

it properly and say by Tuesday of next week, Ms Carter for 

infrastructure only, anything else you were asked to do within the 

timeframe given and Friday of next week for submissions on the 15 

infrastructure one which is quite an important one.  It is a big step to it 

in all the Act. 

 

MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you, sir. 

 20 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Now, Dr Saunders. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   The Crown will now call Dr Wendy Saunders. 25 
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<WENDY SUSAN ANNE SAUNDERS, sworn [3.55 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SILCOCK [3.55 pm] 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Good afternoon.  Can you please confirm that your full name 

is Wendy Susan Anne Saunders? 

 5 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 

MS SILCOCK:  You have prepared a statement of evidence for the Definitions 

Proposal dated 23 June 2015? 

 10 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 

MS SILCOCK:  Can you confirm that the qualifications and experience that 

are set out in attachment A to your statement of evidence for the 

Natural Hazards Proposal are true and correct? 15 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 

MS SILCOCK:  Do you have any corrections to make to your evidence? 

 20 

DR SAUNDERS:   No. 

 

MS SILCOCK:  On that basis can you please confirm that your evidence is true 

and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief? 

 25 

DR SAUNDERS:   Yes. 

 

MS SILCOCK: Thank you, I will just ask you now to present a concise 

summary to the hearings Panel and to remain for any questions? 

 30 

DR SAUNDERS:  Thank you, good afternoon, my statement of evidence on 

behalf of the Crown for proposal to definitions address definitions 

relating to natural hazards only.  I have suggested amended wording for 

annual exceedance probability and throughput and sought to amend the 

wording for level of risk terms in the introductory section of the revised 35 

Natural Hazards’ Proposal being acceptable, tolerable, intolerable and 

unacceptable. 

 

 Janice Carter of Christchurch City Council and I entered into informal 

discussions about these terms and have come to agreement as outlined 40 

in the joint memorandum of Council on behalf of the Council and the 

Crown dated 10 July 2015.  This morning, Ms Dawson, raised the issue 

of the wording “or larger” in the AEP definition which I think is a good 

point and I look forward to hearing Mr Harrington’s response from the 

Council on that. 45 
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 I sort of see it as a flag for raising the point that there can be larger 

events than that also within that timeframe, but it is unclear from the 

way it is currently worded.  I have no further outstanding issues with 

the Definitions’ Proposal and consider that the agreed changes make 

the replacement plan more clear and easier to use. 5 

 

 Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Huria? 

 10 

MS HURIA:  No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:  I was just going to ask you, Dr Saunders, about the AEP 15 

definition, do you feel competent to answer a question about a 

statistical definition like this or shall I not ask you? 

 

DR SAUNDERS:  Do not ask me. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:  That is fine, all right, because I mean my concern is that this 

is a, it is defining a statistical point and in 9.3 of your evidence you 

quote a definition of it being of a certain scale and the RPS says “Of 

this size” so I am concerned that sure there might be other larger ones 

but that is not what the definition is about but anyway you cannot help 25 

me with that anymore.  Thank you very much, no questions, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Udale? 

 

MR UDALE:   No, thank you. 30 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No thanks, Mr Chairman. 

 35 

SJH:   Anything arising? 

 

MS SILCOCK:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Dr Saunders, you may stand down. 40 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.59 pm] 

 

DR SAUNDERS:   Thank you. 

 45 

SJH:   Ms Hickey? 
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MS SILCOCK:   The Crown will now call Ms Wendy Hickey. 
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<WENDY SARAH HICKEY, affirmed [3.59 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SILCOCK [3.59 pm] 

 

MS SILCOCK:  Good afternoon, Ms Hickey, can you please confirm that your 

full name is Wendy Sarah Hickey? 

 5 

MS HICKEY:   It is. 

 

MS SILCOCK: You have prepared a statement of evidence for the Definitions’ 

Proposal dated 23 June 2015? 

 10 

  [4.00 pm] 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you.  And you have also prepared a rebuttal statement 15 

dated 2 July 2015? 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you.  And can you confirm that the qualifications set 20 

out at paragraphs 1.2 of your evidence are true and correct? 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you.  Do you have any corrections that you would like 25 

to make to your evidence? 

 

MS HICKEY:   No. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   On that basis, can you confirm that your evidence is true and 30 

correct to the best of your knowledge and belief? 

 

MS HICKEY:   I can. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   Thank you.  I will now ask you to present a concise summary 35 

of your evidence to the Panel and remain for any questions. 

 

MS HICKEY:   My evidence relates to specific definitions in proposal 2 that 

the Crown has made a submission or further submission on excluding 

definitions that relate to natural hazards and those addressed in earlier 40 

Stage 1 hearings.  In my evidence I address whether and to what extent 

I support the Council’s evidence on proposal 2 and recommend further 

deletions and amendments to specific definitions to ensure that the 

replacement plan is free of duplication and is easy to use and 

understand.   45 
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 I also support and rely on Mr Timms’ evidence regarding the principles 

that should be applied when considering definitions.  I have been 

involved in a series of informal mediation sessions with Mr Thomson 

to discuss the areas of disagreement.  The joint memorandum provided 

to the Panel provides clarification on the agreement reached between 5 

both parties.  I consider that the position reached between the Crown 

and the Council has resulted in proposal that improves clarity and 

reduces duplication.   

 

 There is one Mana point I wish to address.  Mr Thomson’s rebuttal 10 

evidence on paragraph 4.7 records that the definition of community 

infrastructure has been updated as part of Stage 2 to reflect the recent 

amendments to the Local Government Act 2002 for completeness.  

 

 I note that the amendments to the Local Government Act reflected in 15 

attachment A to Mr Thomson’s rebuttal evidence.  I suppose this 

approach.   

 

 I would also like to respond to the Panel’s question raised earlier in 

relation to one network approach, in my evidence I address that this 20 

definition was vague and while I accept that the definition is probably a 

commonly understood definition among transport experts, I do believe 

that to the layperson that the definition would not be clear but I think 

that the link provided in the definition as per Mr Falconer’s evidence 

would provide clarity to the layperson.  In that document there is a 25 

table referring to one network approach which I think gives greater 

understanding to the layperson.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 30 

MS HURIA:   Ms Hickey, I am not 100 percent sure whether you should have 

or not but giving evidence for definitions, the definitions proposal, have 

you read the Mahaanui Iwi Management Plan? 

 

MS HICKEY:   No, I haven’t. 35 

 

MS HURIA:   And do you think you should have as part of your preparation 

for giving evidence on definitions and introduction? 

 

MS HICKEY:   No, because I did not give any specific evidence on the Māori 40 

terms at all. 

 

MS HURIA:   No, you didn’t, but is it not informing your, would it not inform 

your evidence in a very general sense if not more specific? 

 45 

MS HICKEY:   No, I am not sure, I have not read it. 
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MS HURIA:   Okay.  I am on a bit of a roll here.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Were you here when I asked Mr Thomson lots of questions? 

 

MS HICKEY:   I was, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I am not going to go through all of those with you, I am 10 

really just going to say is there any of those questions that are about 

definitions that you have been involved with negotiating that, is there 

anything you wish to comment on? 

 

MS HICKEY:   Not specifically at this stage but I also support what Mr Timms 15 

said about working with the Council on those definitions, I think that 

would be very beneficial. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much. 

 20 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Hickey, given you have raised it I am going to have to 

ask you about it.  One network approach, just looking at that definition, 

and to cut to the chase I guess, it is as long as a piece of string, isn’t it?  25 

As seamlessly consistent as possible. 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes. 

 

  [4.05 pm] 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And for the average punter they wouldn’t know whether it 

was achieved or not, so you mentioned you go to the guidance 

document and there it says “for more guidance”, but the definition’s 

given us no guidance so far has it? 35 

 

MS HICKEY:   I still think it is fairly vague, the definition itself, yes, and it - - 

-  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you know what it means? Like can you describe any 40 

part of the Christchurch network which gets a tick under that and any 

part of the network that gets a cross, can you give us some 

descriptions? Pick a road and say “that one gets a tick”, anywhere. 

 

MS HICKEY:   I think there will be - - -  45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Or a cross. 

 

MS HICKEY:   - - - a few that wouldn’t get ticks. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can you think of one that gets a tick? 5 

 

MS HICKEY:   I think there are some improvements, transport because I’m not 

a transport expert, so I’m not too sure of any off the top off my head. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you think in character it is actually more of a – sorry 10 

to cut you, but to cut to the chase, isn’t it in character more of a policy 

intention of some kind is trying to be expressed? 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes, I did actually consider that when I was looking at the 

definition itself, whether it would be better addressed in the objectives 15 

and policies, and the one network approach is only refer to one 

objective itself, and the reason why I didn’t go down that track is that I 

had spoken in our informal mediation is that, it is a term that was said 

to be, will come up in further stages and in more objectives and 

policies, so - - -  20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you think that maybe that’s the best time to think 

about whatever concept is expressed wherever in the plan, than this 

thing? 

 25 

MS HICKEY:   Yes, it could be, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you, and just finally on greenfield, that is 

the other one you mentioned in your evidence I wanted to ask you 

about, and just very briefly on this one, I think if we go to – thank you, 30 

if you go back to greenfield, Mr (INDISTINCT 2.10) – no that’s not it 

– I’m just springing (INDISTINCT 2.14) on you all the time, I’ve 

done it all day – all right. 

 

MS SILCOCK:   I can assist, sir, it is page 47. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you – page 47 of the draft. 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. So from your point of view, do you agree that 

it would actually be clearer to perhaps split that into an A and a B and 

have A unqualified by anything other than if it is in map A and chapter 

6 it is greenfield and then B deals with the other category of things? 

 45 

MS HICKEY:   I do, I think that would be a good approach, yes. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks very much. 

 

SJH:   Can you go back to the one network approach – I’m sorry, Ms Hickey, 

but you’re bold enough to put your head above the parapet – we learn 5 

as we get older to try and avoid that – who is the readership of this 

plan? 

 

MS HICKEY:   In my opinion I think it should be a plan that the lay person can 

understand and that its definitions are to provide a clear understanding 10 

of something. 

 

SJH:   And definitions in the introductory section are particularly apposite 

placed to inform lay readers? 

 15 

MS HICKEY:   Yes, yes. 

 

SJH:   Why should they have to go somewhere else? 

 

MS HICKEY:   I think - - -  20 

 

SJH:   I mean they would read this and say why would they go anywhere else, 

it will just be more meaningless garbage like this, because it is, it 

means nothing. 

 25 

MS HICKEY:   That is true, yes. I think - - -  

 

SJH:   Because you were asked to give an example and if we push you to 

define this I suspect you couldn’t, could you? 

 30 

MS HICKEY:   to give an example, sorry you mean - - -  

 

SJH:   Take us through this, and express it in terms that a lay person could 

understand, not trying to be unkind. 

 35 

MS HICKEY:   I think the lay person - - -  

 

SJH:   You know the Judge said it as long as a piece of string which is a thing 

lawyers always use or as long as a Lord Chancellor’s foot, it is much 

worse than that, I don’t think I’ve seen anything so vague in my life. 40 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes, I agree that – I do agree that the lay person that this 

definition as stated would be confusing, but I do think the link provided 

to the greater Christchurch Transport Plan does provide further – does 

improve it a little bit more, so. 45 
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SJH:   Well presumably because the Crown worked on this with the Council 

and got an agreed position, there has been NZTA input. 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes, there has. 

 5 

SJH:   Which would suggest that perhaps the NZTA documents are no less 

transparent than this is. 

 

MS HICKEY:   I didn’t actually find an actual definition anywhere of one 

network approach. 10 

 

  [4.10 pm] 

 

SJH:   You didn’t? 

 15 

MS HICKEY:   No, and but the link there, there is a section in that document 

that does go into further detail about which is the best definition I could 

find on, and further greater clarity on that one network approach. 

 

SJH:   Are you suggesting no one could do better than this? 20 

 

MS HICKEY:  It’s something that I would be willing to work with on the 

Council again to improve. 

 

SJH:   Didn’t Mr Thompson say this is, which he said I think about a number 25 

of them, “Oh, I was really troubled about that, but it’s still here because 

we agreed on it, but it really should be deleted.”  Was that not what he 

said?  Is this one of them? 

 

MS HICKEY:   I am sorry, I didn’t hear that part that you mentioned, but- - - 30 

 

SJH:   All right, well we will have to check the transcript, but you were 

working with Mr Thompson, that if it stays in we have something that a 

layperson, because we are all supposedly experts, and we are all having 

trouble with it. 35 

 

MS HICKEY:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   And I do not think it was ever put forward in the context of the transport 

section by the traffic people either. 40 

 

MS HICKEY:   No, I’m not sure who- - - 

 

SJH:   All right, well you work with Mr Thompson and we look forward to 

your work with them, with a great deal of interest. Ms Silcock, 45 

anything arising? 
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MS SILCOCK:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Hickey, you have copped it at the end of the day I am 

sorry. 5 

 

MS HICKEY:   That is all right. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.11 pm] 

 10 

SJH:   All right, we, is there anything else? 

 

MS SILCOCK:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right, well we have given directions regarding the filing of closings 15 

by legal counsel, so we will adjourn until 9.30 tomorrow morning.  We 

have a small in-chambers hearing. 

 
MATTER ADJOURNED AT 4.11 PM UNTIL 

TUESDAY, 14 JULY 2015 20 


